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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

In the Matter of Trademark Registration No. 5,665,928

for the Mark AFAF AVIATION & Design

Badawi Aviation, LLC,

Petitioner, Cancellation No: 92072819
vs.

Afaf Aviation, LLC,

Respondent.
/

PETITIONER BADAWI AVIATION, LLC’S MOTION TO REOPEN TIME FOR
FILING ITS SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION

Pursuant to TBMP 509.01(b), Badawi Aviation, LLC hereby moves The Trademark Trial

and Appeal Board (the “Board” or “TTAB”) to reopen the deadline for Petitioner to file its Motion

for Summary Judgment. Good cause exists for this request for the reasons that follow:

Petitioner Badawi filed this cancellation action on November 22, 2019, seeking to cancel

Registration No. 5665928. On the same date, the Board issued the Notice of Institution listing pre-

trial and trial deadlines for the case.

Based on those dates, Badawi, through its counsel, entered the filing date into the law firm” s

automatic docketing system, thereby generating all the pretrial and trial deadlines in the case, along

with reminders. These dates were duly displayed so that they could be reviewed by those regularly

checking the docket. See, Declaration of Attorney Ava K. Doppelt attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

The Declaration of Attorney Doppelt, the responsible attorney for Petitioner in this case,

describes in detail the manner in which the deadlines for matters, including cancellation actions

such as this one, are generated and recorded by the firm’s electronic software docketing system.



As set forth therein, the algorithm for generating the deadlines for summary judgment

motions in TTAB matters was somehow set up incorrectly sometime during the twenty years the

system has been in use. As a result the system generates an incorrect date for filing summary

judgment motions in TTAB cases. The error affects everyone in the firm, because the docketing

rules are firm-wide. Apparently the problem had never been discovered previously and corrected

because no one had filed a motion for summary judgment in a TTAB matter, or at least none were

filed at a time after the actual deadline for such motions specified in the TMEP rules. See Decl.

1115.

As a result of the docketing error, Petitioner’s motion for summary judgment in this case

was attempted to be filed after the deadline for summary judgment motions had already passed.

See Exhibit 2. According to the rule, the motion had to be filed before the day of the deadline for

pretrial disclosures for the first testimony period. 37 CFR § 2.127(e)(1). In this case that deadline

would therefore have been October 7, 2020. Instead, the docketing system generated a deadline of

October 21, 2020, which is the date on which Badawi’s counsel tried to file.

Because the reason for the late filing of Petitioner’s summary judgment motion was the

result of a long—ago programming error, causing the generation of an incorrect — and overdue —

deadline for filing summary judgment motions in TTAB proceedings, it constitutes “excusable

neglect.” Thus there is good cause to reopen the time for filing summary judgement motions in

this case, and allow Petitioner’s motion for summary judgment to be filed.

WHEREFORE, Petitioner asks that its motion to reopen the time to file its summary

judgment motion be granted, and that it be given a new deadline by which to file its



summary judgment motion. Alternatively it requests that the copy of the summary judgment

motion attached as Exhibit J to the Declaration be accepted as the filed motion.

Dated: October 23, 2020 Respectfully submitted,

fAva K. Doppelt/

Ava K. Doppelt, Esq.

Allen, Dyer, Doppelt

& Gilchrist, PA.

255 South Orange Avenue

Orlando, Florida 32801

Telephone: (407) 841-2330

Facsimile: (407) 841-2343

Email: adoppelt@allendyer.com

Altameyfar Petitioner

Badmui A viariou, LLC



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on October 23, 2020, a cepy of the foregoing was
served via e-mail transmission on the following:

Todd Wengrovsky, Esq. - TW4823

Law Offices of Todd Wengrovsky, PLLC.

285 Southfield Road, Box 585

Calverton, NY 1 1933

Attorneyfor Registrant

AfafA viation, LLC

fMichel Rodriguez!

Michel Rodriguez
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

In the Matter of Trademark Registration No. 5,665,923

for the Mark AFAF AVIATION & Design

Badawi Aviation, LLC,

Petitioner, Cancellation No: 92072819
vs.

Afaf Aviation, LLC,

Respondent.
l'

DECLARATION OF AVA K. DOPPEL‘I‘ IN SUPPORT OF PETITIONER BADAWI

AVIATION, LLC’S MOTION TO REOPEN TIME FOR FILING SUMMARY

w

Ava K. Doppelt hereby declares and states as follows:

1. I am a shareholder in the intellectual property law firm Allen, Dyer, Doppelt d:

Gilchrist, P.A., and I am the lawyer representing the Petitioner in this case.

2. I have practiced at my firm, primarily in the areas of trademark and copyright law,

for over thirty-seven years. During that time I have worked on and directed a significant number

of trademark matters, including both oppositions and cancellations before the Trademark Trial and

Appeal Board, for a wide array of clients ranging from individuals to Fortune 100 companies.

3. I am a Phi Beta Kappa graduate of Northwestern University and the New York

UniVersity School of Law. I am a member in good standing of both the New York and Florida

Bars, and am certified in intellectual property law by the Florida Bar.

4. I have written and spoken extensively on numerous trademark-related topics over

the years, have taught trademark law at Barry University School of Law, and have been qualified

as an expert witness.



5. When we file or receive a matter filed in the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board

such as an opposition or cancellation action, I ask the trademark paralegal who has worked with

our firm for fourteen years to immediately docket it in our firm’s electronic trademark docketing

system. That system is a component of our larger firm—wide integrated practice management

system called AIM, Attorney’s Information Manager, which is a part of Perfect Law All-In-One

Software, a product developed by Executive Data Systems, Inc. (See Exhibit A).

6. When our firm first began using this system in 2000 for docketing (it dockets all

matters, including trademarks, copyrights, patents, litigation and other due dates), the developer

worked with us to create certain “rules” for the docketing of deadlines. For instance, if our client

is served with a lawsuit in our local state circuit court, when we enter the date of service into the

matter set up for that case, the rules, or algorithm, we created will automatically generate the

deadline date for filing the answer. This is based on the fact that we created these rules to reflect

any deadlines measured by time (e.g., a certain number of days from a particular event). Thus, if

our court requires that an answer to a complaint be filed within twenty days, as it does, then the

system will generate a date twenty days from service and display that date as the deadline for

response.

7. It works the same way in TTAB matters. In this case we filed the Petition to Cancel

on November 22, 2019. On the same date we received the Board’s Notice of Initiation, which sets

forth the deadlines for pretrial and trial.

8. One deadline that is not specified in the Notice is the deadline for filing dispositive

motions such as for summary judgment.

9. As soon as we receive the Notice, we (our paralegals) type into the system the date

of that Notice, and the system, again, automatically generates all the pretrial and trial dates. These



dates are based on the rules that were created for our system twenty years ago, although we make

modifications to reflect any changes in the court rules or administrative deadline rules (including

those of the TTAB).

10. Likewise, we re—calibrate the deadlines if there is a change in a particular case. That

happened in this case because we filed a motion to compel, which suspended the deadlines. After

the motion was resolved, the Board issued a new scheduling order (on July 8, 2020), and when we

entered the new date from that order all the other deadlines were automatically re-calculated.

11. Exhibit B attached shows a screenshot of the remaining AIM docket for this case,

beginning with the deadline for the summary judgement motion. It displays the deadline as

October 21, 2020, which is the date we tried to file our motion.

12. Our office planned to prepare and file our motion for summary judgment by this

date. We also advised the client of this deadline.

13. That date was generated by our system’s docketing rules for TTAB matters, shown

in Exhibit C. This list of dates shows that the deadline for dispositive motions is fifteen days from

the date the pretrial disclosures are due.

14. Unfortunately, as it turns out, this is not the correct date. And unfortunately, all

TTAB matters in our office show an incorrect deadline for summary judgment motions, because

all use the same rule to generate the deadlines. See, e.g., Exhibits D-I attached (client names are

redacted).

15. Apparently, we never discovered this error until now, because we don’t often file

motions for summary judgment in TTAB cases. I don’t recall that I ever have previously done so.



16. My staff and I are devastated by this occurrence. We rely every day on the

deadlines generated by our docketing system, and we must feel confident that those deadlines are

accurate. It would not be practical to check the rule for every deadline “just in case.”

17. To my knowledge, this is the first time our system failed us by automatically

generating an incorrect deadline and causing us to miss the actual deadline.

18. I should have reviewed the summary judgment rules to verify that our docketing

system was correct, although by the time I would have checked, the actual deadline would likely

have passed. But in the twenty years 1 have used AIM for docketing, I have come to rely on its

accuracy.

19. I believe that the circumstances here constitute excusable neglect and good cause

sufficient to allow the reopening of time to file the motion. In what is perhaps an excess of

optimism, I am enclosing a copy of our motion as Exhibit .1.

20. When we tried to file electronically on October 21, 2021, we received a notice that

the motion was untimely. See Exhibit K.

21. This was the first time we had any inkling that cur motion was overdue. We

emailed and Fed Ex’d the motion to the Board on the same day, but we fervently hope that we will

be permitted to file it properly, within the additional time allowed to us by the Board.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States that the foregoing is

true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

  Dated; October 23, 2020
 Ava K. Doppelt
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EXHIBIT J



IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

In the Matter of Trademark Registration No. 5,665,923

for the Mark AFAF AVIATION 8; Design

Badawi Aviation. LLC,

Petitioner, Cancellation No: 920728l9
vs.

Afaf‘Aviation, LLC,

Respondent.
l

PETITIONER BA DAW] AVIATION, LLC’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Badawi Aviation. LLC hereby moves For summary judgment cancelling registration

number 5,665,928. registered by Afat‘ Aviation, LLC, because the evidence incontrovertibly

establishes that Badawi used its mark in commerce well before Afaf. Any purported evidence to

the contrary created by Afaf for this proceeding does not withstand scrutiny, and as such. cannot

establish a genuine issue of material fact.

I. Background

A. The Undisputed Facts Support Cancellation.

Badawi and Afaf adopted and use virtually identical service marks to identify their

respective services:

  
Badawi uses its mark to promote. offer and sell Badawi's aviation-related services,

including aircraft rental and leasing services and flight training services. Declaration of Monzer

l



Badawi, attached as Exhibit “A”. (“Badawi Dec”) 1i4. Likewise, Afaf uses its mark to promote

and sell its OWH flight training services. See Deposition ofMohcine Afaftaken on July 28, 2020,

(“Afaf Depo") p. 40, attached as Exhibit “B“.

Badawi first used its mark in connection with its services at least as early as August of'

2014, and it has used the mark, consistently and continuously, ever since. Badawi Dec. 1] 3. Over

the past six years, consumers of aviation—related services haVe ceme to recognize Badawi’s mark

and associate it with Badawi. Badawi Dec. 1i 7. Badawi has expended time, effort and resources

to achieve this, prominently displaying its mark in all of' its marketing materials, including its

website at http:/r'www.llightreadvaviationxomt’, as well as on various social media platforms.

Badawi Dec. fil 5 . Badawi also features signs showing its mark on both the interior and exterior of

its building, which is widely viewed by visitors at the airport where Badawi's business is based.

Badawi Dec. 1] 6.

in November of 2019, Mr. Badawi, Badawi's owner, received an email from Mohcine

Afar, accusing Badawi of‘ stealing his company’s logo and threatening to sue on the basis of his

trademark registration. Badawi Dec. 1] 9. Afaf Depo, Ex. 2., attached as Exhibit “C" (confidential).

Mr. Badawi denied he had copied AFai', but upon seeing that Afaf was using and had registered a

mark virtually identical to his, he filed this action seeking to cancel Afaf’s registration on the basis

of priority and likelihood of confusion. The following information appears on Afaf’s registration

(Afai‘Depo, Ex. [0), attached as Exhibit “D”:

Mark App] Reg No. Reg. Int’ l. Goods or Date of Date of 1“
Date Date Class Services I" use use in

commerce

5,665928 January Airplane January January 4,

#3FF 29, 20W flight 4,2017 20!?
-. ”I. a 1”;er instruction 
 



When Mr. At‘af filed his application to register the Afaf mark in ZOIS. he swore under

penalty of'perjury that Afaffirst used the mark For airplane flight instruction, and first used it in

commerce for those services, on January 4, 20 l 7. Afaf Depo, Ex. I l, attached as Exhibit “E". And

in his November 2019 demand to Mr. Badawi, he repeated those first use dates, claiming that the

Afai‘ mark was first used in 20”. Badawi Dec.1l 9, Afaf‘ Depo, Ex. 2. '

Discovery in this action is now completed, and all the competent undisputed evidence

requires that Afan registration be cancelled. There is no dispute that the two parties‘ marks look

and feel the same, are used for exactly the same type of services, and are aimed at the same

audience. They are, therefore, confusingly similar, and likely to be confu3ed with one another.

The only question in this case is priority which party used its mark first? Whichever party can

establish it was first must prevail.

Badawi’s evidence as to its first use of its mark in 2014 is undisputed. See, e.g., Badawi

Dec.1] 3; Afaf Depo, Ex. 2. Unless Afat‘s evidence of prior trademark use is sufficient to create a

genuine issue of fact, which it is not, Badawi’s summary judgment motion should be granted and

Afaf’s registration cancelled. Until Badawi filed this action stating that it first used its mark in

20M, Afaf had sworn and reaffirmed that its mark had not been used until 20 l 7, well after Badawi

began using its own mark. AFai‘Depo, Ex. I 1. After the cancellation petition was filed, for the first

time, Afaf’ asserted an earlier first use date — not only earlier than Mr. Afaf had previously sworn

to, but conveniently one year earlier than Badawi. 2013- Afai'Depo, PF. 49-50. Ex. ID-l '- Yet

Mr. Afai‘s own deposition testimony establishes that in 20l3 he was a college student and not

 

‘ Shortly after he filed the application for the AFAF AVIATION mark in August onO 13, Mr. Afaffilcd an application
in his own name for AFAFAIR using the identical airplane design. See Application Serial No. 88I073,247, for the

294 _
as" FAFruo

mark , for charter flying services. in the application he swore that he first used the mark for those
services on April 30, ZDI 3. Mr. At‘ai‘abandoned this application in July of2019 after failing to respond to an Office
Action. Afaf Depo, Exhibits tel-l6.



certified to give flying lessons. Afaf Depo, pp. 42-44. He admitted that he did not graduate from

college until 2015, and did not receive his first flight certification until 2016. Afaf Depo, pp. 40-

41. He had no business ofhis own that could have provided flight instruction, and no business that

served as a predecessor to Afaf’s business. At best, he may have helped secure students for

someone else '5 flight school. Afaf Depo, pp. 41-42. It is impossible for Mr. Afaf or his company

to have offered the services shown on the registration prior to the time Mr. Afaf was qualified to

offer those services. It would have been illegal for him to have done so.

B. The Evidence Purporting to Demonstrate AfaPs Prior Use of The Mark Is Not
Believable and Should Be Given No Consideration.

In answering the petition, Afaf filed only a general denial. In responding to the requests

for production (Afaf Depo, Ex. 9), attached as Exhibit “F”, Mr. Afaf, again tardily, submitted an

unswom and rambling “letter” dated January 26, 2020 addressed “To whom it may concern,” in

which he claimed to describe his creation and use of the Afaf mark. Afaf Depo, Ex. 22, attached

as Exhibit “G”. He included six letters signed by from friends or acquaintances, all containing

identical information, to back up his story that he created the mark in March of 2013 and that he

formed his company in 2017 (they all remembered the exact month and year!).

At least two of them admitted that Mr. Afaf himself wrote the letters and simply asked

them to sign. Deposition of Seung Suh taken August 10, 2020 (“Suh Depo”), pp. 17—18, attached

as Exhibit “H”; and Deposition of Marcris Buchanan taken on August 20, 2020 (“Buchanan

Depo”), pp. 18-20, attached as Exhibit “1”. Mr. Afaf also submitted photographs purporting to

show his “drafts” of the mark, which they were supposedly signed and dated by Mr. Afaf in 2013.

Afaf Depo, Ex. 22. Finally, he submitted Facebook evidence purporting to show his use of the

mark going back to 2013. Afaf Depo, Ex. 22. None of this evidence should be given any credence.

Apart from its self-service nature, it is internally inconsistent, unverifiable, unreliable, and



apparently created after the fact by Mr. Afaf himself, or by his friends at his request and with his

personal assistance. This is not evidence that can create a genuine issue of material fact sufficient

to refute the uncontested facts supporting Badawi’s position.

Every bit of evidence provided by Afaf in this case is unreliable on its face and need not

be countenanced. Moreover, almost all of these items of evidence, even if they could be shown to

be legitimate, are irrelevant to the issue of trademark priority, since they do not establish, or even

address, Afaf’s first trademark use of the mark for the services shown on the registration.

Afaf’s Alleged Evidence of Prior Use Reasons It Should Carry No Weight

1. Letter of Mohcine Afaf (includes all Self-serving, not responsive to request,

followin ) unreliable, internall inconsistent

2. “Drafts” of logo Refuted b sworn testimon of others
3. Letter of Hoeton Gabbidon Inconsistent with his deosition testimon

4. Letter of Marcris Buchanan Virtuall identical to other letters

 

 

5. Letter of Badreddine Messeleka Virtuall identical to other letters

6. Letter of Bilal Alsa edi Virtuall identical to other letters unswom)

7. Letter of William Daza Parra Virtuall identical to other letters

8. Letter of Seun; Suh Virtuall identical to other letters

9. Facebook ' Private; doesn’t show use

10. Plctures of busmess card Doesn’t show use

   
To test this evidence, Badawi scheduled the deposition of Mr. Afaf, and served third-party

subpoenas duces tecum on the six others whose letters were included with Afaf‘s letter. Of those,

one ignored the subpoena altogether, and the others appeared by Zoom or phone. None complied

with the duces tecum requests.

The witnesses’ deposition testimony was self-contradictory, uncooperative and unreliable.

They did not support either Afaf’ s timeline as to the first use of the mark for flight training services,

or the story of the mark’s creation. What emerges is that Mr. Afaf substantially or wholly prepared

all the letters himself, asked his friends and acquaintances to sign them and then attempted to use

them to buttress his story.



II. Legal Standard for Summary Judgment

Summary judgment is to be regarded as a salutary method of disposition designed to secure

the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action. Sweats Fashions, Inc. v. Pannill

Knitting C0,, 833 F.2d 1560, 1562 (Fed. Cir. 1987). It is appropriate when the pleadings,

depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with any affidavits show

that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to

judgment as a matter of law. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 US. 317, 322 (1986); Fed. R. Civ. P.

56(c); Pure Gold, Inc., 739 F.2d at 626. A dispute about a material fact is genuine only “if

the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.”

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986); TBMP §528.01.

A non-movant may not rest on its conclusory pleadings or mere allegations but must

present an evidentiary basis for its opposition to the motion. Pure Gold, Inc., 739 F.2d at 627.

Thus, one cannot overcome a motion for summary judgment merely by contradicting the movant’s

facts.

III. Argument

A. Afaf Failed to Respond Timely to the Requests for Admission with No Excuse, and

thus the Requests are Deemed Admitted.

Badawi served Afaf with requests for admissions on February 10, 2020. Afaf Depo, Ex. 8,

attached as Exhibit “J”. There were nine requests:

1. Admit that you did not use Respondent’s Mark prior to August 2014.

2. Admit that you did not use Respondent’s Mark prior to 2015.

3. Admit that you did not use Respondent’s Mark prior to 2016.

4. Admit that you did not use Respondent’s Mark prior to 2017.

5. Admit that you did not create the design for Respondent’s Mark.



6. Admit that you were aware of Petitioner’s Mark prior to 2017.

7. Admit that you were aware of Petitioner prior to 2017.

8. Admit that Respondent’s Mark resembles Petitioner’s Mark.

9. Admit that the design in Respondent’s Mark is substantially the same as the design

in Petitioner’s Mark.

Id.

Despite repeated emails asking for a response, Badawi received no response to these

requests until April 7, 2020, almost a month late. Afaf Depo, Ex. 17, attached as Exhibit “K”.

Afaf never sought an extension nor provided any excuse. Because the responses were served after

the 30-day deadline, the facts in the requests are deemed to be admitted. Fed. R. Civ. P 36(a)(3);

37 CPR § 2.120(a)(3); TMEP 407.03(a) “The failure to timely respond to Requests for

Admissions results in automatic admission of the matters requested. Fed. R. Civ. P. 36(a)(3). ‘No

motion to establish admissions is needed because Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 36(a) is self-

executing’... Once admitted, the matter is conclusively established ‘unless the court on motion,

permits the admission to be withdrawn or admitted.’ Fed. R. Civ. P. 36(b).” (Emphasis is original;

citations omitted), Doctors Medical Center ofModesto, Inc. v. Principal Life Insurance Company,

201 1 US. Dist. LEXIS 26885 *4 (ED. Cal. 201 l) (for the standard; but court allowed responses

on these facts).

In Armida Winery, Inc. v. Cuban, LLC, Armida claimed priority over PSI’S (Cuban’s

predecessor in interest) registration filing date in 2012. 2018 TTAB LEXIS 295, *29 (TTAB

2018). PSI failed to timely respond to Armida’s request for admissions, and thus was deemed to

have admitted that its earliest date of use was not on or before 2016. Id. at *23. The Board found

that neither date was prior to Armida’s first use in 2001. Id. at *29. Accordingly, the Board found



“no genuine dispute of material fact that Armida has shown priority of use for its mark . . . .” Id.

at 31.

Here, because Afaf responded after the deadline had passed, it is conclusively deemed to

have admitted that it did not use the Afaf mark prior to 2014, 2015, 2016 or 2017, that it did not

create the design for the mark, that it was aware of Badawi or its mark prior to 2017, and that the

two marks resemble one another and the designs are substantially the same.

Afaf never offered any explanation, sought any extension or moved to withdraw the

admissions, and as such, they stand as Afaf‘s position in this case. 2 Based on these conclusive

admissions alone, which establish a prima facie case for the cancellation of Afaf’s registration,

Badawi’s motion for summary judgment should be granted.

B. Badawi used its mark prior to any use Afaf could have made of its mark.

“The common law and the Lanham Act require that trademark ownership be accorded to

the first bona fide user.” Hydro-Dynamics, Inc. v. George Putnam & C0., 811 F.2d 1470, 1472

(Fed. Cir. 1987). Proprietary rights may arise from a prior use. Travelers Indem. Co. v. Trov, Inc,

2020 TTAB LEXIS 369, *85 (TTAB July 10, 2020).

It is undisputed that Badawi has been continuously using its mark for aircraft sales and

leasing and flight training services since at least August of2014. Badawi Dec. 11 3. It is undisputed

that Afaf originally swore that its first use of its mark for flight training services was January 4,

2017, the date the company was formed. Because Badawi’s use was more than two years prior to

Afaf’s first use, Badawi was the first bona fide user of the mark—giving Badawi proprietary rights

to the mark and making Afaf an infringer. Because these facts are undisputed, Badawi’s use has

priority over Afaf’s use, filing, and registration of its mark.

2 When Afaf finally did file its late response, its answers were deficient and did not meet the requirements of Fed. R.
Civ. P. 36(a)(4).



Afaf must overcome at least two hurdles to defeat this motion. First, because the company

did not exist before January 4, 2017, it must prove that it obtained its rights from a predecessor in

interest. Second, because it swore a first use of 2017 in its application but now wants to claim an

earlier use, it must show by clear and convincing evidence that its use of the mark, in connection

with flight training services, was earlier than what was claimed on its registration. See Hydro-

Dynamics, 8] 1 F.2d at 1474.

C. There is no evidence to show that Afaf obtained trademark rights from a predecessor
in interest.

The earliest date Afaf could have used any mark in commerce is the date it first came into

existence, January 4, 2017. Id. at 1472. If Afaf wants to claim an earlier use date, it would have

to show it acquired rights to the mark from a predecessor in interest. Afaf has not done so.

Normally, a legal entity cannot take actions, such as using a mark in commerce, before it

exists. However, “[i]f the first use of the mark was by a predecessor in title or by a related company

. . . and the use inures to the benefit of the applicant, the dates of first use . . . may be asserted with

a statement that the first use was by the predecessor in title or by the related company . . . .” 27

C.F.R. § 2.38(a). Afaf provided no statement that the first use was by a predecessor in title or by a

related company as required by § 2.38(a). Therefore, January 4, 2017, is the earliest use in

commerce that Afaf can claim. No reasonable fact finder could find otherwise.

D. Afaf’s alleged prior use is not supported by any legitimate evidence.

As discussed above, even if any prior use by a predecessor could have inured to the benefit

of Afaf, Afaf did not provide any legitimate evidence that its mark was used in connection with

flight training services prior to Badawi’s first use date.

“Where an applicant seeks to prove a date earlier than the date alleged in its application,”

the applicant has to prove an earlier date by clear and convincing evidence. Hydro-Dynamics, 81 l



F.2d at 1473. However, “[m]ere invention, creation, or discussion of a trademark does not create

priority rights.” Hydro—Dynamics, Inc., 81 1 F.2d at 1473 (citation and quotation marks omitted).

In this proceeding, Mr. Afaf contends he invented and used his trademark in 2013. Afaf

Depo, p. 50. Although he offered some evidence (although not trustworthy) for the date ofcreation,

he offered no evidence to support a date the trademark registrant, or its legitimate predecessor,

actually and legally first used the mark as a trademark to promote its flight training services. The

documents Afafproduced, Afaf’s answers to interrogatories, Mr. Afaf’s deposition testimony, and

the deposition testimony of third parties provide contradictory evidence. This is not clear and

convincing, and no reasonable fact finder could find otherwise.

Mr. Afaf produced a photograph which he claimed showed his early sketches of his mark

signed by him in March of 2013. Afaf Depo, Ex. 22. It would be odd for someone to sign, date,

and photograph sketches used for preliminary designs of a logo. He also provided a screen capture

of the logo uploaded to his private Facebook page showing dates of March 12, 2013 and March

15, 2013. Id. In the March 15, 2013 private post, a business card was accompanied by the text

“incoming business card,” confirming that the card was not in use. Id.

Both posts were made to Mr. Afaf’s private Facebook page, inaccessible to anyone other

than his approved “friends,” and thus do not exhibit any public solicitation of business. Id. pp. 96;

98—99. Marks posted to private social media pages are not marks used “in commerce.”

In the March 12, 2013 post, Mr. Afaf says:

From March 2013 till January of 2017, I was doing Business with Flight School

named ‘positive rate gear up’ Marcris buchanan is the owner. That time I was an

Aviation Student, I used to recruit Students to Marcris using my Business AFAF

AVIATION . . . . In return Marcris Awarded me a Free flight hour so that way I

could build flight time towards my Career in Aviation. At that time AFAF

AVIATION was not incorporated nor been advertised on social Media Due a

republic airport where the flight school is based at. They are strictly against

advertising on social media. . . .

10



Afaf Depo, Exhibit 22. Several things can be inferred from this text. First, even if Mr. Afaf had

created a logo, he did not use it for advertising purposes on social media because it was strictly

prohibited by the airport. Second, Mr. Afaf was a college student, not yet an instructor, and any

business he did under the mark could not have been for providing flight training services. Id. pp.

42-43. He was not qualified to provide flight training services. Third, any “business” Mr. Afaf

conducted under the mark was as a recruiter for someone else ’s business, Positive Rate Gear Up.

Id. pp. 42-43.

In his deposition, Mr. Afaf testified that he did not teach students to fly while he was a

consultant with Positive Rate Gear Up. Id. pp. 41, 43, 99-100, 105. Mr. Afaf testified that he

personally was not allowed to offer flight instruction services until he was certified as an instructor.

Id. pp. 43-44. In his letter, Mr. Afaf stated that in “[l]ate 2016, I graduated flight training and

[became] a flight [i]nstructor and a few months later and incorporated my dream business . . . .”

Id. Ex. 22; See also Depo of Badreddine Messeleka taken on August 20, 2020, pp. 16—18, attached

as Exhibit “L”.

Mr. Afaf’s testimony that he became a flight instructor in 2016 contradicts the records from

the FAA. See Badawi Dec. 1112. According to the FAA, Mr. Afaf did not receive his certification

as a flight instructor until April 28, 2019. Id. The conflicting evidence as to when Mr. Afaf

personally began offering flight training services and when he was “allowed” to offer flight

training services does not meet the clear and convincing standard.

Even taking Mr. Afat’s ground instructor certification into account, Mr. Afaf was not

offering any kind of flight training services until no earlier than 2016. Mr. Afaf claims that he was

a “consultant,” and using his logo in connection with consulting services while he was a student

11
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at Positive Rate Gear Up. AfafDepo, pp. 94—95. Mr. Afaf expressly admits that he could not have

offered flight training services during this time period. Id.

Q. Can you tell me what this is? A. That’s a business card to when I published in

2015—March l6—March 16, 2015. That when I do flight consulting before I

become an instructor. I was a student at Farmington college, and I sent them

students for Positive Rate—positive gear up. Right there, that’s a logo that I was

working with them. Q. Is this a business card? A. That’s correct. Q. And this is your

name. Right? And then it says flight training consultant. A. That’s correct. Q. That

means you weren’t training people how to fly. Correct? A. That’s correct, because

I was not an instructor back then, so I can recruit people to get a free—free hours,
because I was a student back then.

Afaf Depo, pp. 94-95.

All the third-party letters in Exhibit 22 purported to establish some use of the mark prior

to August 2014 but are not credible. They all exhibit the same or similar grammar and spelling

mistakes. For example, many words were improperly capitalized, some words were improperly

spaced by two spaces, incorrect verb tense was used, and in Mr. Buchanan’s letter, he did not

capitalize his own name. (“1, marcris buchanan airline Pilot and owner of Positive Rate gear Up

Flight School, Based in Republic Airport Long Island NY 11735.”). The letters from Mr. Suh,

Mr. Alsayedi, Mr. Messeleka, Mr. Buchanan, and Mr. Gabbidon incorporated the exact Afaf mark

in their letters. When asked about the origin of his letter, Mr. Suh testified directly that “[Mr. Afat]

wrote it. I just signed it and then sent it in.” Suh Depo, p. 20, attached as Exhibit “M”. Likewise,

Mr. Buchanan testified that “[t]he letter came from my office. Q. Who wrote it? A. He wrote it, I

signed it. Q. Mr. Afaf, you mean? A. Yes . . . .” Buchanan Depo, p. 20.

Although these letters appear to offer evidence of the creation and use of the Afaf mark,

the evidence is not reliable, and no reasonable fact finder would afford any statements from them

any weight. Moreover, the letters do not show when the Afaf mark was first used in connection

with flight training services—the only relevant question in this dispute.

12



At best, Afaf producad evidence Only oi the Creation of the Af'al' mark. At some later

unidentified date, Mr. Afafor his company used the mark to offer flight training services. There is

no clear and convincing evidence showing any use of the mark for these services prior to January

4, 2017.

E. It was illegal for Mr. Afaf to use the mark prior to August 2014.

Notwithstanding that the canflicting evidence does not meet the clear and convincing

standard, the earliest that Mr. Afaf could legally have offered flight training services is February

16, 2016. “[T]o qualify For a federal registration, the use ofa mark in commerce must be lawful."

In re Phat-motion)? LLC, [23 U.S.P.Q.2D (BNA) I 122, 1 LB (TTAB 20l7) (quotation marks and

citations omitted). “Thus, for a mark to be eligible for federal registration, any goods or services

for which the mark is used must not be illegal under federal law." Id. at l IE4. Material, per se

noncompliance of a statute may warrant cancellation of the registration of a mark. See General

Mills INC. v. Health Volley Foods, 24 US PQZd l270, 1274 (TTAB 1992).

The FAA requires a person who provides flight training to have either a flight instructor

certificate or ground instructor certificate. “Except as provided in paragraph (d)(3) of this section,

no person other than the holder of a flight instructor certificate i55ued under this part with the

appropriate rating on that certifiCatc may—[g]ive training required to qualify a person for solo

flight and solo cross-country flight." l4 C.F.R. § 61.3(d)(2). “A flight instructor certificate issued

under this part is not necessary . . . ifthe training is given by the holder of a ground instructor

certificate in accordance with the privileges of the certificate . . . .” Id. (d)(3).

it would have been a violation of FAA regulations for Mr. Afaf to provide flight training

services unless he held a flight instructor certificate or a ground instructor certificate. Mr. Afaf did

not acquire his ground instructor certificate until February l6, 20l6. Badavvi Dec 1H2. Mr. Afar

l3



did not acquire his flight instructor certificate until April 28, 2019. Id. Therefore, because it would

have been illegal for Mr. Afaf to provide flight training until he was certified to do so, and a mark

is not eligible for registration unless its use is lawful, the earliest date Mr. Afaf could possible

claim lawful use of the mark in connection with flight training services is February 16, 2016.

Afaf failed to produce sufficient evidence for a reasonable fact finder to conclude by a clear

and convincing standard that Afaf used the mark in connection with flight training services prior

to the date claimed on its registration, January 4, 2017. Additionally, Mr. Afaf has failed to produce

evidence for a reasonable fact finder to conclude by a clear and convincing standard that Mr. Afaf

personally used the mark prior to August 2014. At best, the earliest Mr. Afaf can personally claim

lawful use in connection with flight training services is February 16, 2016, the date he acquired

his ground instructor certificate. Because Badawi’s first use in August 2014 was prior to both

January 4, 2017, and February 16, 2016, Badawi’s continuous use pre—dates Afaf’s use. Afaf’s

registration should therefore be cancelled.

F. Afaf’s mark creates a likelihood of confusion as to the source Badawi’s services.

The Afaf mark as shown in its registration is confusingly and deceptively similar to the

Badawi mark in appearance, meaning, and commercial impression. Even though the Afaf mark is

registered in black and white, it is shown throughout its website in colors very similar to those in

the Badawi mark. Afafs aviation-related services are closely related to Badawi’s aviation services.

Consumers are likely to believe that Afaf and its services are somehow sponsored by, affiliated

with and/or related to Badawi’s and its services. Afaf’s channels of trade and types of purchasers

are identical to or very similar to Badawi’s. As a result of the above, persons familiar with the

Badawi mark and services will likely confuse Afaf‘s services with the services provide by Badawi.

Any defect, objection, or fault found with Afaf’s services offered under its registration may reflect

l4



upon and expose Badawi to liability, and injure the reputation Badawi has established for its

Services. 3

Likelihood of" confusiou between two marks is determined on a case-by-case basis by

application of the DuPont factors. In re EJ. DuPont. dc Nsmorrrs 62 Co. 476 F.2d |357 (CCPA

I973). Although there is no mechanical test, in any likelihood of confilsion analysis. two key

considerations are the similarity of the marks and the similarity of the goods or services. Federated

Foods. Inc. v. For! Howard Paper Co, 544 F.2d l098 (CCPA l976). In determining confusion

between marks, the “marks must be considered in their entireties and must be considered in

connection with the particular goods or Services for which they are used.“ In re National Data

Corp, 753 F.2d 1056, IOSS (Fed. Cir. 1985).

Marks that have similar logos weigh rewards a likelihood ofcon fusion. In Hilson Research

Inc. 3». Society for Human Remorse Mgmt. the Board found likelihood of confusion because the

two logos used substantially similar stylized letters ”H” and “R” and the services offered by both

companies were rendered to the same classes of purchasers. 27 U.S.P.Q.2D (BNA) I423. 1440

(TTAB 1993). In Chanel. Inc. v. Mauriello, the Board found two logos confusingly similar, leading

to a higher likelihood of confusion. 2010 TTAB LEXIS 499, *25 (TTAB 2010).

The Badawi mark and the Afaf mark are nearly identical. The stylized airplane and three

wind swoops are identical. Both marks use the downward wing to start the first letter of the name

ofthcir cempany. Both marks use the word “AVIATION” to the right ofthe downward wing.

3 This is not a consideration to be taken lightly, as flight training is a dangerous business. In fact. Positive Rate Gear

Up. Mr. Buchanan‘s flight school. experienced a tragedy when one of its students fatally crashed the training plane
he was flying. The school closed as a result.
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Both companies offer the same services and operate in similar trade channels, seeking

similar customers. Both companies operate out of general aviation airports and target individuals

who want to learn to fly small airplanes.

Afaf does not dispute that the two marks are confusingly similar. This dispute began

because Mr. Afaf wrote to Badawi accusing the company of copying his logo. He reiterated his

belief in his deposition:

Q. And number nine in the request for admission asks you to admit that the design

in your mark is substantially the same as the design in the Badawi mark, and you

denied that; is that accurate? A. Correct. Q. And why is that? You don't think the

marks are similar or substantially the same? A. Well, it's obvious that —- no, it's

obvious[ly] similar because he copied the same thing and didn't make a change.

Afaf Depo, p. 52.

Because Mr. Afaf himself believes the marks are similar or substantially the same, and the

marks are almost identical, and are used for the same services, there is a likelihood of confusion

between the two marks.

IV. Conclusion

Badawi’s use of its mark in August 2014 predates Afaf’s use of its mark for flight training

services. Afaf‘s earliest possible use of the mark in connection with flight training services was

January 4, 2017, according to its own sworn statement. Afaf’s admission it did not use the mark

prior to 2017 conclusively establishes that it did not use the mark prior to 2017.

Alternatively, no reasonable fact finder could find sufficient evidence in this record to

support Afaf’s claimed priority use of the mark in connection with flight training services. The

facts presented through sworn deposition testimony are insufficient for a reasonable trier of fact to

find that Afaf used the mark for flight training services prior to August 2014, let alone by clear

and convincing evidence.

16



The marks are confusingly similar; neither party disputes this. The use and registration of

the Afaf mark would therefore likely cause confusion in the marketplace. The registration should

be canoelled under IS U.S.C. §§ 1064, |052(d).

For these reasons, Badawi requests an entry of summary judgment in its favor cancelling

the registration of AFAF AVIATION & Design.

Dated: October 21, 2020 Respectfully submitted,

fAva K. Doggelt/

Ava K. Doppelt, Esq.

Allen, Dyer, Doppelt

81. Gilchrist, P.A.

255 South Orange Avenue

Orlando, Florida 32801

Telephone: (407) 841-2330

Facsimile: (407) 84l-2343

Email: adoppelt@allendyer.corn

Attorneyfor Petitioner

Badawi A vintion, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on October 21, 2020, a copy of the foregoing was

served via e-mail transmission on the following:

Todd Wengrovsky, Esq. - TW4823

Law Offices of Todd Wengrovsky, PLLC.

285 Southfield Road, Box 585

Calverton, NY I 1933

Attorneyfor Registrant

AfiifA viation, LLC

fMichel Rodriguez!

Michel Rodriguez
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

In the Matter oFTradematk Registration No. 5.665.928

For the Mark AFAF AVIATION 8: Design

Serial No.: 979377 | 8

Filing Date: May 26, 20 IB

For: AFAF AVIATION & Design

Class: 4]

Commissioner for Trademarks

Box RESPONSE NO FEE

PO. Box I451

Alexandria, VA 223 l3-I4SI

Sir:

DECLARATION OF MONZER BADAWI IN SUPPORT OF PETITION ER‘S

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

The undersigned, being duly sworn, deposes and says:

I. I am over the age of IE and make this declaration based on my personal knowledge

of the Facts stated below.

2. I am the owner and president oFthe Petitioner Badawi Aviation. LLC (“Badawi”)

in this cancellation action.

3. Since as early as August of 2014. my company has used the mark

M WI
2”: E

A V ' A T I o N (‘otn' mark“) For aircraft rental and leasing Services and flight training

services. As shown. our mark includes the words BADAWI AVIATION stacked vertically, written

in all capital letters, with BADAWI in bold italics and AVIATION in lighter type. along with a

distinctive design ofa stylized jet airplane Flying at a slight tilt over the first two letters oF“Badawi“



so that the right wing of the plane Forms the elongated stern oi'the B in “Badawi,” and three blue

exhaust plumes curving out around the B.

4. My business promotes and offers aircraft rental and leasing. flight instruction. pilot

training, and sightseeing tour services. We operate out of a general aviation airport in Orlando,

Florida.

5. Our marketing efforts. which include our website at

htr :walei Ihirer tl twitttinnxorw’. as well as social media, target individuals who Want to learn  

to Fly small airplanes and become certified as pilots.

6. All of our company’s marketing materials prominently display our mark. and we

also have signs showing our mark inside and outside our building.

7. We have used our mark continuously and consistently at least since August oi'ZDIll.

We have expended significant resources promoting our services using the marl-r. Customers

recognize our mark and connect it with our services, as distinguished from those of our

competitors.

8. We posted our mark on our company’s Faceboolt page at least as early as October

27, 20M. See Exhibit l attached.

9. On November 5, 2Dl9, I received an email addressed to

inli:ndliuhtrendvavlatinneoni From Mr. Mohcine Al‘at‘, claiming that I had stolen his logo and 

threatening to file a lawsuit. Mr. AfaFasscrted that his mark had "been used since 20W."

10. Our mark and the mark used by Mr. Afaf‘s company, At‘at'Aviation, LLC ("Mai“).

are almost identical. other than the name incorporated into the design. The jet airplane tilted

slightly upward. the location ofthe plane vis a vis the words. the threejetstream swirls. and the

use of'the right wing to form the first letter ofthe name . - all are exactly the same in both marks.



I l. l reviewed the corporate records of the State ofNew York. and read that Aral" was

l'ormed on January 4, 2017. See Exhibit 2 attached.

I2, I also reviewed the records of the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”), and

noted that Mohcinc Afar became certified as a flight instructor on April 28, 20 I 9. and certified as

a ground instructor on February HS, 2016. Before that time, to the best oi" my knowledge he was

not certified to teach [lying and could not legally do so.

l3. { had never heard of Afai’prior to receiving Mr. Al'af‘s email in November ol'2019

nor had I ever previously seen his logo. 1 have never been to any location where he says his

business has been located.

14. We did not copy Afan mark in creating our mark.

15. l declare that the facts set forth in this declaration are true, and that all statements

made on knowledge are true. and all statements made on information and belief are believed to be

true; and further, that these statements are made with the knowledge that willFul false statements

and the like so made are punishable by fine er imprisonment, or both, under Sectirm mm of Title

IS ofthe United States Code.

Date: 21 OCT 2020  
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1Df2112020 Badawi Avialicm, LLC - Flight School - Orlando. Florida ] Faceboak - 4 Reviaws - 7 Photos
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1DI21I2020 Enllly Information

NYS Department of State

Division of Corporations

Entity Information

The information contained in this database is current through October 20, 2020.

Selected Entity Name: AFAF AVIATION LLC

Selected Entity Status lnfonnaiion

Current Entity Name: AFAF AVIATION LLC

DOS ID ii: 5062013

initial DDS Filing Date: JANUARY 04, 2017

County: SUFFOLK

Jurisdiction: NEW YORK

Entity Type: DOMESTIC LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

Current Entity Status: ACTIVE

Selected Entity Address Information

DOS Process (Address to which DOS will mail process if accepted on behalf of the entity)

AFAF AVIATION

3327 I49TH STREET

FLUSHING, NEW YORK. H354

Registered Agent

NONE

This office does not require or maintain information

regarding the names and addresses of members or

managers of nonprofessional limited liability

companies. Professional limited liability companies
must include the name(s) and address(es) of the original

members, however this information is not recorded and

only available by glowing the gefiifioate.

*Stoek Information

it of Shares Type of Stock 5 Value per Share

hllps:iIappeleOflos.ny.gowcorp_put3tic.rCORPSEARGHENTITY_INFORMATIDN?p_lnkao=CdFDES§B32W4BIE[SIN/9009101FDCIBCFEBEUTZFHJIED... 1:2



10l21l2020 Emily Inlm'rl'lallfln

No lnf‘onnalion Available

*Stock information is applicable to domestic business camaralions.

Name History

Filing Date Name Type Entity Name

JAN 04. 20 I? Actual AFAF AVIATION LLC

A Fictitious name must be used when the Actual name. of a foreign entity is unavailable for use in New York

State. The entity must use Ihe lictilimis name when conducting ils activities or business in New York State.

NOTE: New York State. does not issue organizational identification numbcra.

WW

magma | Privacy Pglicy. l Amflhflfiyml'cx | M”H I W
mafia: l mama

hllPB:l‘lappaxlzofins.nygnvmutp_publichORPSEARCl-l,ENTITTJNFORMATION?p__lokan=C¢FDE55632W497BDA790D9101FUDECFEfiBOlSFE-IED.., 212
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

Cancellation No: 92072819

In the Matter of Trademark Registration No. 5,665,928.

For the Mark AFAF AVIATION E DESIGN

Badawi Aviation, LLC,

Petitioner,

_vs_

Afaf Aviation, LLC,

Respondent.

+ a i * * w * + * * t *

DEPOSITION OF: MOHCINE AFAF

DATE TAKEN: July 23, 2020

TIME: 10:00 A.M.

PLACE: BY VIDEOCONFERENCE

REPORTED BY: MICHELLE PULIDO STUEEEN, FPR,

COURT REPORTER, NOTARY PUBLIC

VerncxtLtgalSuiununs
800v726-7007 305-375-3300



1 A P P E A R A N C E S

2 AVA K. DOPPELT, ESQUIRE
Allen, Dyer, Doppe1t& Gilchrist. PA.

3 255 South Orange Avenue, Suite 1401
Orlando, Florida 32801

4 (Adoppe1t@allendyer.com)
S APPEARING ON BEHALF OF THE PETITIONER

6 TODD WENGROVSKY. ESQUIRE
Law Offices of Todd Wengrovsky. PLLC.
285 Southfield Road, Box 585
Calverton. NY 11933

8
APPEARING ON BEHALF OF THE RESPONDENT

9
‘10
‘11

:12
.13

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

'22

‘23
-24
25

1 C O N T E N T S

2 TESTIMONY OF MOHCINE AFAF

3 Direct Examination by MS. DOPPELT........... 6 I
4 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER.............................. 161 :

5 CERTIFICATE OF OATH.................................. 162

6 ERRATA SHEET......................................... 163

7 SIGNATURE LETTER..................................... 164

8 EXHIBITS .......................................ATTACHED

9

10 -----

11 STIPULATIONS

12 It is hereby stipulated by and between counsel for the

, 13 respective parties that the reading and signing of the

- 14 deposition be waived.
1 15

3 l6
3 17

18

. 19

' 20

' 21
22

. 23
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P R 0 C E E D I N G S

THE REPORTER: The attorneys participating in

tltis deposition acknowledge that I. the court

reporter. am not ptesent with lite witness and that

I will be reporting the proceedings and

administering the oath remotely.

The parties and their counsel consent to this

arrangement and waive any objections to this manner

of reporting. Please indicate your agreement by

stating your name and your agreement
on the record.

THE WITNESS: Mohciae Mai. Iagree.
MS. DOPPELT: Do the rest oi" as have to do

that 100'?

THE REPORTER: Yes.

MS. DDPPELT: Okay. I‘m Ava Doppelt andl
agree.

M R. WENGROVSKY: Todd Wengrovsity and I agree
as well.

WHEREUPON:

MOI-{CINE AFAF.

was called as a witness. and having first been duly
sworn. testified as follows:

THE WITNESS: That's what you say in the holy

trinity. so help me God.

Page '1

THE. REPORTER; Okay. You may begin.

MS. DOPFELT: Okay. We are ready to go?
THE REPORTER: Yes.

MS. DOPPELT: Thank you.
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. DOPPELT;

Q. Good morning. Mr. Aral". The first thing I'm

going to ask you so that we say we did this right Is ..

can you jost pronounce your last name so I make sure I'm

saying it correctly.
A. Sure. It's Afaf. Afaf. However you like it.

it’s -— it‘s fine. But usually it‘s Afar.
Q. Afaf‘!
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Thank you.
Hello. Mr. Afat’. l’nt Ava Bennett. and I'm the

lawyer for the petitioner. Badawi Aviation LLC. And as

you can see from the Zoom screen. Mr. Batiawi is also

present. The name Trevor Ward. whom you may not know.
is a law student who‘s working in our office who's

watching this deposition. Ms. Stuoben is the

court reporter. and your lawyer is here as Wt”: 50

that‘s everybody.

I'm going to confess to you right up front.

this is my first time doing a deposition on Zoom. so I

Page ii

i hope it all works. And i wish us all look.

2 Mr. Afar. have you had your deposition taken
3 before?

4 A. No. this is my first time ever. First time

5 for everything.
6 Q. Okay. Okay.

7 Well. to that point. let me just lay out some

3 simple instructions about how this works. So I‘m going

9 to ask you questions, Please answer as best you can,
It) but don't guess.

I 1 IF you don‘t know the answer. just say you

I”! don't know. lI-‘you can‘t rentemher.just say you can't
13 remember.

I4 is your lawyer in the same room as you?
IS A. No.

16 Q. Okay. So you can't ask your lawyer before you

I? answer. You just have to answer the question if you

18 can; or it you can't. say the reason why you can‘t.
19 If your lawyer objects to a question that I

20 ask. listen to the objection and see what we do. Either

21 I'll have to change my question. because It wasn't

21 comprehensible. or he's just raising an objection. But
23 we can move forward anyway. Of course there's no judge

241 here. so nobody's ruling on objections.

25 If you have to still answer anyway. I'll Say

Page 9

1 lhul. And unless your lawyer objects to that. you will
2 still have to answer.

3 So it" you don't understand what I’m asking

it you .. you just don't understand the question. you can

5 just say you don't understand or ask me to rephrase it
6 in some way that makes it more eflmprtthcnsible. Inst

7 don't -- just don‘t try to guess what I'm asking you.
3 Obviously. the court reporter is here because

9 our questions and answers are being taken down verbatim.
It] and she's not -- she's in her-own -- we‘re all in

I I separate places. as far as t can tell. So site's
I2 listening on Zoom just like the rest of us.

IS The one thing I will say is it] ask yea :1

I4 question that requires you to tell me what your lawyer

[5 mid you. then don‘t answer that. Just tell me that

[6 it — you can't answer that. okay. because that would be
i? an attorney-client privilege. Your lawyer might object.

I8 But if he doesn‘t object and if you don't want to ten

I9 me some advioe your lawyer gave me. just loll me that

20 you can't.

I! Have you been involved in aZoom meeting
22

23
24

25

before?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

A. Not meeting but training.

3 (Pages 6 - 9)
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Page In
Pardon me‘?

Not meeting but training.

. Okay. So we’re all kind of Zoomcd out. Iare
think.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. One of the ways this works is that I'm

going to show you exhibits. And if we were doing this

and l was sitting across from you. I would hand you a

document and you would look at it‘ hold it in your hand.

and the court reporter would mark it. This is one of

the ways that this process is going to be different.
There's a series oi'eshibits that I've already

marked with numbers. and the court reporter has them and

your lawyer also has them. And I‘m going to show them

to you on the screen. [hopc. And so we can talk about

them that way.

I? And i'm going tojust ask you questions about

IB them. and you can look at them on the screen. if you

I? are having trouble or iFyou can't see them on the
10 screen, please let me know.

2| You‘re under oath. of course. You just took

22 the oath. and so you understand what that means. that

\D'N‘JD‘UthLHI-J—
E

.3.—

I;
IS

I6

23 you have to tell the truth.

24 Is there anybody in the room with you?

25 A. Nn.just me.

Page I I

I Q. Okay. Whereare you?
2 A. The airport.

3 Q. You're at the airport. Okay.

4 A. My office.

5 Q. Okay. Is there anything that would prevent

6 you from Understanding questions and answering

"I truthfully today? Are you on any kind of medication?
8 A. No.

9 Q. Okay. And I'm going to assume ifyou're here.

10 you're not sick?
I l A. No. I'm not.

12 Q. Okay. Okay.

I3 Can you please give your entire name and spell
14 it out. I know you did it for the court reporter. but
15 that's how we start.

I6 A. Sure. It's Mohcinc Afar. M-O-H—C-l-N-E. Last
17 name is A-F—A-F.

IS Q. Okay. Thank you.

19 Have you ever been knovlm by any other names?
20 A. No.

2] Q. Do you have a middle name?
22 A. No.

23 Q. Can you give your -— how old are you?

24 A. Thirty-one.

25 Q. Thirty-one?

Pace l2

COUCH.

And what's your date of birth?
October l5. I938.

And where were you born?
Morocco.

How old were you when you came lo the
United Statee'iI

A. l don't recall.

Q. Were you a small child or teenager?

to A. Back and forth. I don't have specific dates

It exactly when I -- When I stayed; 50...

lo—

QPQF’Q?’\DmflfittflhL—t
[2 Q. Is English your first language?
[3 A. No.

[4 Q. What is?

[5 A. Honestly. l don‘t have a first language.
IE because in -- when I was a child in Morocco, it was a

[7 dialect; so it's mixed with Arabic. French. English.

IE Spanish. and Amuziglt. which is Berber, the local

I9 language. So very much whatever we come up with is the
20 language. So it not really a language, it's a dialect.
11 so it‘s not a first language.

22 Q. Are you fluent in English?

'23 A. Yes. English. French. Arabic. all ofthem.

24 Q. Okay. What is your address'.J

25 A. 63 West Kingsland Road. Norwood. PA 19074.

Page [3

1 Q. Do you commute from Pennsylvania to the

2 airport every day?

3 A. Not every day.
4 Q. What did you do to prepare for this

5 deposition?

ti A. To prepare? There‘s nothing to prepare for.

7 l -- 1 run everything myself. so just coming to answer

8 your questions. Very much .. what can I say?

9 Prepared -- I'm always prepared for -- because
to l have clone the logo and the work for it, so I know what

I I I‘m saying. So I don’t do my homework. because I --
[2 I've done homework.

[3 Q. Did you meet with your lawyer?
[4 A. No.

l5 Q. Did you speak to your lawyer about the

If: deposition?
I? A. Yes.

IB Q. Okay. Did you review any documents?
[9 A. Yes.

20 Q. What documents?

21 A. The one I prepared.

22 Q. Okay. Did you speak with anybody else about

23 your c! poaition?
24 A. No.

25 Q. Are you on social media?

4 (Pages [0 — I3)
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I A. Yes. I Q. Okay. Mr. Afaf, you're here -- this is called

2 Q. Which ones? 2 a 30(b)(6) deposition, and that means that you're
3 A. Almost all ofthem. The media ones. 3 testifying on behalf of your company, that the

4 Q. You've got to bear in mind that I am old. So 4 deposition is directed to your company Afaf Aviation

5 when you say all of them, there's probably -- most of 5 LLC.
6 them I don't even know. 6 That is your company. Correct?
7 A. It is -— 7 A. Correct.

8 Q. So can you just list them for me. 8 Q. Are you the owner of that company?

9 A. Sure. Two on Facebook, Instagram, TikTok. 9 A. Correct.

10 That's all I can think of right now. 10 Q. And are you the —- are you the sole employee

1 1 Q. Are you on your own behalf or on behalf of the 1 I of that company?

12 company? 12 A. No. I have more -- I have -- I have people
13 A. I'm the owner; so... 13 working for me.

14 Q. Okay. Do you know what this case is about? 14 Q. How many people work for you?
15 A. Yes. 15 A. It varies. Because of Corona, now we --

16 Q. Did you copy Badawi's trademark? 16 depends. But we are big. We sold -- we stopped a few

17 A. He copied mine. 17 months. Now we'rejust regrouping, so I don‘t know at .
18 Q. Okay. Ifl refer to Exhibit 1, are you 18 this moment. I
19 looking at it? 19 Q. Is it fewer than ten; or...
20 A. No, I'm not. 20 A. Between five and ten.

21 Q. Okay. So how do I do this? 21 Q. Okay. What is your title at the company?
22 You don't see an exhibit on your screen? 22 A. President.

23 A. No. But if you give me a second, I can pull 23 Q. Okay. So on that list that you're looking at,

24 it up. 24 which has one through ten -- this is a list of the
25 Q. Does that mean you hit share screen? 25 subject areas that we intend to cover today. And what

Page 15 Page 17

I A. Take it from the iPad and be able to I I'm looking for is the person at your company who knows

2 screenshot With you. I don't have. My computer is old 2 the most about all ten of these subject areas.

3 one, so I can't share anything with you. 3 So I‘ll ask you up front, so we don't have to

4 Q. All right. So you see Exhibit 1 in front of 4 go through each one of them. ifthere's anybody in your

5 you, Mr. Afaf? 5 company who knows more about these subjects than you do?
6 A. Yes. 6 A. No.

7 Q. Okay. Thanks. Okay. 7 Q. Okay. Is there any other officer of your

8 Do you recognize this document? 8 company besides you?
9 A. I think so. 1 -— I can't read it, though. So 9 A. No, ma'am.

10 I can see it, but I can't read it; so... 10 Q. Okay. Mr. Afaf-- okay. I'm going to show

you now -— or1 think I am showing you Exhibit 2?.—. .... Q. Okay. So this is the amended notice of

12 deposition, so this is what brought you here today. And 12 (Petitioner's Exhibit 2 was marked for
13 it's directed to Afaf Aviation LLC. 13 identification.)

14 And are you here as a representative of ' I4 MS. DOPPELT: Madam Court Reporter, you are
15 Afaf Aviation LLC? 15 marking these as we go?

16 A. Yes, ma'am. 16 THE REPORTER: Yes.

17 Q. Okay. 17 BY MS. DOPPEL’I‘:

18 (Petitioner's Exhibit I was marked for 18 Q. Do you recognize Exhibit 2?

19 identification.) 19 A. I'm seeing the e-mail copy. Right?
20 BY MS. DOPPELT: 20 Q. Okay. It appears to be an e—mail.

21 Q. Okay. Okay. Let me see if this works. 2! Is this an e—mail you've seen before?

22 Did you look at Exhibit A in the amended 22 A. Yes. An e—mail after the conversation we had

23 notice of deposition? 23 over the phone.

24 A. Okay. I see it. 24 Q. I'm sorry?
25 25 A. The e—mail after the conversation We had over

5 (Pages 14 - I7)
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5 did you present the ease? The manager said. Yes. l‘m --
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the phone. And the conversation over the phone Wits:

Hello. how are you? You know. you took my -- nty -— nty

logo. and that's nice to -- not to —— it‘s not nice to

do that without even having consent or anything like
that.

The resFtonso from Bndnwi was. What are you

going to do about it? I have ten lawyers.
That's the exact conversation. That's when I

found out that my logo's being used in Florida.

Q. Okay. This e-mail is dated November 5. 2019.

at 11:59 pm.

Did you write this email?
A. Yes. i did.

Q. And did you send it to the o-mnil address

shown on here: info@flightreadyaviationeom'l
A. That's correct. That's after I called them

and talked to them over the phone and they threatened
me.

Q. When did you -- when did you make that phone
eall'?

A. l I -— it's about -- around 9:30 or so. so like

an hour or so before that.

Q. And who did you call?

A. I don‘t recall the person. but whoever picked

up the phone. i think it was ._ it was -- actually

Page [9

right there: Mottzer Endawi.

Q. And how did you come to call him?
A. I looked at the website, and i found the

phone number. So I called to -— and asked. Are you --

i'm the owner.

So i had a conversation with him about the

logo -- using my logo. and that's not nico to do Without

even having consent or w you know. taking someone's

logo's not -- it‘s not a good idea. And the answer was.

What are you going to do about it":II and l have ten

lawyers.

Q. What caused you to make that phone call?

A. Well. I found out that he‘s using my -- my

logo. so of course it nods to see somebody using a logo
that you worked hard on it and paid money for it till

it's just right. and spent all your time on it. That

i

2

3

4

5

24
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l2

13

i4

15
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1?

logo is my legacy. it's something that i worked on when is
I was in college.

And then see somebody using it without even

having any consent or any -- none of that kind of thing

and using itjust like that -- and when i called. the

first response was. What are you going to do about it?

it's like a challenge or a threat.
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Q. Where did you see the -- see Mr. Badawi's use

of your logo. as you say?

A. A friend of mine -- as you know. i'm an

airline pilot. We have friends all over the States.
because we all Work at air -- different airlines. One

of them was there to rent a plane or went to Orlando

Airport somewhere and saw my logo out there.
So he actually called me. And he said. Your

logo's been used. And he sent me screenshots.
So -- and -- and he gave me their -- their

name and everything, so I called to inquire and see

what's going on. And that's what I got from them. that
response.

Q. Who was your friend who called you?
A. he not sure if we can disclose the name --

his name yet. i have to ask for his consent.
Q. So you'n: refusing to tell me who it was?
A. Well. i would have to ask him first ifhe’s

okay with giving his name.

Q, Again. you are under oath. so --
A. I'm -— I'm not lying. l--

Q. — ifyott'te refusing. you can tell me you‘re

not going to tell me?
A. Correct. Right. Correct. Became — but the

truth -- I want to say the truth. so we have to ask for

Page at

his consent to give me his name. I know who he is. i
know his first name and his last name. but i have to ask

for his consent to discover his name. which is complete
truth.

Q. Okay. When you called and spoke with

Mr. Badawi. how did you know it was Mr. Bndawi?
A. He said he was Badawi himself.

Q. Okay. And before you made that phone call.

did you do any background research on his company?
A. I looked onliuc.

Q. What did you Iooit at?
A. i looked atoll his stuff he hasz Faceboolt.

lnstagram. all that stuff. What i found is ready
aviation as -- [light .. Fligtheady Aviation as the

main company, and the second .- second name -. secondaty
mime- is Badnwi Aviation. That‘s not been used.

They did not have a logo. and the first time

they used the logo was. I think. in 2013. That‘s the

first time they used it. They were toting Flightllettdy

Aviation as a -- as a flight school. but Eadawi is in
second name.

[[3 a second name. but it has .- does not

have a logo or anything. until 2018. Then when they saw

my logo, they copied it and they posted it on the social
media.

6 (Pages ill -21)
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Q. Now. how do you know all tltttl'.’I

A. Because I'm a fedcml agent. {knowltow to

eumrrutnd an investigation.

Q. I‘m sorry. You need to sneak clearly here.

A. I know how to do my investigttlion.

Q. l‘m sorry.

How do you know that -- you said that the

Badawi company didn‘t use this logo until 20l8. You
Were doing this in 20 It).

How did you know when they started using it?

A. Because i did look onlinc. and all my research

saying -- saying that the first time they were using the

lug -- yeah. they've been in business since 1014. but

all the business is FlightReady Aviation. That's what
it is.

And a secondary name is there. but it's not

being used. It's there as .. like when you open your

business. but did. not -- they didn't -- did not have a

logo for it ttntil 20m. Then they started ridding it.
Q. So you spoke to somebody who identified

himself as Mr. Badawi. the owner of the company.
Correct?

A. Yes. ma‘ant.

Q. And then you sent this e—mail.

Why did you send this ermail?

Page 23

A. latent the e-mail because t not -- he get me

angry by talking. to me. like. What are your going to do

about it? lt's another way ol'saying I've got your -- I

have your -- I used your logo. wltat are you going to do
about it? What - I'm -- and I have ten lawyers.

When I told him. i might sue you for what

you've done. he says. What are you going to do about it'.’

I have two -- ten lawyers. Go ahead.

Q. So you threatened to into him?
A. No. He threatened me: What are you going in

do about it‘.’ it's :1 threat itself. Like. what are you

going to do about it? It's a challenge.
Q. Okay. And you wrote this letter and sent it

to him.

And then what happened?

A. And that's it. t was busy with working until

I get a letter from his lawyer saying that they -- they

are trying to cancel my trademark. Then i showed it to
my lawyer.

Q. But you sent -- before you sent this e-mail

that we're still talking about in Exhibit 2. did you
talk m at lawyer?

A. No.

Q. Did anybody give you advice about this e-ntail?
A. No. That -- that e-mail was coming out of

Page E-l

l anger with somebody challenging me. That time I had no

'3 latttyer. l was jttslattgry as an individual that

3 somebody. you know. threatened me right there. so l Feb

4 angry at that moment.

5 Q. Okay. All right. When you say you next lteartl

ti from a lawyer is .. I'm going to show you Exhibit .1.
7 Is this a letter you received after you got
8 that lettet’!

lJI (Petitioner's Exhibit 3 was marked for
It] identification.)

II THE WITNESS: Can you —- sorry -- can you

I! scroll up a little bit. so l enusee More up.
l3 That's correct.

in BY MS. DOPFEI..T-

l5 0. So tti'ter you sent the e-muil that We Shula-ted

'6 you in Esltihit 2. you received this letter from
I? David Abrams. that we're looking at that's Exhibit 3.
l8 Comet?

I? A. That’s eorreet.tntt'tttn.

20 Q. Did this come to you by u-mnil'.‘

2| A. Yes. by e-mnil. Correct.

22 Q. And when you got this latter. did you read it‘.J
23 A. Obviously

24 Q. And what did you then do? Anything.’
15 A. [contacted my lawyer.

Page 15

I Q. And the lawyer you contacted was

2 Mr. Wengruvshy?
3 A. That's earn-ct.

4 Q. Was lte your lawyer already or is he Itew't‘

5 A. That. question you have to ask him. ldon'l
6 know.

7 MR. WENGRUVSKY‘ l'll object. l tlott't out; -.
3 BY MS. DOPPELT:

9 Q. No.

It} Have you dealt will: hint before?

I l MR. WENGRUVSKY.‘ Objection. I don't sue the.
[2 relevance. and we're not disclosing eotntnttrtictttian,~;_
l3 BY MS. DOPPELT:

[4 Q. l'rn not asking for communications. l'tnjuut

l5 Mkll‘lg if he was already your lawyer.
to MR. WENGRQVSKY: And what is the relevance?

l7 3‘! MS. DUPPELT.

l8 Q. You can answer. Mr. Afar.
It} MR. WENGROVSKY: Note the objection for the

20 record. please.
2! Go ahead.

22 BY MS. DDPPELT;

23 Q. PM sorry.
24

'25 it.
Did you answer?

1 don't have an answer.
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Why not?
Because I don't know. I don't recall.

. You don't know lt'he was already your lawyer?
A. ldon‘t recall.

Q. Oltny. Did you read the letter you received
from Mr. Abrams?

A. Yes. mu‘am.

it Q. And when Mr. Abrams will that Bndnwi Aviation

‘1 had been using a similar logo since 20H. what did you
ll] do to determine if that was eorteut'!

t l A. That‘s .. that's not ~- that‘s not correct.

ll They've lluert in business since Ettl-t. That's In their

l3 company its FlighIRendy Aviation as a secondaty name that
id had been filed .. the Way tlte .. the - the -- that

l5 other company is there. but they .. they were not in

one

slam-$931.]—

ltl httsines-t, the one -- a: one business. which is

IT FlightReady.

it! And then the secondary name was just attached

It) to it right there. as like you damaged your -- your name

2t) and business. you can use the second one hecnutte the

El same company l'ora legality. But they were never used
2'3 there. It was not there.

23 The logo was not thetc. Yes. you -- you might
24 find it in 2000 whatever. but it's not -- he never used
25 it.

Page 27

I Q. When Mr. Abrams said in hit letter that

2 Badawi Aviation had been using a similar logo since

3 201-1. did you think he was lying?

4 A. I'm not accusing him about lying. but [did my
5 research and that's not wltat I come out with

6 Q. Find what research did you tlo esaetly'.i

7 A. There's plenty of' them. I mean. there's «—

it there's plenty rescardt I do. There‘s —« there's

9 internet. there's computers. there's a lot of stuff you
It] can look for to Find out.

I I Q. And whatdid you do?
[2 A. Allol'tbern.

I3 Q. Well. what did you [note up?

I4 A. l mean. I don't recall exactly. but different
15 resources to find ottt.

if) Q. And when you received this letter. did you --

I? did you respond to it?

IS A. My lawyer did. I -- I handed everything to my
i9 lawyer.

20 Q. What did your lawyer respond?

2! A. tmean. you Would have to ask him. I mean.

21 I —— i gave him the case to latte care of because I'm

23 busy doing other stuff. so my lawyer represents me.
24 (Petitioner‘s Exhibit 4 was merited for

35 identification.)

Page IE

I BY MS. DOPPELT:

2 Q. Okay. Okay.

3 Mr. Mat. I'm showing you now what's labeled
4 :15 Petition to Cancel. And let me know iiil need to

5 keep scrolling.

G Haw: you ever seen -. this lite: been marked as

7 Exhibit 4 -- have you ever seen this document before?
it A. [believe so.

9 Q. Did you read it?
to A. Yes.

i I Q. And when you received it. what did you do?

[2 And I'm not asking you to tell me what you said to a

[3 lawyer or what your lawyer said to you.
[4 But what did you do?

IS A. Can you rephrase the question again.

us 0. What did you do when you got this — when you
I? recoivad this document:ll

It! A. I gave it to my lawyer.

l9 0. Anti you read it when you got it.

20 So was there anything in this document that

ill you considered to be false?
22 A. In — in what context?

'13 Q. Well, this is something called a Petition to
24 Cancel. rt document that's filed in a -- in the trademark
25 office.

Page 2‘!

I Had you ever seen anything like this before?
2 A. No. From what I see right now. he filed to

3 cancel my -- my - my —— my trademark. That‘s what I'm

4 fighting for, because it's not going to happen. So it's

5 my trademark; so...
(i Q. Have you ever had any matters in the 'I'rademarlc

7 Trial and Appeal Board before"?
3 A. Never. Never ever been to court either. no.

9 Q. And this is your first one. then?
it] A. That's correct.

l i Q. Okay. Okay.

[2 in this document your company iii referred tn

[3 as the respondent?

[4 Do you understand that?

IS A. Okay.

to Q. Okay. The document makes allegations about

I? you -- your company. and it says that respondent. which
[8 is Afar Aviation LLC1 is a New York limited liability

ltl company; is that correct?
20 A. That's correct.

2| Q. And its address is 33? t-tl‘Jdt Street. second

22 floor. Flushing. New York ll354; is that correct?
23 A. Correct. it‘s there.but I moved outol‘ that

24 place. but okay. yeah. We opened it up there.

25 Q. Is that a -- is that an address wheretlte
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l company has an office? I
2 A. No. 2

3 Q. Is that currently the company's address? .1
4 A. Yes. You can use that address. but that's not 4

5 wltat -- that's not where the company took til it. 5

6 Company looks at the airport. That's not an airport. is
1' it's ti -- it’s on office in an unusual area. 7

8 Q. What's at the Flushing address? 3
9 A. That's where we receive mails. We do 9

l0 transacnons and all that stuff. but office stuff. ID

I I Q. Do you actually go there? Is there an office i I
ll there? l2

l3 A. Yes. I go there. I3

I4 Q. Okay. But you're not there new:T id
l5 A. That's correct. Nu. l5

to Q. Okay. Then it goes on to say you Filed a to

l? trademark npplieat ion and what's on the trademark t?

its application. Okay. tit

i9 Anti that application subsequently became a it}

20 trademark registration. Correct? 21'}
It A. Correct. 21

12 Q. Did you tilt: an ansWer to this *- to 21

23 Exhibit 4. the petition to Cancel? 333
Isl» MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection. i think yott’m24
25 familiar with the records. You saw the answer was 25

Page Til

I filed with TTAB. i think we‘re wasting time here. I
2 BY MS. DDPFELT: 1

3 Q. You can answer. Mr. Afar? 3
4 A. i don‘t have an trust-yer. 4

5 Q. I'm tusn‘ry'.F 5
(t A, I do not have an answer now Idon‘t knitw. fi

'7 Q. You tlon't know it you filed an answer? 7
3 MR. WENGROVSKY: You were served with a copy 8
9 of the answer. Please move on. 9

it) MS. DOPPELT: I'm asking the witness. Iii

l 1 MR. WENGRUVSKY: Why'? It
lit BY MS. DOPPELT: '3

I] Q. You earl answer. Mr. Al’al‘i I3
14 A. [don't have an answer. ”-

IS Q. Okay. Mr Al’el'. let me show you Exhibit 5 I5
It: A. Sure. lo

I? (Petitioner's Exhibit 5 was tttarltetl for I?
IS identification] I3

l9 B‘r‘ MS. DOPPELT'. ID

20 Cl. Exhibit 5 is labeled Registrant's humor to 20

2| Petition to Cancel. Okay I'm goingtnturn the page. 21

22 Okay. 22

23 Mr. Mat. have you ever seen this doeummtt 1%
2!! before? 24
25 A. Yes. 25

Page 31

When did you first see it"
ltlon'l. recall.

Did. you review it before it was I‘iletl'.’
Correct.

Okay. i'm going to try to put two documents

up here together, But I'm not sure I can do that. so

let me try to do that.
i don't think I know how to do that.

Back to Exhibit. No. 4 For a moment. This is

P?Q?Q

the petition to cancel.

is that what you see tut your screen. Mr. Al'at‘.’
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Thank you.

if you look at paragraph ICI ol' the Petition to
cancel. which is Exhihittl -- and can ynu just read

through it.

A. Mean to -- mean to read it for you?

Q. Paragraph In of what sltoultl he on your screen.
A. Sure. The. fictitirtner used its mark in

connection will! '-

Q. Yeah You don’t have to read it out loud.

So do you -- do you admit that or tinny that or

you don‘t know?
MR. WENGRDVSKY; Ohjecliott The answer speaks

for itself.

Page .13
BY MS. DOPPELT:

Q. Okay. You can answer.
A. i don't know.

Q. You don‘t know?
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Can you read paragraph 1 Land tell me

it you admit or deny or tlon't know.
A. i don't know. You have to ash -- [don't

know.

Q. How about paragraph l2?
MR. WENGRUVSKY; Repeat the objection for the

whole line at: questioning: The answer speaks for
itself.

BY MS. DOPPELT:

Q. Okay Mr. Aral. do you adniltordeny

paragnplt l3"!
MR. WENGRUVSKY: You're asking for legal

conclusions. and you're wasting everyltotly's tune.
BY MS. DOPPELT-

Q. 6:: nitead. Mr. Mali
A. I don‘t know.

Q. You can answer.
at. I don't know. mrt'ttm. I don‘t know. ma'nm.

Q. You don't linen“.ll Okay.

What about paragraph lJ'.’ And i want you to
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i read it first.

2 A. Thirteen is: Respondent's aviationrrelated
3 services --

4 O. No. You don't have to read it out loud. just

5 to yourself.

ii A. Okay. I don't know.

7 Q. Do you agree with that?
3 A. l — I don't know.

9 Q. Okay. And what about paragraph 14?
[0 A. Same answer.

ll Q. You don't know? Is that the answer?
12 A. Correct. Correct.

[3 Q. Okay. Okay.

lil- Read through paragraph l5. and tell me ii" you

15 agree or disagree or you don't know.
16 A. Idon't know.

1'? Q. Okay. Mr. Afaf. I'm going to show you a

18 series of exhibits. They are going to be 6. 7. and 8‘
19

20

2|

And I'm going to ask you. first. if you've ever seen
them before. So look at them on the screen. and tell me

if you've seen them.

22 (Petitioner's Exhibit t5. Exhibit 7 and Exhibit
23 3 were marked for identification.)
24 BY MS. DOPPELT:

25 Q This is Exhibit No. 6. It's labeled

Page 35

Petitioner's First Request for Production to Respondent.

Have you ever -- have you -- have you ever
seen this document before?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Where did you See it':1

A. Through my lawyer.

Q. Okay. And now I'm showing you Exhibit 7.
which is labeled Petitioner's First Set of

Interrogatories to Respondent.
Have you ever seen this before? I'm sorry?

A. I think so. I don't see the -- if you can

scroll down. I only see the title, but I believe so.

So whatever you sent to my lawyer. i believe I’ve seen

it through him.

Q. Okay. Will it help if'you look at the rest of

the document to remind you whether you've seen it or
not?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know what interrogatories are?
A. l‘m not familiar. but i have seen it through

my lawyer.

22 Q. Okay. All right. Now I'm going to show you
23 the last in this series. This is called Petitioner's

24 First Request for Admissions to Respondent. and it's
25 been labeled as Exhibit 8.

Page 35

I How: you seen this out: before?
2 A. I believe so.

3 Q. Okay. So let's go back to the first -- the

4 first one that I showed you in this group. That
5 includes Exhibit 6. Petitioner's First Request for

til Production to Respondent.

7 Do you see ut the end of this document

5 something called Certificate of Service?
9 A. Yes. I do see it.

10 Q. And what dare is on the certificate of
l 1 service?

|?. A. lt's certified that on February lOJGZD. is
1] what I see.

14 Q. Okay. And do you know what this document was

is asking you to do“?
16 A. Whatever it asks for -- I‘m not sure.

17 Q. Okay. So let's go back to the page of the
[8 document which -- Mr. Afar. on page 3 of the document.

[9 it says document request.

20 Do you see that?
II A. \ilt’l'let'e'iI

22 Q. Oh. let's see. Sorry.

2.1 A. Oh. yeah. lsee it. Document request. [see
24 it.

25 Q. Okay. I'm sorry. That's not page 3. That is

Page 37

i page 6. Page 6 says document request. Okay.
I And you see number one asks for documents

3 referring to your mark; number two asks you for

4 documents referring to your adoption of the mark? Do

5 you see thnse'il
6 A. Yes. ma'arn.

7 Q. And in response to these document requests.

3 did you do anything?
9 A. Correct. I sent 64 pages. including witnesses

to testifying thutl used the logo since 1113. And they

1 1 saw me literally drawing it.

12 Q. So in this document. there's a series of

13 requests. In fact. there an: 33 requests. Did you

l4 provide documents responsive to all of them. if ll'tere
IS were such documents?

to A. To .- to my knowledge. I .. l made a PDFoF

I? 64 pages explaining when they used the logo and how they
[3 created it. [even sent pictures of when l was putting

l9 it together and when l was drawing it. and [also
20 included letters from the witnesses that -- they --

2| they -- they —— they saw me drawing the logo and put it

22 togedier. And even the guy who put it together for me.

23 he put his letter right there, that he did it —- lit-.- put

24- it together on the computer. because [draw it on -.
25 you know. on the paper.
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trademark office?

Page 38

Q. Well, for instance -- let me -- did you

respond to all the document requests and give me all the

documents you had that were responsive?

A. I believe, yes.

Q. Okay. So, for instance, on number one, which

says everything relating to your selection of your

trademark including any searches you did, did you give

me any -- all of that?
A. Yes.

Q. And it asks for all documents -- number three

asks for all documents relating to your use of the mark

in connection with the -— since the beginning of your
business.

You gave me everything you had?
A. Correct.

Q. Did you give me any -- do you see number four? 16

It asks for all the documents referring to your

application for trademark registration.

Did you give me those?
A. Yes.

Q. Do you have the documents relating to your

trademark registration?

A. Yeah. The certificate, yes.

Page 40

I in 2013 on my private Facebook. And. yes. I did. You

2 can see it on page —-

3 Q. Okay. We'll look at that.

4 A. Okay.

5 Q. That'll be an exhibit so that we can see what

6 you're talking about.
7 A. Yeah. Sure.

8 Q. Okay. So did you give me documents that show

9 the price at which you offer your services?
10

11
A. Ithink -- I thinkIdid, yes. [don't think

I put the price there, but I have the letter from the

12 guy over there that did it. If it's not there, I don't
13 remember.

14 Q. Now, when I talk about your services -- I'm

15 sorry, Mr. Afaf.

Did I interrupt you?

17 A. No, no. I'mjust -- I'mjust answering the

18 question.

19 Q. When I -- when I talk about your services, I'm

20 talking about your business -- the business that you do. I
21

22

23 planes and teach you how to become a pilot. Flight

What business is your company in?

A. Flight school, aircraft flight. You go on

Q. Do you have what you filed with the patent and 24 school.

Page 39
A. I believe 50.

Q. And all the correspondence between you and the 2

patent and trademark office, do you have that and did
you give that to me?

A. I —— I do. I gave it to you. I'm not sure.
I don't recall, but I do, obviously. The trademark is

coming from an agency, so it had to go back and forth.

So, yeah, that's correct, because that's where it was

registered because I sent it in. Correct.

Q. Okay. If you look at number seven, it asks

you for all documents showing the dates of first use of

your mark in connection with the services that you filed
for.

Did you give me all those documents?
A. Correct, I did.

Q. And that was part of the 64 pages that you

were referring to?
A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. And do you have any documents that show your
actual first use date? That would be number eight -—

question number eight?
A. Yes, I do. That's -- that's on the —- I can

pretty much show it to you. Yes, I do. And it's on
the —— a PDF. That's including the testimony of all the

25 Q. So you teach people how to fly and you also

Page 41

1 rent airplanes?
A. That's correct.

3 Q. Okay. And when did you start teaching people ,

4 how to fly --
5 A. After —- after --

6 Q. —- in your business -— in your own business?

7 A. Say that again.

8 Q. In your own business, when did you start

9 teaching students how to fly?

10 A. After I graduate university and I become

1 1 flight instructor. Then I started giving lessons.

12 Q. When was that?

13 A. I graduated in 2015.

14 Q. You graduated from what?

15 A. From college. From Farmingdale State College,
16 the one down in New York.

17 Q. And so in 2015 is when you started giving

18 lessons to people about how to fly?

19 A. Late 'lSs. Begin in 2016. Correct. But

20 that -- but that one does not have to do with the logo.

21 That's when I started giving lessons. That's not when I

22 started doing business. It‘s different.
23

24

witnesses and also a screenshot of Facebook that I used 25

Q. When did you start doing business?
A. 2013.

Q. What business were you doing in 2013?
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1 A. Recruiting people to our flight school for a

2 Positive Rate for students. And I got my -- my cut of

3 it, which I got —- I got money, and I got flight -- free

4 flight training from that school when I got students

5 coming to school for that. And back then I was a

6 student -- a pilot student.

7 Q. So in 2013 you were a college student.
8 Correct?

9 A. Correct. And so I go to college as a -— full

10 time. and then I fly part time. So the company I fly

1 1 with -— so the more students I brought to them as

12 customers to sign up with them, I got free lessons. So

13 it's like marketing, so I used the -- my logo and pretty
14 much the same business card.

15 Q. And you were trying to have students come to

16 the school you were working for. Correct?
17 A. That's correct.

18 Q. And what is the name of that school?

19 A. Positive Rate Gear Up. It's also on the PDF,

20 with an owner that's testifying that I worked for him.

21 There's a letter right there, as well as his logo with

22 my logo and the same business card that I referenced.

23 Q. And you were promoting the services of his

24 company. Correct?

I 25 A. Correct. He's the flight -— flight school, so

Page 43 I

I —- I used it as a marketing, as an aviation consult. l
So I consult people about how to fly and what they need

and hours and how to get their pilot stuff and bring '

them to him. So instead of repaying me, I got free

hour -- free hours to get my time and become my own
business.

Q. Are you qualified as a flight -- as a flight
instructor?

That's correct.

When did you become qualified?
2016.

'16?

Correct.

Do you have some kind of certification that

says that?
A. I do.

Q. What's it called?

A. You -- you go to faa.gov, type my name, you'l

see all my qualifications from Boeing 737 until

commercial and air -— airline transport pilot, flight

instruction, all kind of —— kind of planes.

Q. So you were not qualified to teach people how

to fly airplanes until you received that certification
in 2016; is that correct?

MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection.

OO\IU\Ll\-P-LHN-‘

NNN'NIQ_.—-._._._._.._._.._._ QWN—OCOOQQM-P—LfiN—OO
AOPNQPIQ?’

NLII
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1 You can answer.

2 BY MS. DOPPELT:

3 Q. Did you answer?

4 A. Well, it does not have nothing to do with

5 consulting. That's a —— teaching is a different matter,

6 and then consulting. bringing customer as any -- anybody

7 can talk to you about bringing business —- other
8 business. You don‘t have to teach, because at that time
9 [did not teach.

10 Q. Because you weren't qualified to teach.
I 1 Correct?

12 MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection.
13 Go ahead.

14 BY MS. DOPPELT:

15 Q. You can answer. Mr. Afaf.
16 A. I don't have an answer.

17 Q. Well. yeah, you do. actually.

18 A. Well, nobody --

19 MR. WENGROVSKY: Repeat the objection.
20 BY MS. DOPPELT:

21 Q. I'm sorry?
‘ 22 A. Idon't have an answer.

. 23 Q. Okay. Does your company participate in trade
24 shows?

. 25 A. What?

Page 45

I Q. Trade shows.
2 A. No.

3 Q. Are you a member of any trade organization --

4 you —- when I say you, I'm usually referring to your

5 company. unless the context suggests I'm referring to
6 you personally.

7 So does your company participate in any trade
8 associations?

9 A. Can you rephrase the question.

10 What do you mean by that?

1 1 Q. Is your company a member of any organizations?
12 A. Think so.

13 Q. Okay. Mr. Afaf, let me show you Exhibit 9.

l4 (Petitioner's Exhibit 9 was marked for

. 15 identification.)
16 BY MS. DOPPELT:

17 Q. This is Exhibit 9. It should be on your

18 screen now. It says responses to requests for

19 production.

20 Have you ever seen this document before?
21 A. I believe so.

22 Q. When did you see it?

23 A. Whenever you gave it to my lawyer, he would
24 show it to me. But I don't remember the date.

25 Q. Okay. Just to clarify, this is intended to be
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Page 610

an answer to tlte request For documents that we were

looking at in Exhibit 6. so this was tlte answer tltat was

filed on your behalf.

Did you review it before It watt filed?

A. My lawyer always asks and talks to me about

anything, so I -- I -- I believe in him. ltrttat hint.

so definitety we communicate. And I will look at it
before I aentl it.

Q. So you saw this: document. before it Was sent to
me: is that eorreet'.’

A Me. So you give it to my lawyer. Lawyer

dismisses stul‘t‘ with me. Then he does lltingtt to help

me. That's why he‘s my lawyer.

Q Do you know when this document was lilad'.‘
A. [draft rememberl

MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection The document is
dated.

BY MS. DOPFELT:

Q, Did you provide me with any financial

infont'ttttion about your company?

A. I don't think t'rn required to do that. but I
don't recall

Q. Did you provide me with any information about

your Internet names -- your eompany's interact aalttes?
A. What does that mean? I don't know Internet

Page 41
unmet.

Q. Domain names.
A. Domain name?

Q. Yes.

A. The company is al'al'uvitttion.ouin.

Q. Does your company -- did your company register

any other domain names beaides that one?
A, Yeah.

Q. What are they?

A. Al'ttl' Company. Alat' property management.

Mttl'Air. all oflhern Other companies.
Q. Are those live websites?

A. No. The Domain is there. but they're not .-

we'n: — we're working on them.

Q. Are those for other businesses besides this --

what you do in this company?
It. That‘s correct.

Q. Are they registered in your own personal narne'.t
A. Current.

Q. How many domain names do you have registered?

A. Five or more. Probably about Four or live.

yeah.

Q. Do you have -- does your company have

sumetlting called an operating. agreement?

A. We‘d hope.

Page-lit

| Q. It's a corporate document when you form a

2 company -— an LLC'?
It A. Yes. I do.

4 Q. You do?
5 A. Correct.

5 Q. Did you give that to me‘.’

"I A. What -- what do you mean about acorporate

B agreement? So it's. very much -- when you tile that with
9 New York State. you get the letter from them. plus you

l0 get a number. Right? is that what you're talking
It about?

l2 Q. No. I'm talking about a document that would

l3 be written by you or your lawyer that sets out the rules

I4 l'or youreompany. i don't think you have to tile it
IS with the State.

l6 ft. No. I don't -- i don't think he has to

i? eonsent. Rules is my rules. so it‘s only my -- it's

t8 only my customer.

l9 Q. Did you form your own corporation yoursell‘a1
ED A. Yes. i mean halfway -~ no. no. I take that

21 back. With my college.

22 Q. Your college helped you tile for your

23 commotion?
2a A That‘s eoneet.

25 Q, Ctr your company?
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I A. That‘s eorreeL That‘s correct. 't'hey have an

2 office. So when you graduate, they help you stand up on

3 your feet and open up your own business.

4 Q. Okay. Okay.

5 Let me show you -- now we‘re looking at
6 Exhibit 8. it's a request for admiasion.

7 Did you see these before?
8 A. [think so. It looks Familiar.

9 0. Okay. Well. il'you need to see more of It. i

It] can show you more. And tltis is asking you to admit or

t I deny the statements in this document.

1?. Do you remember doing that?
[3 A. tdon‘t retrtotttber.

[It 0. Do you know if you filed a response Io this
l5 document?

to A. t tiled it with my -- my lawyer. My lawyer
I? take elite of it. l'teeattse [have other stall in tin.

IE That's why.

Ill 0. Okay. So do you See on this document on this

It} page of the document eight things Ihttt are under request
2| for admission? Do you see those?

22 A. Request for admission. Okay. Go ahead.

23 0. Okay. So read the first one. it's asking you

In to admit that you did not use- your mark before

15 August 20M.
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I Do you admit or deny that'.i

2 A. Say that question again one more time.

3 Q. 1i'ou see where it says request for admission

4 number one: Admit that you did not — respondent's mark
5 is your logo'iI

6 A. Okay. Well. my question would be. i had a

'1' logo in 2013 and i used it in 20:3. And i sent you a

B proof that I used the logo in 2013. with the date on it

9 being published in Faceboott. Plus I have witnesses that

they -— that they test ~- testified that they saw me

using it in 2013. All of it on PDF.

121. Q. So you deny this'.J Number one is denied.
13 Correct?

14 A. Whatever the answer may be. but i gave you an

15 answer. 1 did use it in 2013 with witnesses that saw me

to using it. with approval ofa business card also.
17 Q. So number one — the answer to number one is
18 denied. Correct?

It? A. I guess. Maybe yeah.

20 Q. And read request number two: Admit you did

21 not use your mark prior to 2.015.

22 Admit or deny?

13 MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection. it‘s been asked

24 and answered. The testimony is clear that the

25 respondent used the merit in 2013. We don't need to

Page 51

I go through each and every subsequent year to see if
2 there was usage prior to that year.
3 Please move on.

4 BY MS. DOPPELT:

5 Q. You can answer. Mr. Afaf. number two.

6 A. The answer is clear. 1 did use the mark -- my
7 trademark in RUIZ-1.

8 Q. Okay. Did you file a response to this request
9 for admissions?

1.0 A. Working and collaborating with my -- my

I 1 lawyer.

11 Q. Okay. l'm showing you Exhibit 1? -- it's

13 labeled Registrant‘s Answers to Request For Admission.
14 (Petitioner's Exhibit 17 was marked for

15 identification.)
16 BY MS. DOPPELT:

17 Q. Did you file this on —— was this filed on your
l8 behalf?

[9

20 worked things together. I ——1 don't -- I don't

2i remember all the Wording, becauae l'm busy. 1 how: a
2'2 lot of other business to run: working for the airline.

23 working For government. So i don't have it ward by
24 word. but we collaborate. Arid hisjob is to answer ——

25 to -~ to -- to arts -- to try to help me.

A. We worked — collaborated with my lawyer. We
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I Q. Okay. Number eight asks you to admit that

3 your mark resembles our client‘s mark.

3 A. Well. you can —- yeti can --

4 Q. And you filed an answer that says denied.

5 A. You can rephrase it as his mark resembled
6 mine, because mini: is in EDI 3. Ant! tI‘tut'tt the answer.

7 Q. So you deny that your mark resembles
3 Mr. Badawi's mark?

9 A. That's correct. so he copied mine. That's
10 what that means.

I i Q. And number nine in the request For admission

l2 asks you to admit that the design in your mark is

13 substantially the some as the design in the Badawi mark.

14 and you denied that; is that accurate?
[5 A. Correct.

16 Q. And why is tiuit'.i You don't think the marks

17 are similar or substantially the some?
13 A. Well. it‘s obvious that .. no, it‘s obvious

19 similar because he copied the same thing and didn't make
ED :1 change.

2] Q. Do you know when this response was f'iiecl'iI
22 A. {don't know, ma'am.

23 Q. Okay. This is the last page of Exhibit 17.

24 and it says April 7. 2020.

25 Do you have any reason to belieVe that's not

Page 53
t accurate?

2 A. i trust my lawyer. l'm not -— I don‘t
3 think .. i wouldn‘t think that. Idon'tttnow.

4 Q. Did you review this document before it was
5 served on us'!

6 A. Correct.

7 Q. Yes. you did'.‘
8 A. Yes.

9 Q. And it's accurate? 1(nu stand behind its

10 accuracy. Correct?
ll

1?.

13

l4
l5

I6

I?

It!

19

20

21

32

A. That's correct.

Q. Did your lawyer the the responses when they
were due'i

A. What that means? i‘m sorry. l'm -- i didn't

get the question correctly. 1 mean. understand it.
What was the ——

Q. The discovery that was shown in Exhibits 6, 7.

and 8. did you file responses to those when the

responses were due?

A. So whatever you ask my lawyer. my lawyer would

ask me. And we do it together. i would review it and
he would submit it.

17.3 Q. Did you do it when they were due?

24 A. I didn't goth 1 don't understand the

25 question. but w i don't know.
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I Q. Okay.

2 (Petitioner's Exhibit in was marked for

3 Identification.)
4 BY MS. DOPPELT:

5 Q. Okay. Okay.

e Let me show you Exhibit l0.
7 Have you seen this document before?
8 A. [believe so. lntean. I don't -- ldon't

9 think it has mark information. So if we go down. may
l0 see it.

i I Q. Do you know what this is?

lit MR. WENGROVSKY: (Inn you just scroll down.
I} THE WITNESS: [don't seeit.

14 M5. DOPPELT: Sorry. Okay.
15 THE WITNESS: Yeah. [believe that's wheat

16 filed it with the -- with the corporate office.
I? Yeah. l don't. .. I don't remember.

lB HY MS. DOPPELT'.

l9 Q. So the front of Exhibit It] says that the mark
20 is AFAF Aviation. ls this 4— oh. sorry. And it shows

2| the logo in the righthand corner.

Can you see that? It's kind of covered up on
my version of this.

211- A.

Q. Can you see the logo over here?

I see it.

Page 55
A. Yes. ma‘am.

Q. Okay. Is that your trademark?
A. That's correct.

Q. And it shows on this document -- this is a

document that comes from the patentand trademark office
website.

A. Okay.

Q, Have you ever been to that Website?
A. Yes.

Q. It shows that your fl ling date olyour

application was May 26. 2013'. is that oorrcct?

.. A. i believe so. yes.
(Petitioner‘s Exhibit 1 l was marked for

Id identification.)
15 BY MS. DOPPELT:

16 Q. Okay. And to that point. let's look at

1? Exhibit 1 I. Glory.

18 Have you ever seen this document?
l9 A. I believe so. That's what can I got from --

20 from the website. I believe.

2] Q. Okay. I'm going to just say this is the --

:Ecooqo-tuhutq"
I...'II.I

22 this is the application for your trademark.

23 A. Okay.

24 Q. Did you u did you look at this before?
25 A. I believe so.

Page 56

Q. Did you fill in the -- did you fill in the

blanks in this application?
I don't recall.

Who prepared this application?

Help from some individual.

I'm sorry?

Help with .. from some individual.

8 What was the person‘s name who prepared this

9 application?

KJG‘tLfl-P—b-th—D 9?@?@?
H] A. ldon't recall it right now.

I I Q. Is it somebody you hired to prepare this

12 application?

l3 A. I don't remember. Somebody helped me out

l4 to -- to know -- to know to get to the Website and put

IE it together. because it was complicated.

16 Q. Who helped you?

I? A. A person that i don't recall right now.

13 0. Was it a friend of yours?

l9 A. Pretty much. yes.

20 Q. You don‘t remember that person's name?

It A. That's correct. it was a long time ago.

2? Q. Who helped you fill out this application?
23 A. That’s correct

24 Q. So you're not the person who sat at a computer
25 screen and filled in the information?
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1 MR. WENGROVSK‘I: Objection. That was notthe

Z testimony.
3 BY MS. DOFPELT:

4 Q. Are you'.J

5 A, I wasn't on the computer the whole time.
6 Q. I'm sorry. [didn't hear you.

7 A. l was in front of the computer.

5 Q. With somebody else?

9 A. I know .. I don't know somebody asked for

to help: What is this? Whutis that? But the paperwork
] | and stuff. evcrything's done by me.

I? Q. But you don't know who that person was. or you

13 can't remember that person's name?
It! A. t— I don't remember the name right now.

15 Q. Was that person a trademark lawyer?
to A. I don't. to —- I don't remember.

I? Q. Was that person a trademark expert?
is A. [don't remember.

[5) Q. Why did you ask that person to help you?

20 A. Because I have friends. They -- they're

2i building — building Websites. building stuff. And sot

21.2 asked — asked people. like. What do you think? What

It are -- what should i do? and stuff. Like anybody -- and

24 haven't you ever asked for a Friend For something that

25 you don't understand or you're not good at it.
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Q. Okay. And if you look on the second page ol"
Exhibit I t. which is what I have on the screen right

now. it says international class 041.

Do you know what that refers to?
A. No. I don‘t remember.

Q. Do you know how you knew what to put in there?
A. I don't remember. Like i said. I asked

people. What is it? They Google it for me. and they

help out. That‘s how i keep moving.

Q. And where it says identification. the answer

that's filled in here is airplane flight instmction.

is that what you put in there‘.ll
A. That‘s correct. It's what we do.

Q. And that's what your company did at that time.

when you were filling this out"!
A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And you filled in the dates here

yourself as well. Correct.j
A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. Doom at the bottom of Exhibit It. on

this page of Exhibit 1 1. it has -- it asks for e-mail

address. There an: two e-mait addresses there. Can you

tell me what they or ' -- or what — t don't mean to read
them.

l mean whose are they?

I
2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9

It)
ll

12

[3

14

15

I6

I?

l3

:9
20
2|

2:

23
24

25
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l A. Of course. That's my [Jersanol camail. and

2 that's my friend helping me out; so now we know who they
3 are.

4 Q. Okay. So it‘lyat’affii’tgmnilcom is your personal
5 e—rnnil?

6 A. That's correct.

7 Q. Is it still?
8 A, Correct.

El Q. And the other one is the friend you said

In helped you?I
t t A. That's correct.

|2 Q. notificationstfiltrademarkengineeom. that's your
t3 friend?

l4 A. That's correct.

[5 Q. And does rhat help you remember who that was?
[6 A. I know him. Yeah. that's correct.

[7 Q. And where it says signature" this is

IS Electronic. of course -- you signed this — signed it

19 electronically. Correct?
20 A. That‘s correct.

2! Q. It asks For your position and you wrote owner.
22 What does that refer to?
23 A. Owner. That's me. l'rn the owner.

24 Q. The owner of what?

25 A. Of the business. of that company. [was --

Page tit]

t who owned that company and owned that logo.

2 Q. Now. Mr. Afar. why did you file this

3 application?

4 A. Because there's a logo that I -— [consider my

5 legacy that i built. that t'd love to have For the rest

6 of my life; so l want to protect it and have it.
7 Q. What made you file it at this particular tirnc‘.'-|
8 A, Because that's when l -~

9 Q. -- in 2018'}

it) A. That's the time when I still had enough funds
it to do some stuff. Because at that time. i did not -- l

12 didn't see that I should spend money on trademarks.

[3 because it costs a lot or" money to put it .. to put it

14 on. So I was taking care of some other stuff: doing

l5 stuff at the office. doing this. doing that.

to So later on when. t was going to have some

17 funds that i could do more. I did secondary stuff

it? that's not really primary to do in business.
19 Q. And you see here. on this some exhibit there's

20 something called declaration. and you are -- you are the
21 declarant.

22 You signed hero on May 16.2018, Correct?

23 A. That's what -- what it says. yeah.

24 Q. So you agree with everything that's checked

25 off above you -- right here above your signature?

Page 6|
l A. Yes.

1 Q. Okay. This is the trademark you filed For?
3 A. That's correct.

4 Q. What is shown in this trademark?

5 A. That's. first. jet — that airflow With my

6 last name and aviation under that with a wing coming

7 from the engine — or smoke coming from the engine with

8 blue that looks like ski with blue and back. My last

9 name up there. and that's the first jet that 1 flow.
ll) Embracr Iii-5.

it Q. When did you first t'ly thotjel?
t2 A. I've been in it when l was student. and the

[3 time We been certified in it and fly it was 10H.

[4 Q. Okay.

15 A. As a pilot -— pilot to fly Ihatjet. but I've

16 been in thatjet before. because We been promised a

17 job too For some company a long time ago.

lE Q. Okay. We're still on Exhibit 1 I. This is

[9 still part of your trademark application.

'10 Do you recognize this?
It A. That's the second website [ had that had been
12 hooked.

23 Q. I'm son-y.
24 Is this a website for Afar Aviation?

25 A. Not anymore. That website had been hacked.
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I like I said. We have a new website. same name. same

2 logo. but that one been gone.

3 Q. Did you design this website?

AI A_ The company that put website -- put logo

5 together on a computer make the website. and l have a

6 letter from the agency that put the logo together and
7 the website. And all ofthem in the POP that I sent

3 you -- my lawyer sent you.

9 Q. When was this website up?
10 A. [don't rcmcmbcr.hecausc1 think that was the

I I second one. That was the second one. ldon't remember.
1?. but it's an old one.

13 Q. ts this exactly What the page looked like'!I
M A. I don’t remember that one.

15 Q. This is the last page of your application.
16 It's called Statement of Consent. where it says you

I? consent to the registration of your name in this

t8 trademark application.

[9 Why did you attach that to your trademark

2t] applitaliOn‘?
21 A. I don't remember that part. but 1— I consent

22 my friend to do the job For me and he do it'. so I don't

23 remember that part.

24 Q. So you don‘t know who told you to do that“.J
25 A. It's not. .. it's not I don't remember who did

Page ti]

1 it. I don't remember in that context of what you're

2 saying right now. [don't -- 1 don't recall the

3 procedure.

:1 Q. And did anything happen in May of 212118 that

5 caused you to file at that time?

6 MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection. It's been asked
7 and answered. Move on.

8 BY MS. DOPPELT:

9 Q. You can answer.

10 MR. WENGROVSKY: No. don‘t ansvvet. please.
I 1 It's been asked and answered. The ansWer

12 specifically had to do with Funding. i recall it

13 quite well. Move on. please.

14 MS. DOPPELT: So are you instructing the
. 15 witness not to answer.

IE MR. WENGROVSKY: Yes.

:7 (Petitioner's Exhibit t2 was marked for

18 identification.)
lg BY MS. DOPPELT:

20 Q. Okay. Let me show you Exhibit 11. It’s
‘21 labeled Examiner's Amendment. and the date on it is

22 September 20. 3015.

23 Do you know what this is?
24 A. So I understand that there‘s a conflict. that

15 no one can use it before. I Find it. See that right

Page 6-1

1 there? It says Found new conflict in mark that would

2 bar registration and the trademark itself. But the

3 government did thcjob. They did the registration.
4 They did not find anybody before me that was using it.

5 and then they registered it. so I understand.

6 Q. Do you know what they looked at in their
7 search?

3 A. We the government. I don't w I don't know
9 what —Idon't know. [don't know their job. so all I

10 know they did thejob, Look. whatever access they have.

1 1 I'm sure they have more And they granted it to me.

12 Q. Did you talk to a trademark examiner on the

13 telephone?
14 A. I don't remember.

15 Q. Did you agree to modify the description of the.
16 mark?

17 A. I don't remember.

18 Q. Did you agree to disclaim the word aviation?
19 A. Disclaim? Idon't remember this .. this.

20 Aviation is a general word. so everyone can use it. So

2] it's what .- my understanding.

22 Q. Do you remember having a conversation with the
23 trademark examiner about that?

24 A. I don‘t remember.

9.5 Q. Okay. Now I‘m showing you Exhibit 13.
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l (Petitioner‘s Exhibit 13 was marked for
2 identification.)
3 BY MS. DOPPELT:

4 Q. Do you know what this is?
5 A. That's a certificate they sent me after they

6 granted me the logo. And the certificate.

7 Q. And have you seen this before?

8 A. When they sent it to me. [saw it.

9 Q. Do you hav -- do you have it in your office?
to A. Not in my office. My other office. yes.

I 1 Q. Did you give me a copy of it?
12 A. That‘s correct. You have it right now. t

13 mean. yes. it's on the -- on the PDF.

14 Q. Well. what I’m showing you isn‘t what you gave

[5 me. 1'mjust showing you what 1 have. Okay. So ._
IIS A. But it's -- it's .. it's similar one. what

17 they give me. Just one has colors and with the company
18 and whatever. It's the same thing.

19 Q. Okay. So it says on it the date of filing.
20 the date of first use. the date h the disclaimer. all
21 dtis stuff.

2?. This is what you told them in your

23 application. Correct?
24 A. That's correct.

25 (Petitioner‘s Exhibit l4 Was marked for
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1 identification.) 1 A. Yes, I did. I'm an airline pilot. I'm all

2 BY MS. DOPPELT: 2 over the places.

3 Q. Okay. Now I'm showing you Exhibit No. 14. 3 (Petitioner's Exhibit 15 was marked for

4 Do you know what this is? 4 identification.)

5 A. That's my other business. 5 BY MS. DOPPELT:

6 Q. It's your other business? 6 Q. Okay. Let me show you Exhibit 15.
7 A. That's correct. 7 A. Sure.

8 Q. What business is this? 8 Q, I believe this is the application that was
9 A. It's a -- that's a Charter. 9 filled in for Afaf Air?

10 Q. Are you in this business? 10 A. Okay.
11 A. That's correct. I am. ll Q. And did you fill this one in?

12 Q. Did you file an application for your Charter 12 A. Yes. With the help ofa friend, again.
. 13 business? 13 Q. That same friend you referred to for

14 A. Yes, I did, but I didn'tcontinue it. Needed l4 Afaf Aviation?

15 funds. It costs money. 15 A. That's correct.

16 Q. So you filed it but let it be abandoned; is 16 Q. And you say that the services -— you said that
17 that correct? 17 the services in here, where it says identification: I

18 A. It's not abandoned, but I will come back for 18 will be doing Charter Part 135 transporting people.

19 it later. It's just I don't have the funds to keep 19 A. That's correct.

20 going back and forth. But business is alive. It's 20 Q. What does that mean?

21 alive and good. 21 A. Transporting people. They can prepare -- like

22 Q, And what was this mark for -- or what's the 22 we have airlines, but in private. So you call; we take
23 mark? What's the mark itself? 23 you wherever you want to go.

, 24 A. It's Afaf Air. 24 Q. What is part 135?
25 Q. I'm looking for the picture. 25 A. That's a certification. It's like

Page 67 Page 69

I A. It's on top. 1 Airlines 121. Like American Airlines and Delta. That's

2 Q. Is that the picture of it? 2 Part 121. 135 is a private charter. Like you tell
3 A. That's correct. 3 me —- you say, I want to go somewhere else. I want a

4 Q. Is it the same logo that's used on the mark 4 private plane. We take you on a plane by yourself,
5 for Afaf Aviation? 5 instead of going with passengers.

6 A. Pretty much. The last name is the same as my 6 Q. So Afaf Aviation does not do this business?

7 last name. The plane is the same. Taking off aviation 7 Afaf Air does this business?

8 and put air. Same —- same kind of letters and stuff 8 A. That's correct.

9 like that I would write it, yes. Correct. 9 Q. And, again, we come down to the e-mail

10 Q. Did you file this application on your own? 10 addresses. So these are the same -- look to be the same

1 1 A. With help from the same friend that I know, I 1 e-mail addresses as on your other application.
12 and then I didn't continue. 12 This is your personal e—mail and your friend,

‘ 13 Q. It says the owner name is -- this is your 13 whose name you don't remember?
14 personal name. Correct? 14 A. That's correct.
15 A. Yeah, that's correct. 15 Q. This is the mark you were applying for here?

16 Q. Why didn't you file it in the name of your 16 A. That's correct.

- 17 company? 17 Q. Can you tell me what this is?
18 A. I want to have separate names. Separate 18 A. A website.
19 businesses. 19 Q. A website for what?

' 20 Q. And this gives your name and address as 20 A. For the same business I'm doing, charter.

21 Grand Rapids, Michigan. 21 Q. This website's still alive?
22 Was that your address? 22 A. Correct. Yes.

23 A. That's correct, yes. 23 Q. And this is a picture of a plane that you

24 Q. Did you live in Grand Rapids, Michigan, in 24 Charter?

25 August of '18? 25 A. That‘s correct.
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Q. Do you charterjets?
A. No.

(Petitioner's Exhibit 16 was marked for

identification.)
BY MS. DOPPELT:

Q. i'm showing you Exhibit 16.

7 Have you ever seen this one? And l'll show

3 you the rest of it. It's a communication from the

9 patent and trademark office. and it makes reference to
ID Afaf Air -— the Afaf Air application that you filed in

11 your name when you lived in Grand Rapids. Michigan?

coma-Lum—

12 A. That's correct.

13 Q. Have you ever seen this?
14 A. l believe so. Yes.

15 Q. Do you remember what this document told you

16 about your application?
17 A. That you have to prove that you are the

18 same .- the same owner. Right?

19 Q. Did you respond to this -- to this

20 communication from the patent and trademark office?

21 A. [did not follow up. because 1 did not have

22 time to go back. That's why just said, Let it go. we'll
23 do it next time.

24 Q. So you abandoned this application. Correct?

25 A. Yes. [didn't have time to respond back and

Page '11

l forth because I have otherjobs to do. so i come back
2 later on. That's all.

. 3 Q. Okay. Let me show you what we marked as
4 Exhibit 18.

S A. Sure.

6 (Petitioner‘s Exhibit l3 was marked for

7 identification.)
8 BY MS. DDPPELT:

9 Q. This is an c-mall. Can you look it over and

10 tell me if you've eyer seen this before.
1 l A. Yes.

12 Q. When did you see it?
13 A. i don't remember.

l4 Q. What is this?I

15 A. That's, I believe. you sharing documents with

16 my lawyer. Right?

1? Q. Well, I‘m asking you.
13 What is this?

19 A. A letter. no? Evidence of something —

2t) evidenee that you're Sending to my lawyer what is --

21 what you have done, when you get your logo -- when

22 you‘re issued the logo and stuff like that. Right? is
23 that what that means?

24 Q. Well. what did you understand that it meant,

25 when you saw this?

Page 71

I A. You sent my lawyer proof of your client

1 claiming that he has his logo.
3 is that what that means?

4 Q. Well. when you saw this letter. you saw that

5 it said —— l - this is from me. and it -- I'm telling

6 your lawyer that I promise to send documentary proof
7 that our client used the mark Well before you did-

3 Do you see that?

9 A. Okay. Yeah.

Q. And then I said. ll’you have any proof that

l 1 you -- you used this mark before our client. please send
I? it to me immediately.
13 See that?

A. Which -- which -- which we did send it to you

15 immediately.

16 Q. Okay. Well. [disagree with that. but (they
17 So. Mr. Afaf. you see when this letter was

It! sent to your lawyer: Thursday. January 23.202121?
19 A. Okay.

10 Q. Okay. And you see that there's an attachment?
21 You can't see the attachment.

2? But you see there is an attachment?

23 A. Okay.

24 Q. And the letter refers to documenls that l'rn

25 attaching that are stamped with numbers from one to [Cl-t1.

Page 73

1 A. Okay.
I Q. Do you see that?
3 A. I do.

4 Q. it says Bales stamped?
5 A. Yes.

5 Q. Did you look at those documents?
7 A. I believe.

5 Q. Okay. And what did you do after you saw this
9 letter?

10 A. Answered your letter of giving us back

11 evidence. so 1 prepared evidence for you to see. And I

12 gave it to my lawyer. and the lauryer took it from there
1.] Q. Okay. So all this time you‘ve been talking

14 about this evidence that you provided after you received
15 this letter from me. .. alter your lawyer received this

[6 letter from me of January 23rd. Correct?

1? A. Okay. What was the question?

18 Q. After you saw this letter from me to your

19 lawyer that's dated January 23rd. you did what?
20 A. So they must have asked my lawyer to give you

21 evidence. My lawyer would normally call me and say,

22 Hey, give me evidence. 1 packed them together and gave
23 it to him. and he sent it to you.

24 (Petitioner's Exhibit 22 was marked for
25 identification.)
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BY MS. DOPPELT: 1

Q. Okay. Let me show you what we've marked as 2
Exhibit 22. 3

A. Okay. 4

Q. Exhibit 22 is several pages, and we're going 5

to go through them. So at the top, it says January 26, 6
2020. 7

A. Which is three days after you asked —- 8

Q. Is that when this document was prepared? I'm 9

sorry. 10

A. Because in your letter it says immediately. I 1

Immediately we didn't —- it was impossible to send 12
‘13immediately, so three days later you got evidence. which

is 64 pages that will take time to get them together, 14

since I have otherjobs to do. So it only took three 15

days lapse before you get. you know. proof back to you. 16

Q. Did you send me this proof? 17

A. My -- I believe my lawyer sent it to you. 18

Q. Do you know when? 19

A. January 26, 2020. 20

That's what it is. Right? 21

Q. No. That‘s the date you put on here. That's 22
not the date that I received it. 23

A. All right. I don't know. 24

Q. Okay. You put this date on here. Correct? 25

Page 75
A. Correct. 1

Q. And this document which is multiple pages -- 2

did you put this document together? 3
A. Correct. 4

Q. Let me ask you a couple things. 5

A. Okay. 6

Q. This is your signature block right here? 7
A. That's correct. 8

Q. And it says, FAA-certified flight instructor, 9

and then it gives several abbreviations. 10
A. Correct. 1 I

Q. What do those refer to? 12

A. CFIA certified flight instructor airplane. 13

CPU is certified flight instructor instrument. MEI is 14

multi-engine instructor. AGI is ground instructor, and - 15

other one is advanced ground instructor. [6

Q. And somewhere there's a —- there's a website 17
l8

19
where I can see when you received these certifications?

A. Yes. You go to faa.gov. You look for

evidence certificate, and take my last name and you will 20

see everything they have up there. 21

Q. What was the first one of these you received? 22

A. CFI instructor airplane. 23

Q. Okay. So it's in chronological order after 24
25

your name?

Page 76
A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And the address given here is in

Farmingdale, New York.

Is that the airport address?

A. That's correct. That's where we operate from.
Yes.

Q. And why did you write this letter?

A. Because you asked for it.

Q. When I asked for —— when I wrote to your

lawyer and said, Provide me with proof that you used
this mark before our client and I attached 104 pages,

this is your counter proof? Is that what you're saying?

A. I have 64 pages. I don't have the 104 pages,

but I did 64 pages.

Q. Okay. Okay.

In Exhibit 22, this is you writing. Co1Tect?

You prepared this document; is that accurate?
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. You wrote that you designed the logo

with the help of the agency USTV Repair?
A. Correct.

Q. What is that?

A. That's the -- they just did websites, fixed

TVs, fixed logos, whatever you want; so...

Q. It's not a TV repair business?

Page 77

A. It's his main business, but he does all -- all

kind of stuff. You can find hoster and server, so you

can check all his things in his website -- their
website.

Q. Who is he?

A. I think if you scroll down, you'll find out

the letter from him that he is stating that he did the

logo for me -— put it together for me.

Q. Okay. So you say you designed the logo with

the help of the agency USTV Repair.

How did you and USTV Repair come together?

A. Correct. So I designed it. I--Idraw it.

I get it together. I —- I do —- and as you're going to

see if you scroll down.

Then, obviously, to put a digital like that,

you need to use a -- you have to use kind of —- some

kind of program to put it together like that, as a

picture, right, so it's neat and -- and looking good?
So since he has a program -- I don't have these

programs, and I don‘t want to pay for them. So he get

it -- he get it for me precise like that, the way --

like —- you know, like using Illustrator or Photoshop or

whatever program you use.

Q. Okay. So in this same exhibit, on the next

page, it talks about -— you wrote history of the logo.
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| This is still you writing. Correct?

2 A. That‘s notjust the logo. That‘s my

3 background talking, because I didn't have -- the design

4 that —- l have a graphic design degree that helped me

5 out to draw and design my logo. And then -- then with

6 the aviation background. l desilned it myself. And I

7 get it together myself and with the help of the agency.
3 they n they assembled it For me together.

9 Q. Where is Ecole Supérieure des Arts Visuals?
it) Where is that?

I t A. That's in Michigan. That's the agency that
[1

[3

l4

[5

lost the website before. Been hacked. so they had to

redo it for us. And that's the agency that do it. the
In —- website.

115 Q. i'm sorry. It said you have a .raphic design

[7 degree from Ecole Sopérieurc dea Arts Visucls.
13 Where is that?

19 A. That's a French =— Ecole Superieure des Arts
20 Visuals. That's a .- that's a French --

21 Q. l'nt sorry. Ididn‘t hear you.

22 A. it's called Ecole Superieurc des Arts Visuals.
33 That's --1hat's a French school overseas.

24 Q. Where is it'iI
25 A. That's in Morocco.

Pogo 79

I Q. Where in Morocco?
2 A. Marrakesh.

3 Q. Do you have n and you have a degree from
4 there?

5 A. That's correct.

6 Q. Okay. So then under History of the Logo. you

'7 say -- you described your idea to Mr. Hoptoa. the owner
3 ofthc agency.
9 A. Correct.

to Q. So the agency you‘re talking about is the

l 1 thing called USTV Repair?
[2 A. That's corredt.

13 Q. And is Mr. Hopton the person you dealt with
l4 there?

IS A. Yes. i did it onlinc. l _. I probably put :-

l6 ptlthis contact on there. That‘s correct.
I? Q. And ltow did you .- how did you meet them? How

l3 did you choose them?
l9 A. 1 meet them at tin: airpon. He used to fly

20 the airport. too. long —- long time ago.

It Q. When you say you described the idea to him.

2‘! what did you tell hin't'lI

23 A. Well, if you go down. you‘ll see the picture.
24 There's how I draw it when [drew it. and [described

25 how I wanted it to he done exactly on the computer. 50

Page 50

| hejust scanned stuff and drew it over. whatever I gave

2 him, and put it look precise instead of using ti hand
3 drawing.

4 Q. Add the logo that ultimately became the logo
5 that's at issue in this case is not something you

6 actually draw?
7 MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection.

8 THE WITNESS: No, that‘s actually not true.
9 it's the same one I drew.

in BY MS. DOPFELT:

it Q. Okay. And are you saying it was created on a

made my last website. Same domain. last We lost -- we l2 computer?
13 A. Welt, obviously. you can't have a [ago just by

14 hand. It's not going to look good, so you have to draw
15 it. and see how it looks like. Then you put it in the

16 computer.

17 Q. At the end of your paragraph on the history of

18 the logo. you talk about how your website was hacked.
19 Was that the website that we saw that you used

20 in your trademark application?
2| A. i think that's the second one. There's

22 another one before that that was a long time ago that's

13 been gone. and that was the second one that you showed
24 me. And the third one, now. is the one that is valid ‘

2.5 right now. You can see -~ you can look at it online it

Page at

i you Google it.

2 Q. And that was the one designed by Sunny at

3 designsmidiagcncycom?

it A. That's the last one right now. That is aliVe.

5 That's the one designed by Sunny and

6 dcsignsmithageneycom.
7 Q. Okay.
it A. That's the last — that's the last --

9 Q. Can you tell me what this is?
it] A. That's the letter -- because you're asking for

l l proof r that's the letter from the CEO of the company

12 stating that he -- they did the logo and they put it in
l3 Match oFEOIE, that l -« that I deal with them and I

I4 paid them and i get my -- they get the logo together for
15 me on the computer.

it": Q. What did you pay for that?
l? A. I don't recall.

1% Q. Did you pay?

19 A. Multiple payments. Of course i paid.

10 Q. Do you have records of what you paid?

2.! A. Not with me right now.

22 Q. Do you have them?

23 A. I might have to loolt For them.

24 Q. Do you know how much it cost‘i
25 A. Like i said. idoa‘t know. Each time we
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I modify something. we have to pay; so I don't know

2 exactly how much.

3 Q. How did you get this letter?

4 A. You call the person. tell them. Hey, somebody
5 stole my logo. I need proof that you did it for me.

('5 And then they will send it to you.

7 Q. You called Mr. Gabidon (oh)?
8 A. That's correct.

9 Q. Did you speak with him on the telephone?
[CI A. That's correct.

I I Q. Did you exchange e-mail before this letter?
12 A. [don't think so.

13 Q. What did you tell Mr. Gahidon?
14 A. I don't re —— [ don't. recall the eonVersation.

15 but [recall that we spoke.
[6 Q. What did you tell him you needed“?

I? A. Somebody stole my logo.

[3 Q. And what did you ask him to do?

19 A. Send me a letter. that I -- please send me a

20 letter showing that you guys did the logo for me. And

21 that's how it work right there.

22 Q. Did you write this letter?
23 A. Is that an accusation?

24 Q. l'mjust asking the question. You can answer
25 whatever the truthful answer is.

Page 83

I A. The truthful answer is no. You have his phone
2 number. You can call him.

3 Q. We'll be taking his deposition nettt month.
Il- A. Sure.

5 Q. Do you know what the January 20. 2020. date
6 refers to on his letter?

7 A. Which one?

3 Q. The date on his letter says January 20. 2020.

9 MR. WENGROVSKY: You're asking what the
ID letter's date refers to?

I 1 MS. DOPPELT: CDrrect.

12 MR. WENGRDVSKY: Okay.
[3 THE WITNESS: That's when the -~ that's when

14 the guy sent the letter.

IS Didn't you say you wanted -- you want -- what

I5 it‘s called? You wanted proof. so we have to send

I7 proof. So the guy had to write a letter about when
IS he - when he wrote it. so that's the date when he
19 wrote it for me.

20 BY MS. DOPPELT:

2| Q. Did you tell Mr. Gabidon. when you spoke with

22 him on the phone. that you came in there to see him in
23 March of2013?

24 A. March of 2013 -- [don‘t recall. That's --

25 that's like -- talking about seven years or -- seven

Page 8:!

I years now. or something. No. Idon‘t recall none of
2 that.

3 I mean. of course he was at the airport. so we

4 seen each other at the airport. He was flying there and
5 was a student. I was astudcnl. | Was also a business.

6 So I don‘t recall all -- how -- how We gct --

7 get things going on. because he's -— he is out there all
8 the time. and I'm there all the time.

9 Q. Okay. Mr. Afar. what I'm asking you is when

you spoke with Mr. anidon on the telephone — and that

was in January of this year. Correct?
A. Correct. Correct.

Q. Did you tell him -- did you remind him that

you came to see him in March of 20 I 3?
A. we -- we -- I don't recall the conversation.

lust. Hey. we have a situation right here. I want proof

from all you guys and all witnesses. So whatever he

come up with is his discretion. I don't recall asking

I? him any othcrthings besides i need witnesses.
10 Q. From the time you first met with him until

2] January of this year. did you have any contact with
22 Mr. Gahidon?

33 A. We met out at the airport, because I run a
24 flight school, So heap]: come -- tend to come to me and

25 fly and friends and everything. 50 in the airport, i

10
ll

12
I3

l4

[5

I6

I?

I3

Page 85

sci: people around all the time.
Q. Do you see Mr. anidon?

A. i saw him many times. yes.

Q. Did you give him flight lessons?
A. [don't recall.

Q. Do you know how he would know that you've been

7 using the same logo for several years?

B A. Because it was only one logo since I start

9 business or .. for every business that's the only logo |
10 had.

I i Q. Do you know if he looked at your website
i! often?

[3 A. I never asked that question. if he looked at

I4 my website. But: he's the one who done the website in

IS the beginning when I -- even when Istartcd teaching.
IE he's -- he's the one who alters the website when I was

[7 con .. con -- doing consultation for people before l

18 even made .. I graduate from college.

I

2

3
4

5

5

[9 Q. How many times have you seen Mr. Gabidon otter
20 the years?
1] A. ] don't recall.

31 Q. Is he a friend of years?
23 A. Not .. not -- not a close friend. no.

24 Ereryhody flying was a Friend. Everybody say hi; suy hi
25 back.
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I Q. is he a =- is he a student of yours? I photographs?

2 A, No. ‘2 A. Myself. When I -- when you guys were asking

3 Q. Does he fly? 3 for proof. l had to take them. Or they were — some of
4 A Idon't know. 4 them they Were taken out there. and they had this

5 Q. Do you know who at the airport told you to -- 5 picture a long time ago too.

6 or suggested him to you? 6 Q. I‘m sorry. i didn't hear you.
7 A. Idon'l know. 7 A. [took it myself.

8 MR. WENGRDVSKY; Objection. There's no 8 Q. And what are they? What's the background?
9 foundation for that. 9 What are they on?

10 BY MS. DOPPELT: it") A. It’s a table in a library .. a college

i 1 Q. I thought you saidI Mr. Afaf. that somebody I 1 library. I believe. Each time I draw somewhere. I

12 suggested him. 12 mean. Idon't draw them all in one day. Every day. I do

13 Did I get that wrong? l3 some here and there. Ijust draw one to see what next
M A. I never said that. l4 needs to be improved.

IS Q. i'm sorry. l5 Q. Who drew these?

16 How did you ---how did you find him? l6 A. Myself.

i7 A. I‘m at the airport. People, they come to me I? Q. Anybody else?

[3 all the time talking about flight and business and stuff IR A. No.
[9 like that. How is that Conversation. 1 have no elue. 19 Q. And [see -- and l -- [apologize that this is

20 We -- we always talk. They say I to rent a 20 upside down, but I see handwriting on two of them.

21 plane, [want a direct flight. i don‘t know. i want to GA Whose handwriting is that?

22 go somewhere. 22 A. Myself.
23 We -- that's how we talk to a lot of different 23 Q. Do you know what this says?

24 people, so i don't know how we talked. how we started. 24 A. It” you flip it around. Yeah.

25 Really no clue. to be honest with you. 25 Q. ldon’t know how to turn it around.

Page 3? Page 89

I Q. So you don't remember how you came in contact 1 Okay. So there on: dates on -. there's dates
2 with him? 2 on two of these pages.

3 A. Not .. not .. not .. not .- not off the top of 3 Did you write these dates on here?

4 my head. [don‘t remember exactly how we start. Like. 4 A. Yes. Okay. Please look at this idea as well.

5 Hi. how are you? Are you coming to Fly? or something. 5 So that's what it says: Please look at this idea.
5 i don’t know. but all I know is i know him. 6 Q. And there's a date and your signature.

7 Q. Did you go to his place of business to do ‘1 A. That‘s correct. hill].
3 business with him? 8 Q. Did you put this date on here?
9 A. i think so. 9 A. DJIIZIZDIS.

[O Q. Do you remember going there? [0 Q. When did you pm. this date on here?
it A. l-- i believe so. it A. That day when I draw it.

|2 Q. Did you meet him there? l2 Q. When was that?

I3 A, [believe so. Dfeourse I'm going to go to i3 A. Right there: 03011 - DSIIIIZUIS.
[4 his - his office and elteclt sometimes. [4 Q. And where did these photographs some from now'?

l5 Q. Do you remember where his office was? |5 Where were they?

16 A. No. You could change. Seven years ago. i 15 A. What do you mean? I hasten phone. I have

I? don't know. I mean. ifl tell you it’s an office like [7 pictures from ._ from years.
15 this -- ldon't know. IE Q. It's in yourtelephone?

I9 Q. Okay. Okay. 19 A. Correct.

20 This is the next page of Exhibit 22. Can you 20 Q. is it in your telephone new?
2| tell me what this is. 21 A. Not with me now. but I have a Metro phone.

22 A. That‘s the initial drawing of the logo at the 22 yeah.

23 library when l was in college, with all the people that 23 Q. So your current telephone has this photograph

24 were -- that were attending college with me too. 24 in it?

25 Q. What are these photographs? Who took the 25 A. i believe so. yes.
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I Q. And what is this?

2 A. It's the same drawing. Just exploring
3 different ideas.

4 Q. What's this a picture of?

5 A. That's a plane, Embrner iii-5. Brazilian plane.
6 And those are the letters that I played widt to see how

7' the logo going to come out .. the initial ones.

8 Q. Can you read what the handwriting says at the
9 bottom of .. at the bottom oi'the thing in the lower

right?

A. Sure. ltjttst says. i like this one. What --

I like this one. What do you think?

Q. And these are more of the some?

10

ll

12

l3

14 A. Something. They'rcjusl playing with [he

l5 Ielters and trying to come Up With something looks
56 professional.

l7 (2. And you took pictures of scissors and pencils.
is Why did you do that?

I? A. It‘s a picture of the table. so I‘m jusr

20 showing -- showing doing the work. That's -- when l was

2] at the table. i took a picture off of it. That's all.
22 It's not relevant. whatever comes out there.

23 Q. Whose feet are those'.l

2a- A. it‘s my Feet,

25 Q. And whose laptop is that'.J

Page ill

I A. My laptop.

2 Q. And you say you were doing this in a library?
3 A. That's correct.

4 Q. At Pennington?

S A. Formingdnle. yes. Correct.

6 Q. Farmingdalc. I'm sorry.
'1' And what about these!I What are these?

3 A. Same -- some stuff. Just means moving further

9 on n on the logo. Getting it closer and closer and
it] closer.

I I Q. Was anybody else there when you were doing
i2 this?

iii A. Correct.

[4 Q. l’m sorry.

15 Was anybody else standing there while you were

[6 taking these pictures?

17 A. It's a library. People comes and go, and some

iii ofthem. they have -- also have a letter that they know

19 me was doing the logo. And i also attached it to this

20 PDF. yes. I had college mates. and we would go to

2! college. And we'd go to the library.

22 And when we're studying together and sin ff. I

‘23 drew things on my own. And they see what I want to do 23

24 in the future and all that stuff. Sol was drawing it.

23 Guys coming in and out all the time, and they saw me

Page 92

i doing it.

3 Q. And what were you cutting out with scissors?

3 A, This letter that you just saw and that plane

4 taking off on the page.
5 Q. And what does this page represent?

6 A. That's a logo. Playing with the color. and

7 playing how — getting them closer or -- or far front
3 each other distance. And. you know. aviation word is

9 longer. so we had to. you know. retract it and get
It] letters FAF closer to each other and something.

i i Q. Who prepared the two logos shown on this page?

ii A. The agency. That's computer stuff. We get

[3 them closer and far from each other in the computer.

[4 Q. Do you have a file in your — do you have .1

i5 file that shows all the stuffyou looked at in

16 connection with the emotion of this logo?
[7 A. No. Not at this moment. No. i don't.

it! Q. Where did you find this?

l9 A. I have -- [have them on my —~ in my phone.

20 When —— when we work —— work and stuff. I have in my

1| phone. All the stuff is saved in my phone.

1'! Q. This is in your phone?
23 A. That's correct.

24 Q. And it's not a phone that you have with you

25 right now?

Page 93
i A. That's correct.

it Q. Is it a different phone number?

3 A. That‘s correct. Can you see? i have many

4 phones right now. one. two. and the third one is right
5 here. So -— so I have more phones.

6 Q. What phone is all this material relating to

7 your logo ‘4 what phone is that in?

it A. Some Chinese phone. Idon't know. I mean. i
9 don't know the model off the top of my head.

it) Q. No, ldon‘t mean the model.

I i What phone number is it“?

ii A. Oh. phone number. That w that one w the one
l3 that -- I don't think it has a phone number. That's

I4 just -- just stuff that i saved in there.
[5 Q. What's your Cell number?
l6 A. Gill—355416“.

[7 Q. [s that the same -- is that the only cell

IE number you have?
I9 A. No. l have -- l have more ~— difl'ercnt, [

20 have a cooplc of them.

2[ Q. What‘s the cell number on the phone that has

22 the material in it regarding your logo?

A. Does not have a chip. Doesn't-- does not

24 have a SIM card. it: just a cell phone that has

25 pictures.

24 (Pages 90 - 93)

Veritext Legal Solutions

300—726-7007 305-375-8300



MOTION TO REOPEN PART 3 of 4



OONQLII$LAN—

NtutoiuNN—_.—._._._.,___....m-an——oxooo\ie\m4:.uN—oxo
OOQONU'I-P—WN—

NNNN~—-————-r—-—-—-— wN—oomqompmMHOQ
24

25

Page 94

Do you use it currently?

Not for calling.

What do you use it for?
Pictures.

What else is in it besides this?

Aviation apps, documents, c—mails.

You store all this in your cell phone?

Correct. Because in Georgia, you put a -— you

put a -- a SIM card that has 500 gigabyte. You can

store a lot of stuff for free without paying.

Q. Can you tell me what this is?

A. That's a business card to when 1 published in
2015 —— March 16 —— March 16, 2015. That's when I do

flight consulting before I become an instructor. I was

a student at Farmington college, and I sent them

students for Positive Rate -- positive gear up. Right

there, that's a logo that I was working with them.

Q. Is this a business card?
A. That's correct.

Q. And this is your name. Right? And then it

says flight training consultant.
A. That's correct.

Q. That means you weren't training people how to

fly. Correct?
A. That's correct, because I was not an

?>O?>@>O?p
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instructor back then, so I can recruit people to get a
free -- free hours, because I was a student back then.

I was saying, I was in college. I wasn't even graduate

yet. I graduated the end -— end of 2015 is when 1 ——

Q. And that's when —- I'm sorry.

And that's why you have your e-mail address as

your college e-mail?
A. That's correct.

Q. And what is this? What's the logo that says

gear up? What is that for?

A. That's a flight school. It's called Positive

Gear Up.

Q. And that's what you were re -— that's the

entity you were recruiting students for. Correct?
A. That's correct.

Q. This is on your Facebook?
A. That's correct.

Q. And I'm looking at the previous document we

were looking at that shows your business card.

This is on your current Facebook account?
A. That's correct.

Q. So if1 look, I could find this on your
Facebook account?

A. That's correct.

Q. Did you pull it off your Facebook page

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11
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15
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currently?

A. Facebook page, no. That's personal Facebook.

It's not a -- that's not a page. It's a Facebook

personal account.

Q. What does that mean?

A. That means —- Facebook page is when you have

a -- a business and you have a page for it. Everybody

can come in. Right? Personal account is only select

people can come in, if 1 don't -— if1 -- ifyou're not

my friend, you won't be able to see anything that I
share.

So what's the Facebook --

Back then -- back then -—

What's the Facebook address for this?

My name, Mohcinc Afaf.
But this is a different Facebook than the one

I can see?

A. So how many Facebooks are out there? It's

only one name. It's my name.

Q. And if I were to look for it, I wouldn't be
able to find this?

A. You'd have to be a friend with me first. It's

a personal account, so you won't be able to see anything
that I share or -— or what might matter unless you're a

friend of —— of mine. And then there's a Facebook page

LOPQPQ
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for the business. That's a different story.

Q. Do you have another Facebook page for your
business?

A. I do.

Q. What was that —- what‘s that one called?
A. Afaf Aviation. That's a public. Anybody can

go there.

Q. When did you set up your personal Facebook
account?

A. Probably 2006. 2007. or '08, something like

that. Probably 2008. I'm not sure. Way long from
that.

Q. And when did you set up Afaf Aviation Facebook
account?

A. You mean Facebook account. That's when they

incorporated business, became formerly -— formerly the

airport is a public airport. You're not allowed to

advertise unless you have this incorporated and you pay

for an airport permit and you have airport insurance.

Then you can advertise.
So when I was a student, [could not advertise

anything because they would fine me. That's illegal.

So 1 did not advertise anything, besides doing business
cards and stuff like that. But I couldn't adventise

through a Facebook page or put online. like a website or
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something like that. with a certification at least you
are a business.

So when l graduated in 2015 and finished my

flight training in EDI 6 and become a flight instructor.

get training. get experience in 20”. I incorporated my
business and it become a business. Then i paid the

airport fees. got an airport permanent. airport
8 insurance. Then I'm allowed to out my name in Google

unmoun—
9 and say, customer come to me right now. because I am a 9

l0 business. That’s what that means.

l I Q. So what am [looking at right here?

1?. A. That's my personal. and when l —- that‘s my

l3 logo. And when I say my new logo, let's -- let's

l4 jump -- Ict'sjump start. That's when -- the first time

I5 [put it online.
to Q. And when you say onlinc. are you talking .-
I"! what online -. where is tltis'iI

IS A. So that was my personal Face-book. And back

[9 then it was public right there. and it says March 12.
20 2013.

2| Q. And does this mean you — is this somehow —

22 let's see -~ so I can't ~- I‘m not seeing what we were

23 looking up to get to this. Correct?
24 A. Oh. what -- what -- what -- what it says to

25 me. I'll tell you what it says is that this logo "I

Page 99

i put it on Facebook. and it was in public on 20! 3 -.

2 March l2. 20l3. I post it out there. And that‘s the
3 date on Facehook that had been shared for the first time

4 that they shared it on -- on —- on public record online.

5 Anybody can see it. that I had that logo and I

6 had been using it on Faeobook out there. It's been

7 at - on my business card. And then when I graduated

5 college. finished my training. from student become a

9 flight insuuetor.

l0 And now as a flight instructor. I can do

I I business. That means I can make money and charge people

ii For my flying. Then I incorporate my business in 10”.

[3 because I cannotsay I would do it n I can -- I cannot
l4 do. like —— I cannot do business as a company when I'm
IE not an instructor.

l6 So I was waiting until I become a flight

I? instructor. Then I opencd on business at the airport.

18 Q. How did this picture gel into Exhibit 22'! How

19 did this picture got into the documents that you sent to

10 your lawyer’?

it A. That's the one that -- the logo we used in
ZDI 3.

Q. But how did -- is this -- did you .. how did

this picture get in there”? Did you make aeopy of it?
A. ‘t'ou take a picture — you take a - l -- I

Page "In

I told you I made a PDF. so you‘re looking From the PDF

2 right now that i made. which means I took pictures and l
3 have to show you proof that I'd been using the logo From
4 2m}.

5 THE WITNESS: Would you mind ifl take a

6 break. because I have to use the bathroom.

7 MS. DOPPELT: No. That's okay. Sorry. i

E meant to tail you that if you need to take a break.

you shouldjust tell me. I apologize for that.
I0 Yes. lhuye 12:03.

I i What about five minutes? Is that enough?
II THE WITNESS: That's more than enough.

I] MS. DOPPELT: Okay. I'll see you in five
I4 minutes.

[5 THE WITNESS; All right. Thanks.
l6 MS. DOPPELT: Thank you.
[7 THE WITNESS: Thanks.

IE (Off the recordj
l9 BY MS. DOPFEL‘T:

10 Q. Okay. So we’re on Exhibit 22.

1! And you pointed out it's multiple pages. but
22 it's not 64: so..‘.’

23 Okay. Now. are these - so on the page we

24 werejust looking at -
25 A. Okay.

Page ICII

1 Q. .. there‘s more writing.
2 is this your writing?

3 A. That‘s correct. Which is the same thing that

4 Ijust explained to you. I just don't know more about
5 that.

6 Q. Okay. So what business did you have between
‘I 2013 and 20”?

E A. I was in college. I have some other

9 businesses. And I was doing eonsulting for a budget

it] rate. which I told you bring customer.

1 I [get paid. You get more hours to finish --
12 to finish my training. That's what I was doing it --

l3 doing it for.
14 And I was using my logo. and I was doing a

15 business consult. consulting people. Like. you know.

[6 explain to them what you do. what they need to become

I? pilots. And when I bring customer, I get rewarded by
l8 hours.

l9 Q. Okay. I'm looking at the next page.

ID Exhibitll Can you tell me what this is.
El A. That‘s a letter From Positive Rate. That's

22 the owner. and a letter from him and what I used to do.

23 Q. Okay. And he says. this is his -- this is a
24 letter from Mr. Buchanan sent to whom".i

25 A. To me.
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Q. Why did he send you this letter?

A. Because l‘m requesting testimony from

witnesses to say it‘s t1 proof and witnesses that see

what I was doing to prove to you that i used the logo
since ZDIB.

Did you call Mr. Buchanan?
Of course I did.

Anti you spoke to him on the phone?
Yes.

To him directly?
‘t’es.

Whatdid you tell him?
That i need a letter From him.

What did you tell him needed to be in the

erororpro
letter?

A. ldidn‘l tell him whal to put in it. But I
told him. Send me a letter and use discretion. 1 need a

letter because my lawyer asking for it for some guy's

lawyer.

And reassure him that I worked with you and

that l was using my logo, because we ham: disoutes or a

light over a logo. And he write stuff.
Q. Did he send this letter to you?

A. I don't know if he sont itor I picked it up.

Q. l'm sorry. I didn't hear that.

Page Ill}

A. I don't remember if he sent it or I picked it

up. I believe i picked it up.
Q. Did you write this letter?
A. No.

Q. Did you go to Brooklyn to get it?

A. Ibelieve. That's on my way. Ilivc

in Pennsylvania. so I go to Brooklyn all the time to get

things done.

Q. How often do you see Mr. Buchanan?
A. Not — not often but once in a while.

Q. is his flight school at the same airport where
your business is?

A. That‘s correct.

Q. So is it the some place where you are now?

A. No, Actually, shutdown. They have --

unfortunately they have an accident and they close for
now.

Q. When did that happen?

A. l think two years ago. something. I don't
remember the dates, but somewhere like that.

Q. So at the moment. there is no such thing as

Positive Rate Gear Up flight school?
A. That's correct.

Q. Do you know what Mr. Buchanan is doing now? 24
A. Working for the airlines.

Page [04

i Q. What nirlit'le's'.l
'2 A. Private. l‘m not sure ifl should -— can

3 discuss that with you. It‘s his personal stuff.

4 Q. Well, I'm going to take his deposition and nslt
5 him himself; so...

(i A. l moan -- i mean. if he gives you consent, you

7 can ask him. His phone number right there — you know.

8 right there. l'm not allowed to answer for him. but]
9 know he's an airline pilot: but...

it] Q. Did you remind him of III: Marsh Elli} date when

l I you spoke to him?
I: A. No.

I} Q. Hejust came up with that myself?

l4 A. March date. no. because in they all know

IS when l spoke -- when this logo ~~ when [came happy

l6 about it, and l was showing it to everybody and get my

l'? logo and get it done and got my business card; so
It? everybody knows. That was my happy days. when i get the

l9 logo and start doing business officially with him as a

11.0 flight con —- consultant.

2[ Q. He said you cleaned and maintained airplanes
22 for him: is that correct?

‘13 A. That's correct. yes. Plane down -- when the
24

25
plan: down. you put gas in it. you clean it. you put up
all that staff.

Page tits

1 Q. Then he says you became a hill—time flight

I instructor at his flight school.

3 What years were those? When was that?
ci- A. That's what ~— that -~ probably 2015 -- or

5 early 20”. whatever it says.

a Q. Itjust says two years.

7 A. I got my — well. after i got flight

8 instructor. so pretty much I worked for everyorie Very

9 much freelancing. And. you know. I don‘tknow if

It) you know Freelancing and how it works. but. you know.

I i you use it for somebody or somebody else needs a ride or

i! somebody on the plane and you jump in his plane and you

I] show them how to Fly ll‘le plane. All of it's in the

l4 books. so i can look it up.

l5 Q. Were you :1 Full-time employee such that taxes

[6 were deducted from your sulnry'i
1'} A. No. What we do is .. flight instructor, mast

is of the -- most ofthe time you get cash. because it's

l9 not enough — enough money. because we don‘t work every

20 day. If it's windy. windy. we don't work,so you got

21 to -- you gotta have -- you have to lake w take ajob

2‘2 or something. it's not lilo: ajob in an office for

23 eight hours.
You know. I work two hours and — we may not

25 even work. because of windy, windy. snowy. or something

27 [Pages 102 - IDS)

Veritext Legal Solutions
8004264007 305-376-3800



Page ton Page Illti
1 like that, l for it, I had it. I believe we drove a cat heme-where.

2 Q. Did you get paid? 3‘. and then we got it that day.

3 A. Ol'course i did. I mean. when l get my 3 Q. When was this letter created?

4 instructor license. yes. I get paid. 4 A. [don't know what year. Butlhat was whenl

5 Q. What were you paid? 5 was a student out there. These guys -- also they were

6 A. Every elient is different. Depends on the ti students. Probably EDI}. 20M. Probably like that.

7 client. and depend il‘they come haek. Everybody —- 7 Q. And what was it For?

8 eyerybody has a different price. 3 A. We were driving a car to pick up a plane For

9 Q. Do you have records of the payments you 9 him — fen-yin; u plane. so we had to get a letter from

10 received for this-job? It] the company that we are guys on behalfof the company to

It A. Mostly cash. Fen-y the plane.

l2 Q. Did you get a l099? l2 Q. And why is it in your letter?
13 A. No. I} A. What do you mean it's my letter'!

1:1 Q. Mr. Buchanan‘s letter goes on to say that l4 Q This is part oFthe letter you wrote .. this

IS early in 2017‘ you incorporated your flight school with IS is in the some exhibit?
a A. That's -- that's showing you that l was part

of the organization.

I6 the Slulcof New York.

17 Do you know -- did you mention that to him :3

l3 when you spoke with hitn‘.’ l8 Q. Okay. What am I leaking at new?
l9 A. [was in his office. because I -- I don't have [9 A. That's a business card that l v~ showing that

20 money back then to have my own office. So {used to 20 i worked for that school. because you asked for :1 “19‘?

2| maintain cash for hint, bring students to him or stuff. 21 and i don't have a H199. That's what I was doing.

22 So in turn be helped me out to let me meet the customers 22 That's what 1 was Working for.

. 23 that I got on my own to his office. until I .. until i 2.3 Q. This is your business card showing you're
24 stood upon my feet. So I used his oifiee to meet my 24 working for Positive Rate Gear Up. Correct?

25 client or teaeh my client ground lessons in his office. 25 A. Correct. because you were asking for a 1099

Page 107 Page IM
and i don't have a I099, because i got paid cash.

That's the proof that I worked for the company.
Q. Is that email address on here your e-ntail

I because l take care of his stuff. So he is aware of l
2 what I do. '2

3 Q. Do you know where the logo that‘s in this 3
4 letter came from? 4 address.

5 A. They all have it. so they all have my logo. 5 A. i have that one still active. yes.
6

7

B

9

6 My logo's eyetywhcre: Facubuok, everywhere. Q. What year was this card in use - what years?

7 Q. l'm sorry. I didn't understand you. A. Probably 2016.1000 - last 20”. I believe.

8 A. ldo not know. but my logo is everywhem 15 Q. 'l6 and ‘IV?

9 youjustGoogled it, you'll find iron Google. A. tunnk so.

10 Q. And can you tell me what this is? to Q. Okay. l'm looking at the next page now This

| i A. Same as previous answer. It appears to he a letter from Badteddine Messeleka.

I! Q. It's the same thing that we looked at before? l2 A. Okay.

l3 It's just it was on another page. and that's why it's [3 Q. Who is that?
id here. [4 A. That's a former instructor. :1 guy who was with

IS A. it’s just making it bigger so you can see it IS me in college who also saw me drawing -~ drawing that -—
[6 clear. l6 that logo at lht: library.

i? Q. Do you know where this eame from? I? Q. Is he your Friend now'.’
[3 A. i don't knoW. It was .. it was -- it was [3 A. Well, we're still in touch. ltnean. l have

19 posted on Facebook. so probably the some pictures. ID a lot of friends. All airline pilots. we all talk. We

20 you know. being zoomed in. 20 all talk about stuff. about airlines. what Features. We
2| Q. Can you tell me what this is. it all get in touch with each other. Of Course. Of
22 A. That‘s a letter. I used to work for him. 12 course.

23 The! is proof. 23 Q. And how did you come into possession of this

24 Q. How did you get this letter? 24 letter?

25 A. That's a long letter. When i — when I looked 25 A. He sent it to me.
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Q. Why?

A. Why?

Q. I mean. how did -- how did you get a letter
like this“?

A. l have to -- l have to call him to send me a

letter about —— i have an issue with n problem.

Somebody stole my logo‘ and I need that testimony about

you guys. you know. were with me when l -. when I —
when I used it. And also was werking at the airport.

and he also went to college. And ifso. what i was
doing.

And I actually have more friends that lcan

say. They are just -- they are all down somewhere else.

but I have a lot more. They all saw me doing the same

logo.

Q. And did you -- when you spoke with hint. how

long did you speak with him on the phone?
A. [don't recall.

Q. Did you mention the year 2013 Who" you spoke

with him on the phone‘?
A. [don‘t think l -_ i don't think ldid. but he

was there. actually with me in the library; so he knows.
He saw everything. And i did it. And he saw when l

instruct. We graduated from the some college. so he's
very much been around the whole time.

monument-ww—
5

HHNthNn—u——-»——_——Ln-thE-J—cunaoqmuramto—
Pngelll

Q. When was the lasttimc you saw Mr. Mcssclcka’.’ t|

2 A. Well. before Corona thing happened. About
3 three months before Corona. In about Seven month.

4 eight months. nine months.

5 Q. Did you set: him in January of this year?
6 A. No.

7 Q. How did you get this letter?

8 A. i don't know if he dropped it off by the
9 office. or he sent it. Idon‘t know. I don't remember.

ID Q. Was there anybody you called who didn't give

11 you a letter?
12 A. No. ldon't recall.

[3 Q. Did anybody refuse to give you a letter?
14 A. ldon't recall.

15 Q. Okay. l'm looking at the next letter that is

16 part of your letter. It's from someone named
17 Bilttl Alsayedi?

l B A. Okay.

19 Q. What is this?

20 A. That also for some company Positive Rate. An

2i airline pilot that also saw what} was doing.

22 Q. How do you know this man? is this a male
23 name?

24 A. Yes. [just told you.
25

Page l [3

i Q. How do you know Mr. Alsaycdi?

2. A. He is a flight instructor. We worked atthc

3 same place. Positive Rate. He was there. so -- so he

4 saw everything.
5 He saw me at the office. i was trying to do
5 business from Positive Kate's office. He‘d been around.

7' so he watches everything.

B Q. Did you .0 to coltcge with this man too?
9 A. Well. we were at a different college. i was

It] in his previous college. I transferred. but we were in
l I touch all the time.

12 Q. What college did you transfer from?

13 A. Vaughn College. it's called Vaughn College.

14 l transferred to Suny University of -— of New York.

15 which is Farmingdale State College.

l6 Q. Where did you go before Formingdule'?

17 A. VaUghn College.

13 Q. I‘m sorry. [didn't hear it.

I9 A. Vaughn College.

20 Q. 0h. Vaughn.
21 Where is that?

12 A. Queens. New York.
23 Q. Is that when: you went to school with

24 Mr. ritlsayedi'.i
25 A. Correct.

Page I I!

Q. And whatdid you tell Mr. Aisayyedi when

2 you -- when you called him?
3 A. Somebody stole my logo and l need witnesses.

4 Q. What did you ask him to do?
5 A. Write me a letter.

6 Q. Did you give him any material so that he could

? write your letter?
B A. No. No. He knows. He Was there. He was

9 working with myselfthcrc too. He was an instructor
10 there, so he was -- he knows what l do and what i

l | advertise. so he —- he -- he's familiar.

ll Q. Did you give any of these people who wrote

13 letters for you anything to look at?
l4 A. ND.

15 Q. Did you mention to any of them your claim that

to you began using this logo in 20 | 3?
I? A. No. because they were there.

13 Q. Did you mention to any ofthem the year you

19 formed your company?

20 A. No. They were there. Because when lput sign
21 outside on that -- then when l incorporate. they were

22 there too. And they were saying congratulations. They
23 were there.

24 Q. What sign are you talking about?
25 A. Well, when -— when you open up business and
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I first time advertise and you put a sign on the window.

2 people say congrats for opening a new busineas.
3 Q. And they knew the month that you filed your

4 corporate papers with the State of New York?

5 MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection. ldon‘tseca

6 month listed there. ljust see 20!? towards the
7 bottom.

8 BY MS. DOPPELT:

9 Q. How did he know when you incorporated?

10 A. Because I talk. I say --

l I Q. Do you have a sign in front ol‘your business
I2 now?

13 A. Here's my T-shirt right here. Yes, I do.

14 There‘s a sign outside in the window. on the door.

IS everywhere -- on the ear. in the plane. everywhere.

16 Q. There's a sign on a building is what I‘m

17 asking you?
13 A. Yes. it is

19 Q. In the building that you‘re sitting in at the

20 airport?
21 A. Yes. there is.

22 Q. ls there a sign at the building in Flushing?
23 A. No.

24 Q. Okay. This istho next page in your letter.

25 It's another letter from somebody horned William Doze

Page I I5

l Parra of Davenport. Florida.
2 Who is this?I

3 A. A Form or instructor at the airport who kneels

4 me for many years. and he's an airline pilot loo.

5 Q. When did you test see Mr. Parra‘?

6 A. About a year ago or so. ifl recall correctly.

7 Q. Why did you see him a year ago?
3 A. Because I'm r- because I'm busy. I don't. hang

9 out with people all the time.

to Q. Were you in Florida when you saw him?

It A. [don't recall. l‘m an airline pilot. I'm at

l2 all over airports which some in Chicago. Florida.
I} Orlando, California.

{4 Whenever I land I says. Hey. guys. who's

[5 there? because we have an appreciation day for every

to year. Call me. hang out. go have some food. So if

t? there's somebody at the airport. they come and hang out.

13 So each time go to some airport and you have n layover
[9 for two hours, three hours. a friend will ottll me and we

20 spend time. so each time a different day -— every day is
21 adit‘ferent story.

22 Q. All these people who say they were formally

23 instrucmrs based at Republic Airport. none of them are
24 instructors there now; is that correct?

25 A. The airline pilots right now. when they —-

Page llfi

l when they have their free time. they go instruct a

Z couple hours here and there. But they have -« now -—

3 now they're -- new they have experience. They move on
4 with their lives.

5 Most likely they're on airline pilot. So

6 airline pilots fly passengers: they fly cargo.

7 Everybody different.

8 And when they have free time -- when they went

9 to Chicago or whatever, they go inslrttct here and there.

it] But they're -. now it isn't -- they're not -- it's not

i 1 their main income right now.

[2 Q. And how did this letter come to you?

[3 A. Talking and then sent to me.

[4 Q. it was e—mailed to you?
[5 A. l believe so.

to Q. Okay. This is also part of Exhibit 22,
l? another letter.

l8 Wiltlt is this one?

[9 A. It‘s also other witness that was an instructor

20 at Republic Airport. He's also an instructor and

2| airline pilot. Before — before becoming an airline

22 pilot. he's an instructor. so -- was also fit the

13- airport.

24 Q. How does he know anything about your logo?
25 A. Because he was there at the airport. The

Page I IT

| airport is big. The Republic Airport's in Farmingdale.
2 New York. They have a thousand people a day. They have
3 over ten Schools. Before they are — they Wall-t around

it between schools. and they know eaCh other. We all know
5 each other. It's a small world.

6 Q. When was the last time you saw Mr. Bob?

7 A. Probably a couple months from now. lmeun.

8 everybody met before Corona. When Corona starts.

9 everybody stays at home. so I don't recall what date
It) exactly.

I I Q. Eycryhody you -- l‘m sorry -- everybody you
I? met. what?

IF: A. limit! before ~- i met -— I met a lot of

l4 people before Corona.
l5 Q. Oh.

to A. [don’t know what they're going to do. But

I? after Corona starts. nobody came. Everybody stay at

l3 home. including myself.

l9 Q. Did you ever visit Mr. Suh in California?
20 A. Yes. I did.

2! Q. And that was a few months ago?

21 A. Yeah. Way -— way before Corona. yes. We met
23 at conference.

14 Q. Whatconference?

25 A. A pilot -- a pilot association.
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Q. Giving flying. tessons’ir
A. Correct.

1 Q. What's it called?I l

2 A. i don't recall. 1 think it's a gay pilot 2

3 association, something like that. it‘s a —— for a job 3 Q. So the air charter business is not part or

4 fair. so. like. it's just a -- it's a name called like 4 this. Correct?

5 that. Like it's for pilots or AU pilots. so everybody 5 A. No. It‘s a different business. different

6 goes there to see the latest technology and met new jobs 6 name. different start.

7 and stuff. It's a normal organization. 7 Q. Okay. Okay.

it Q. Okay. This page is the last page i have in 8 Mr. Atat. there's a whole bunch of other pages
9 the document that l understood you prepared. 9 here. which I believe show downloads from your Faccbook

It) A. Let me go look and check my side. No. to page -- it's pretty much what it looks like to me .- and

l I There's more. it photographs oFyour .. photographs from your Facehoek

[2 Q. There are more pages that you provided to me. I? page and perhaps your advertising.

[3 but this is the last page I have in this document of any 13 Is that the rest oi’the documents that you

[4 Writing ol'yottrs. 14 provided when you .. when you were trying to respond to

I5 This is your writing. Correct? 15 the document productlon request?
[6 A. Correct. correct. Yes. 16 A. Correct. It‘s only the logo you use.

l'r' Q. Okay. And this is a picture ofyour -- of 17 Facebook. YouTube. Twitter. All orthc social media.

[3 your trademark registration. Correct'.I 13 (Petitioner’s Exhibit 24 was marked for
[9 A. That's correct. That I received from the to identification.)

20 government, yes. 20 BY MS. DOPPELT:
21 Q. Okay. Mr. Afaf. I'm showing you Exhibit 23. 21 Q. So what is this?

22 Do yott know what this is'i‘I 22 A. That's my -- my current website.
23 A. Yes. 23 Q. This is your current website?

24 (Petitioner‘s Exhibit 23 was marked For 24 A. That's correct.

25 identification.) 25 Q. Okay. And this is the ”this is the third

Page I Ill Page ill

I BY MS. DOPPELT: 1 page of Exhibitzo.

2 Q. What is it? 2 What is this”!I

3 A. We [just did the business. When I filed it 3 A. That's —— we have a deal going. on with Groupon
4 with the State of New York. 4 corporation.

5 Q. Are you the one that filed this? 5 Q. A deal for what?

G A. Yes. With the help -- With the guy's help on 6 A. People. they -- when yon. iii-re. how: a salon

'i‘ the computer. yes .. together. 7 or something and you go GroUpon or purchase something

8 Q. People at your coilcge'.’ B from Groupon. and they give you a discount at the salon
9 A. Correct. 9 for halfprice. So you do the some thing with us: You

to Q_ Apart from this document that [ downloaded ID go to Groupon. You purchase something. Because Grouper-i

l i from the New York State corporate -- division of ti is a big. corporation. they have a big database. So you

12 corporations department of state. do you have any other [9. buy through them. and you come to us and we'll fly you.
[3 documents that have to do with your LLC'.’ [3 And we did it with Grouper: For payments.

[4 A. So whatever I filed with the State plus the to Q. What‘s it tor?
[5 E -- El i'tum -- El -— ElN number. 15 A. Flying.

to Q. What is that? [6 Q. Flying lessons?

1? A. Things that you file with your taxes when you [7 A. it says introductory of night lessons. so

l8 pay taxes. [3 first-time flying. And it'you buy it through Groopon.
19 Q. Does Aqu Aviation LLC pay taxes? ID you can come to us. We'll fly you.
20 A. Of course. 20 Q. Did your company own aircraft?

2| Q. Have you filed tart returns for 2017. EDIE. 21 A. We [ease back.
22 20W? 3 Q. You tease aircraft.J
23 A. Yes. 23 A. Correct.

24 Q. Did you make a profit in those three years? 24 Q. How many airplanes do you tease?
25 A. Yes. 35 A. Depends on .. depends on the season or market.
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Ten. five. six. four. it really depends.

Q. Has there ever been more than ten?
A. Yes.

Q. How many is the most you leased.

A. Oh. it depends. Like, I 1, ll. 1 -- I don‘t
know. [ don't recall. So if it‘s a season that's full.

We get more. if not. then we return them back to their
owner.

Q, Who do you lease them from?
A, Different individuals. Owners that they

haw: -- that they own and they lease them for profit.

Q. Have you ever [cased ajet‘.’
A. No.

Q. I'mjust going to go through this so you can
Ioolt at it and confirm that these are the documents that

you provided to your counsel to give to me to show your to

use of your mark?
A. That's one of them.

Q. Okay. So this is the fourth page. This is

the fourth page.
What is this?

So this one is also on Twitter.

Dicey. This is Twitter”?
Correct.

Okay. This is still Twitter?
pimp?

Page I13
Correct. Yes.

And this is ‘t’ouTulJe'.i

Correct.

What do you have on YouTuhc?
Channel.

For Aiaf Aviation?

That's correct.

What‘s on your channel?

Showing people how to fly planes, fly over
Manhattan, do the Hudson tour. and stuff like that. so

we can get more clients. Anti show them a CV and all
that stuff.

Q. Okay. And here is more of your YouTubc
channel. Correct?

A. Videos. Correct. Yes.

Q. Now. what am i looking at? Year Faeebook

page?
A. That‘s a business Faceboolc page. yes.

Q. It‘s your business Facebook page.

And this is also your business Faceboolt page?
That's correct.

More of your business Facebook page?

lnterviewr from people, correct. Yes.
More?
Correct.

Pp?p?@?p?

POPE}?

Page I24

I Q. Okay. More ol'your Faecboolt page.

2 This is your -- a different Facebook page.
3 Correttt'.i

4 A. No. the same one. Just my personal showing up
5 with business. Lilte somebody shows something. and you

(a show it again. Put it some .. somewhere clso That's
7 What it is.

8 Q, Okay, And this shows a dog sitting on a shirt

9 with the logo on it that we're talking about.

10 And the photograph -- or the posting was
1 I October 29. 20 I7. Correct?

12 A. That‘s a new uniform.

13 Q. 1th a new uniform”!
14 A. That's correct. with the same color wilh the

15 dog, so it looks beautiful. Gold -- gold color.

Q. [s that your dog?

17 A. it's one of my client's dog.

18 Q. Okay. And. again. this is your personal

19 Faceboolt page?
20 A, That's correct.

21 Q. And more of your personal Facchool-t page?
A. Yeah. That‘s the one in 20”. because l'm

trying to get to my personal. because i think back then

I have not a business page yet. So most the stutfl

show on my personal. because i have at least 4.000

Page 125

1 friends. So I get more cli -- more business from my

2 personal than the business.
3 Q. Okay, Does it say on your Facebook page:

4 Follow us on lnstagram?
5 A. Follow us on [nstagramii What do you mean?
6 Follow us -- I don't understand.

7 Q. Well. right here on this same physical page.

3 it says, Follow us on Instagrunt.
9 A. Oh. no.

it) Q. Where does that come from?

1 I A. It's just a different —— different picture.

[2 When you take a picture, it says that.

13 Q. Okay. That's not on your Facehool-t page?
[it A. No. [don't think so.

15 Q. Okay.

to A. I really don‘t. [don't know.

i? Q. And conveniently enough, the next page is a ——

13 is a page from your instagram page. Correct?
19 A. That‘s correct. Yes. That's correct.

20 Q. Okay. More Instagrttm photographs. Correct?
2! A. That's cancer.

22 Q. More instagram photographs. so...

23 A. I'm just showing you a logo en the ear, too.

24 can use. and oil that stuff. Magnet books to the car.

25 Q. Okay. This is more Instagmm stuff.
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Is this a photograph of you?1

2 A. With -- me with a couple of friends at the
3 office.

4 Q. Are they employees of Afaf Aviation?
5 A. No.

6 Q. What is this picture showing in an airplane?
7 A. That is because -- you can‘t see it properly.

8 I'm just flying with a student. He happened to be --

9 because when you screeushot. you cannot cut it. it's

in just come. like. a one page.
I I

II A. That's correct.

l3 Q. More lnstagram photographs. more instagram

I4 photographs.

IS A. That's just -- that'sjust the one of the dog
l6 on the uniform.

I? Q. it‘s that same dog again sitting on your
is uniform. Correct?

[9 A. Yeah, Just one picture showing that the logo

20 was being used.

2| Q. Okay. More Instagram.
22 This is all from 20”. according to the date

23 that I can see on this page. Correct?

24 A. That's correct. When we -- i incorporate the

25 business. then I‘m -- i am able to go ahead already on

Page 127

I advertisement. because i can with the airport. i am

I able to advertise. so that's why i want all the photo.

3 That's. again. the logo on the shirts.
4 That‘s the customer I fly with in 2000 ——
5 20”. I believe. Yes. it is. Most of it.

6 Q. Okay. l'm still looking at lustagram. Okay.
‘7 New l'm looking at something that does not say

8 lnstagram.
9 What is this?

[0 A. It’s still lnstagram. it didn't stay on top.

l l but it's still -- it's showing different instructor with

[2 uniform. Employees in the same uniform. But that .. it
13 is lnstagrarn.

l4 Q. Okay. And this next page is also lnstagram?
IS A. Yes.

16 Q. l Understand that —~
17 A. Yes.

18 Q. Okay. The ncktpage. what is this?
19 A. You would have to scroll up. because i can't

20 see much. That's a page .- I don‘t know why it keeps

21 opening itself. It's -- it's a w it's a .- it's a
22 Facebook.

23 Q. This is Facehook?
24 A. That's correct.

25 Q. Okay. And this pagejust shows a house with a

Page I23
I car in front of it?

2 A. No. it'sa magnet. No. no. It's showing the

3 magnet has a logo on the car. So if you see that --
4 the -- the driver door. it shows the logo. the name of

5 the business. a phone number. and website-

6 Q. Okay. is this instagram again?
'i' A. Yes. That's the one that -— one of our

3 instructors wearing Afaf Aviation uniform and taking a
9 student for a ride.

it) Q. Do you know why it says Siratiord.

Q. Okay. And is this more lnstagram photographs? ll Connecticut. on it?
l2 A. Yeah, We go everywhere. Yes. that's correct.

[3 The hangar. Been straight from there. because we go

[4 Connecticut. we go to New Jersey. we're everywhere.

[5 Q. Okay. is this you teaching a child how to

[6 fly?
I? A. That's correct. That logo also on the —— on

l3 the -- on my chest. if you see iL

l9 Q. Okay. And this is more lnstagram postings?
20 A. That's a different customer with the logo. We

2i give him a certificate and a logo also. We made a
22 uniform.

23 Q. Okay. And --

24 A. That one is the same. I don't know why. The

25 same ~— thc same. It's just been repeated for some

Page l39
l reason.

2 Q. Is this the office you’re sitting in now‘?
3 A. No. a different one.

4 Q. Where is tl'lis'iI

5 A. I'm in Pennsylvania. That was in Long island.

6 Q. This is a picture in Long island?
7 A. That‘s correct.

3 Q Did your company used to have an office in

9 Long island --
ID A. Correct.

I 1 Q. -. not at the airport"?

[2 A. Long island is along _- is an island.

[3 Formally there's a town in bong Island. Office is in

[4 airport. and the airport is in Long island: so that's --
l5 that‘s the airport.

I6 Q. Okay. Where are you new?
I? A. That office. it is located inside the airport.

I it Q. You're in your office in the. airport in

IQ Long island right now. Correct?
20 A. No. No. l'm not. No. I'm in Pennsylvania at

2| the airport. Other airport thatihave office. And now
22 lam located in office. Office in airport. Airport's

23 called Northeast Philadelphia.

24 Q. In Philadelphia?

25 A. No. Philadelphia, yes.
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Q. So you're speaking to me from Philadelphia?1

2 A. That's correct.

3 Q. In an airport office that you have -- that

4 your company has in Philadelphia?
5 A. That's correct.

6 Q. What's the airport name?

7 A. Northeast Philadelphia.

8 Q, Is. that an executive airport?
9 A. Yes.

IO Q. It‘s not the regular main international

ll airport in Philadelphia. Correct?
12 A. No. That's PHL. This one is PNE.

13 Q. Okay. Okay.
to What's this -- what‘s this last -- what’s this

15 photograph?

16 A. Logo being used on a headset.

1‘? Q. is that a sticker that you put on headsets?

18 A. All our equipment, correct.

19 Q. Okay. More photographs.
20 A. Business card.

2| Q. is this your current business card?
22 A. That‘s correct.

23 Q. Is this two sides of the same card?

24 A. What do you mean two sides oFthe same card?
25 Q. Well. its two different cards. or is it two

Page Ill

I sides and one card? 0h. l’rn sorry.
2 A. Yeah. So it's back and front of the card. we
3 sides of the card.

4 Q. Two sides?
5 A. Front and the back.

5 Q. So if] asked you for your business card right

7 now, this is what you‘d give me‘?

8 A. Yeah. Right — rightnow I‘m still atthc

9 office. i would give you a business card of the

[0 Philadelphia office.

[1 Q. Okay. And what's this?

12 A. Something. A bunch ofthem.

13 Q. What is it?

14 A. it's just a bunch of -- of business cents.

l5 Q. Okay. Okay. l'n't just going to keep looking.

iii A. The same thing -- what we —-

17 Q. The dog again.

13 A. For some reason. yeah.

19 Q. Okay. 50 till of this is to illustrate your

20 company's use of this logo: is that COHECI?
2| A. That's correct.

Q. Do you know what this is?

23 A. That's things we give to customers. hand-outs:

24 pens with logos, stickers. all that Stuff. All goodies

Page I]?

l way of advertisement.

2 Q. So you hand this stoifoul to people. and it's

3 got your logo on it. Correct?
4 A. That's correct. That is correct. 0n

5 T-sltirts. on pens. whatever -- whatever -- magnets for

ti the refrigerator. whatever.

7 Q. Okay.

8 A. Just -- you know. just saying that we‘re
9 there.

10 Q. And what is this?
It A. Same concept. Stickers.

l2 Q. Oh.stickers.ok:ty.

Li A. Sorry.

14 Q. And that's what this is as well. stickers?
15 A. Yes. Yeah.

id Q. Okay. That's the last pagethavcinthis

I? group of documents that comprise Enhihir24.
18 So all of this is material that you provided

19 to your counsel to show your use of the logo: is that
20 correct?

2] A. Yes. matter.

22 Q. Okay. So this. plus the letter you wrote that
23 has all the other letters in it - these are all the

24 documents you provided to year lawyer in response to the

15 document production request that we sent you: is that

Page l3]

(Petitioner's Exhibit 25 was marked for
identification.)

l
2.

3
a.

5 BY MS. DDPPELT:

6 Q. Okay. And let me show you Exhibit 25.

7 Do you know what this is?
3 A. Let's see. That's Positive Rate Gear I used

9 to work for -- the website.

to Q. So this is the Website for positive gear ~-
I | A. Yeah.

12 Q. -- Positive Rate Gear Up?
13 A. That's better.

14 Q. But you're telling me this company is not in
15 business at the moment; is that right?
to A. That's correct. The -- the website's still

i"? live. but - hut it's shutdown. So if you Google it.

[B you're going to see the company's shutdown.

19 unfortunately. due to an accident.

20 Q. Okay.
I! A. But the website. I think. is still alive.

'22 (Petitioner‘s Exhibit 26 was marked l'or

23 identification.)
24 BY MS. DOPPELT:

25 that people can think of us and come back next time as a 25
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Q. Okay. Mr. Afaf, I‘m showing you what I‘ve
marked as Exhibit No. 26.

A. Okay.

Q. Do you recognize what this is?

A. That's from —— the photo you are showing me is
LinkedIn. That‘s all. The website.

Q. Okay. This a picture of you. Correct?
A. That's correct.

Q. And this is your LinkedIn page?

A. lguess. [don't go there. Ijust filled
there for once and never been there again. so the

information may not be correct or accurate.

Q. Did you fill in the information on this?

A. Yeah, Idid. But {just have never updated it

since then, so a lot ofthings may change.

Q. So it may be old?

A. Yep.

Q. Is that what you're saying?
A. That's correct. Yes.

Q. Okay. Okay.

You see where it says about, it says

certificated flight instructor, which you are. Correct?
A. Yes, I am.

Q. And it says commercial pilot, single and

multi—engine land; is that correct?

A. That's correct. Yes.

Q. Instrument rating. And, alas, it says see

more, so I don't know what that says. And then under

Experience, can you read that.

A. Yeah. I see since 2016 president of—-
whatever. But that's —— it's not —— it‘s not accurate,

so I'm saying right now. It's been put out there. Most
of it's not —— it's not accurate information. It‘s old

stuff. Most of it's just to fill out the blank and be a

part of the website.
Q. Okay.

A. It's not —— it's not a reup thing; so...

Q. Okay. So then under Education, it says you

went to Farmingdale State College from 201 l to 2015: is
that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. So for four years.

And you have a Bachelor of Science in
aeronautical science; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Then it says you have a master's degree from

Embry—Riddle Aeronautical University.
Do you?

A. That's not correct. But I have master's from

another university. Not that one. Ended up

Page 135
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l transfen'ing from that one due to the fund that is

2 expensive.

3 Q. So you do not have a master's degree from

Embry-Riddle?
No. l have it from another university.
From where?

Other one. Other university.

What other university?

It's called Liberty University.

You have a master‘s degree from liberty?

I'm working on it. I'm still in school.

OO\IO\UIJ‘—
ll

12 Are you doing it online?
13 That's correct.

14 Has it been 100 percent online?

6 .3’43?’LO.>@.>LO.>O.>
15 That's correct. I mean, Corona, so

16 100 percent online.

17 Q. Did you ever attend Embry—Riddle?
18 A. Yes.

19 Q. When did you attend there?
20 A. I don't know what year, but it was online too.

21 Ididn‘t go there. It was online.

1 22 Q. So you did not come to Florida to attend

23 Embry-Riddle?
24 A. No.

25 Q. Okay. Let's see ifthis works. Okay. This

Page 137
l is Exhibit 27.

2 Do you recognize this document?

3 (Petitioner's Exhibit 27 was marked for
4 identification.)

5 THE WITNESS: That's my Facebook page.
6 BY MS. DOPPELT:

7 Q. It's a multi—page document. This is the first

8 page.
9 A. That's my Facebook.

10 Q. It's your cun‘ent Facebook page for you

1 I personally?
12 A. That's con‘ect. [believe so, yes.

13 Q. Okay. So I looked at this page, and I'm --

14 you and I are not Facebook friends. Con-cot?
15 A. That's correct.

16 Q. So this is public information?
17 A. Some of it, yeah.

18 Q. Okay. Okay.

19 So this is the Facebook page you're currently

20 posting things on; is that correct?
21 A. That's correct, yes. Personal one, yeah.

22 Q. All right. I'm not here to make fun ofjokes.
23 Don't worry.

24 A. Yeah. No worry.

25 Q. Everybody has stuff on their Facebook pages.
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Page Hill

Okay.

A. Okay.

Q. ljust don't lrnow a way to move this quicker.

Okay. Okay.

So the dog picture is from your -- from your

Fncobook -— your current Faccbnolt page. and this is the

same thing we were .. this is the same dog we were

looking at before?

A. Okay. Yes.

Q. And this was posted in Bill 7. Correct?
all. That's correct.

0. Okay.

A. When we got new —— new uniform. I posted 30F?

and posted it in my then shirt on my business --

business page. becous: I have more friends as a personal
than I have as a business.

Q. Okay. Is this a student of yours'?

A. No. if you look -- if you look at his name.

it‘s a very famous — it's a Very famous person. It‘s a

celebrity in United States. I know a lot about him. so

i -- i got a chance to fly -— to fly him once.
Q. Okay. Sorry. l'll come to it soon.

Okay. And here's the nestplnce that I saw on

your current Facebook page where the logo appeared.

A. Okay.

Page [39

Q. Do you know why you put this up on February of
EDIT?

A. Just posting stuff. litre I was posting other
stuff.

Q. This is right after you formed your LLC.
Correct?

A. i mean. right after i -- I formed my LLC. I

started posting everywhere. .lust almost anywhere! can

to get a customer and —- and cover up my costs.

Q. Okay. i come to the end of anything I can see
on your Facebook page.

A. Because --

Q. And that was —- the date was August 2?. 20 I4?

A. Correct. You see August 27. 2014. All the

pages. New York. And then icon is the public. That's

the only thing I show the public that they‘re able to
see.

The one I put as friend -- icon friend.

everybody see it. because that's only -- all the things

you can have access to. But Faceboulr is very open

there. So if you are my friend. you'll be able to see
more in there.

But it's only public. So now ifl go -- if I

change the icon to friend. you won't be able to 5:0 any

ot'that. if you go back to Fncebook right now. That‘s

Pug: [4|]
l not --

1 Q. So -- I'm sorry. I didn't mean to interrunl.

3 Keep talking.
4 A. That -- that -- that does not mean that the

5 Fttcebuok was created in 2014. Tltnt means that's what

a I'm nlloWing you to see as it public. because you're not

7 my friend. So if i go back to my Fnccboolt and change

B the icon to friend. you won't be able to see that
'9 either.

[0 So - so that's what I'm trying to tell you.

i I You only see what l'm allowing you to see. because

l2 that's for the public. And I -- ifyou‘re not my

l3 friend. you're not going to see it.

l4 Like. for example. you give # I don't know if

[5 you can see my camera over here. July 4th. You'll be

to note [a see my logo. none of it. nor my simulator that

H l'm buying. You're not going to see it because it's a
la friend.

19 And all these things are July 22. if you go

'20 back to July 22. like what you're seeing. you're not

21 going to see it because I'm not ollowing you to see it

21 because l'rn not your friend on Fucobook.
23 Q. Okay. So can you show me on your phone right
24 there the Facebook stuff from 20l3 that you say was when

25 you first created the logo?

Page HI

I A. i could. but. again. it would take me a while.

2 l have to scroll all the way until iget to 2013.

3 Are you able to see my phone?

4 Q. Can you hold it closer to the —

5 A. So -- so all -- all this stuff. actually. you

6 can't see it because I only share it for my friends; so

7 you can't see the stuff. So if you cheek my Facebook.
8 see all this stuff. But i have to Reno scrolling down

9 for seven years to find it. which is going to take me at
It] leestan hour to find it. But it's there. and I showed

1 I you .- I showed you :1 picture of it.
12 MR. WENGROVSKY: Okay. Ava. ifwc have

13 anything relevant to produce supplemcntully. we

l4 certainly will. We'll take a look at that and see
15 if there's any other relevant material later.

to MS. DOPPELT: Thank you, Mr. chgrovsky.
17 BY MS. DOPPELT:

l8 Q. Mr. Afaf. did you ever live in Orlando?
l9 A, if i lived in Orlando? I stayed -- l -- yes.

20 I lived there. but i only stayed with a friend. I mean.

2| I didn't rent anything. I was staying with him.

22 Q. You were staying with a friend?
23 A. That's correct.

24 Q. When was that?
25 A. When was that? Probably 20l5. if I could
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I recall correctly. I'm not sure. [don't recall the I A. I saw it when I got the conflict.

2 date. 2 Q. When you got what?

3 Like I said, I was in Michigan. I was in 3 A. When my friend sent me screenshots about --

4 California, I was all over the place: and so I go all 4 about this business, then the first time I saw it, yes.

5 over the place. 5 Q. The first time you saw what?

6 Q. Do you know what the address was of the friend 6 A. First time I saw this picture. And it's when

7 you stayed with? 7 my friend that's telling me about my -- my logo being

8 A. Not on top of my head. 8 used somewhere else.

9 Q. Did you ever live at 110] -— 11021 Regency 9 Q. You never saw your advertising agency actually

10 Commons Court in Orlando? 10 create your logo on the computer, did you? You weren't

l l A. I don‘t remember the address, but I remember I I I watching when they did that. Right?
I2 was in Orlando. 12 A. I was there.

13 Q. Where was it? 13 Q. You were there?

14 A. I -— I don't know the address exactly, butI 14 A. Correct.

15 was -- I remember I was in Orlando. 15 Q. What program did they use to create that?

16 Q. How long did you live in Orlando? 16 A. I don't remember.

17 A. Probably a month or two. Yeah. Two months or 17 Q. Did they use Clipart. Do you know What that
18 somewhere like that. 18 is?

19 Q. Are you registered to vote? I9 A No due.

20 A. Yes. 20 Q. No clue what it is, or you don‘t know if they

21 Q. Do you know where? 21 used it? .

22 A. That year, but I believe it was 2016 or 20l5. 22 A. I don't know —— I don't even know what Clipart

23 I'm not -- really not sure. 23 is either, and I don't know what they used. When we

24 Q. You registered to vote in Orlando? 24 were in art school, we used something else. But I

25 A. Correct. They did register because that was 25 never -— I don't remember, actuaIIy.

Page I43 Page 145

1 election day. so when I vote —- and I did a vote and I Q. What did you study in art school?
2 that was it. 2 A. Graphic design.

3 I'm not registered to vote anymore. I was 3 Q. So when you -- your friend. who you don't

4 because I happened to be there. so I did it. But I 4 remember the name of, sent you something that Showed

5 think that's my right to vote. so I went there and voted 5 Badawi Aviation and its logo, that was the first time

6 because I —— I was in Orlando. 6 you ever saw it?

7 Q. So I assume that means you‘re an American 7 A. Yeah. First time when I saw it, when he sent
8 citizen. Correct? 8 me a picture, yes.

9 A. That‘s correct. Yes. 9 Q. When you lived in Orlando in 20l6, what were

10 Q. When did you become a citizen? IO you doing here?

I 1 A. I'm not going to answer that question. It's 1 l A. Visiting with friends, Staying with him,
12 not relevant. l2 hanging out, and stuff like that.

13 Q. Okay. [3 Q. Were you flying?
14 A. I don't know. [4 A. No.

15 Q. You don't know? 15 Q. Did you ever go to the executive airport?
[6 A. No. 16 A. N0.

17 MS. DOPPELT: Okay. Give me a minute, and let 17 Q. Have you ever been to the Orlando Executive

18 me see in have something else. 18 Airpo ?
19 THE WITNESS: Sure. 19 A. No.

20 (Petitioner's Exhibit 21 was marked for 20 (Petitioner's Exhibit 21 was marked for

21 identification.) ZI identification.)
22 BY MS. DOPPELT: 22 BY MS. DOPPELT:

23 Q. Mr. Afaf. have you ever seen this before? I'm 23 Q. And this is still part of Exhibit 21, which

24 showing you Exhibit 21. 24 appears to be a Facebook page.

25 Have you ever looked at this before? 25 Have you ever seen this before?
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1 A. When I looked -- when I look before, no, I 1 Q. Okay. Mr. Afaf, you can answer the question.

2 never seen it. 2 Did you write down anything?

3 Q. I‘m sorry? 3 A. 1 don't know.
4 A. Before I never seen it. 4 MR. WENGROVSKY: Please don't answer. We're

5 Q. Before what? 5 not discussing communications verbal or written.

6 A. Before the friend sent me the information. I 6 MS. DOPPELT: Correct. We're not discussing

7 never seen it. 7 communications. I'm asking Mr. Afaf if he‘s

8 Q. Have you seen it since? 8 written down any answers to these questions on his

9 A. Not recently. When I did my research, yeah. 9 own.

10 Q. Have you ever gone to the Facebook page of 10 BY MS. DOPPELT:
l 1 Badawi Aviation? 1 I Q. You can answer that.

12 A. Yes, ldid. For my research, yes, to look at 12 A. I don't —- I don't remember.

13 it, to see where my logo's being used. 13 Q. You don't remember?

14 Q. When did you go to the Faeebook page? 14 A. That‘s correct.

15 A. A couple months ago when things started. _ 15 Q. Okay. Okay. Okay. Okay.

16 Q. Let me Show you Exhibit 7. You've looked at 16 So you received this from your lawyer,

17 this already. This is petitioner's first request of 17 correct -- a copy of it?

18 interrogatories to respondent. 18 A. Whatever -- yeah, I think so.

19 And you told me you'd seen this before. 19 Q. Okay.
. 20 Correct? 20 A. Whatever copy he sent you, he would send it to

21 A. Okay. Yes. 21 him; so...

22 Q. You got them from your lawyer? ‘ 22 Q. And do you know ifan answer was served --
23 A. Correct. 23 answers to these were served?

24 Q. Do you know if you prepared answers to the -— 24 MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection. lt's bee asked

25 interrogatories are questions. It's another word for 25 and answered twice now.

Page 147 Page 149

1 questions. 1 BY MS. DOPPELT:

2 Do you know if you prepared answers to these 2 Q. What was the answer?

3 questions? 3 A. I don't remember.
4 A. I -- I don't remember all we discussed with my 4 MR. WENGROVSKY: He didn't recall.

5 lawyer. 5 BY MS. DOPPELT:

6 Q. Do you know ifyou served any answers to these 6 Q. Okay. Sony. Sony. I thought I was in

7 questions? 7 Exhibit 17, but it slipped into another exhibit, not
8 A. I don't remember. We talked about a lot of 8 Exhibit 7. So hold on.

9 stuff, but I don't know exactly details. 9 Okay. We're back in Exhibit 7, Mr. Afaf.

10 Q. Did you ever write down answers to these 10 A. Okay.

I 1 questions? 1 1 Q. And you said you've seen this before.

12 A. Idon't remember. ljust —- wejust talked, 12 Correct?

13 so I don't remember exactly what happened. 13 A. I mean, too much documents, so 1 think, yes.

14 Q. So you didn't prepare any kind of writing in 14 Q. Okay.

15 response to these questions? Youjust spoke with your 15 A. I mean, I can't remember everything. There's

[6 lawyer. Correct? 16 so much. I believe, yes.

17 MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection. 17 Q. Okay. Still in Exhibit 7, which is the
18 BY MS. DOPPELT: 18 interrogatories to you. There's a page that looks like

19 Q. [don't want you to tell me what your lawyer 19 this.
20 said. 20 Have you seen this page?

21 MR. WENGROVSKY: You're get into 21 A. I think, yes.

22 attomey-client communications, and you've been 22 Q. Did you get -— did you have your answers
23 served with the answers that speak for themselves. 23 notarized?
24 BY MS. DOPPELT: 24 A. I don't remember. I don‘t recall none of
25 25 that.
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Page liiO

Q. Is there a notary who works for your con-inany'll
A. ldon't recall. I mean. I have people working

for me. but -- but I don't. recall.

Q. Did you submit any notarized answers to the

interrogatories ever‘.J
A. [don't n I don‘t recall.

Q. Do you know when you served the answers to the
interrogatories?

A. I don't know. Probably the date up there. but
I don't recall the exact -= exact date.

Q. IfI told you that you didn't serve ansWers to

interrogatories until a motion was filed to compel you

to serve answers. does that refresh your recollection“?

A. No. I don't recall anything.

Q. Did you refuse to answer these interrogatories

until a motion was filed to compel you (0 do so?

A. [did not refuse anything. but [don't recall

anything else. i never reiused anything.
Q. New. this is still in Exhibit 7. which is the

interrogatories to you.
A. Sure.

Q. And these were also served on February It].
2020. Correct?

A. That's the date that's up there. lean set: it'

up there. February ID. 1020.

Page l5l

Q. To your lawyer?
A. Sure. I see his name up there.

Q. Okay. And is there any reason you refused to
answer these on time"?

A. I never —-

MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection.
Go ahead.

BY MS. DOPPELT:

Q. You can answer.
A. I never requed. so I don‘l Itnow.

Q. Hang on. I seem to be missing an exhibit
here. Well...

MR. WENGROVSKY‘. Which one are you looking
l'or'l'

MS. DOPPEL’T‘: l9.

THE. WITNESS: It's right there.
MS. DDPPELT: No. That's 2.0.

MR. WENGROVSKY: About five doWn from where

you are. It's out of order.
MS. DDPPELT: Oh. sorry. Thank you. Thanks.

Mr. Wengrovsky.
BY MS. DOPPELT:

Q. Okay. Let me show you what's been identified
as Exhibit [9.

(Petitioner's Exhibit t9 was marked for

Page ISE

l identification.)
2 BY MS. DOFPELT:

3 Q. This is titled Registrant's AnsWers to First

4 [nterrogatorie5.

5 I‘ll show it to you and ask you if you've ever
6 seen this before?

7 A. Ithink I did.

8 Q. Do you know when you saw them?
9 A. No. I don't recall.

to Q. Okay. Did you write any answers to these

I t interrogatories?
12 A. I don't recall.

I3 Q. Do you know how these interrogatories got
I4 answered?

IS A. i don't recall.

to Q. Okay. We're still on Exhibit 19. the answers
[7 to interrogatories.

18 Do you see when this is dated?

I9 A. I see .Ittly lst. and that's my signature.
20 That's all I see.

2t Q. Do you know why it was not served until

”.22 July 151'?
23 A. [don't know.

24 Q. Is this your signature?
‘25 A. That's correct.

Page I53

i Q. So you read these answers and you approved
2 them. Correct?
3 A. That's correct.

4 Q. Did you approve the answers —- so number seven

5 asks you: Have you ever visited Badawi's place where he
6 offers his services .. Badawi's place of business? And

7 it asks you when and where. if you did. And your answer

8 is notappiieable.
9 What does that mean?

In A. That means never. [didn't even know he
I I existed.

I? Q. Okay. Why didn't you just say no?

I3 A. Because it's not applicable -- not applicable.

Id. because i -- [never know it even existed until I got

[5 the picture from a Friend of mine.

If: Q. And the interrogatory number eight asks you if

I? you ever met Mr. fladawi and to identify the

IS circumstances. And your answer. again. is not
It) applicable.
20 What does that mean?

2| A. I never heard ofhim existed until I get a

22 picture of" been informed that he is using my logo.

23 Q. So the answer was no. Correct?
24 A. Yeah. I never met him. [don't even know -- I

25 tlon't even know what he looks like. no.
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I Q. Why did you not say no? Don't tell me if your l MS. DOPPELT: Okay.

2 lawyer told you. 2 BY MS. DDFPELT:
3 MR. WENGROVSKY: Objection. Move on. you 3 Q. All right. Let mejust ask you one or two

4 ulreudy received a revised copy at your request. 4 other things. and I think we're almost done.

5 THE WITNESS: it'sjust a word there. It's 5 Mr. Afaf. how long have you litter! in

6 just :1 word there. English is not my first 6 Pennsylvania?

'7 language. so Ijusr worded it that. 7 A. Probably a year and a half to two.
8 8BY MS. DOPPELT: Q. Do you commute eVery day to Long Island?

9 Q. Okay. Are you auvnre that you filed revised 9 A. No.

It} nnswers to these interrogatories? 10 Q. How often are you in your company office?

I I A. Whatever my lawyer did in the middle. I I A. Probably once :1 week, twice. Depends. I

ll Q. Did you know that revised answers to [1 mean. I don't have specific dates. I mean. how many

l3 interrogatories were served? [3 times I have to be there just depends.
14 A. I believe. ldon't remember. but I believe M Q. Yeah. I'm sorry. because this is not a normal

t5 so. So whatever he does. it -. it‘s fine. [5 time. you know. People aren't. going to work the same

In Q. Did you prepare revised answers? [6 way as they once did.
I7 A. I believe so. I don't recall. We tulle and —— 17 When we‘re not in quarantine. were you going

l8 no. He's my lawyer. so client. We rail: :1 lot. but I [8 to your office more often?
|9 don't know specific sniff each time we talk. 19 A. Correct. Yes.

20 Q. Do you know what was changed in the revised 20 Q. How long does it take you to commute?

Zl inten‘ogetory answers”.l '2] A. Depends -- depends when I‘m arriving.
22 A. I don't remember. 22 Q. Are you a commercial pilot in addition to

13 Q. Is this your signature on the lost page of 23 Afaf Aviation?
24 these? 24 A. That's correct. yen.

25 A. That's correct. 25 Q. Who do you work for?

Page lift Pnge IS?

I Q. And these were served a little over a week l A. United.

2 ago. Correct? 2 Q. I'm sorry?
3 A. July 15th. That's correct. 3 A. United.

4 Q. But you don't remember doing this? 4 Q. United Airlines?
5 A. I don't remember what's the details. I 5 A. Correct. Yes.

6 remember things going on out! doing. it. but I don’t know. 6 Q. What do you do for United Airlines?

7 I don't remember the wording on the stuff. because 7 A. Fly on aircraft that carries passengers.

8 there's a lot going on in my hend; so... 8 Q. Full time?

9 Q. Okay. And your unswers to these 9 A. Correct. Yes.

It) interrogatories were never notarized. Correct? [0 Q. Do you receive a salary From United Airlines?
l I A. i don‘t recall. I I A. Correct.

:2 Q. Okay. ll Q. Are you currently flying or are you on
l3 MS. DOPFELT: May be all 1 have. Just give me [3 furlou It?

l4 a few minutes to check my notes. I4 A. Furlough.
IS THE WITNESS: Sure. Can I have a break For [5 Q. When did you start working there?

to ten minutes. [6 A. Probably 2017. 2016. I believe. ZOI 5. end of
l? MS. DDPPELT: Sure. 17 it.

Hi THE WITNESS: Okay. [3 Q. Where are you barred”? What airport are you
l9 MS. DOPPELT: Yeah. That's fine. [9 based from?

20 THE. WITNESS: I'll be right. back in 20 A. Newark.
It to minutes. 2] Q. Do you pay tunes in Pennsylvania?

22 MS. DOPPELT: That's okay. [have not; so... 22 A. Who?

23 {Off the record.) 23 Q. Do you pay Pennsylvania income taxes?

24- MS. DOFPELT: Mr. chgrovsky. are you there? 24 A. Yes, I do.
25 MR. WENGROVSKY: Yes. Thanks. “.25 Q. Where did you live before you lived at your
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I current address in Peru-tartvartin‘tl
‘7

3

fit

A. i lived it: New Tort-r. City.

Q. Where in New York City?

It. Queens. Queens -- ll'lwii til the time in Queens

5 and then in Lultglslartdtuu. And Funningtlttlt‘.

6 Longlrtlautl.
T Q. You said you were currently studying, for your

8 ntaater'a degree?
9

II)

II

I!
i3

A. That's Currant.

Q. What's itin‘:l
A. Aeronautics.

Q. When will you he finished?

A. Idnrt't Itnnw. It depends on the academy. It

I4 depends on how fast they pay and how much difiettunt they

I3 give me.
I5

I?

I8
l9

2!)

2t

22

13

24

25

omuaweauw—n

u.__._.__....._.___ H—Gtsoo-etmmewm—c
UlleIJl-JJib-l

Q. Okay.
MS. DOPPELT: [don't think I have anything

Further,

Mr. Wcagrovaky do you have any
crmfi-eaamination'.’

MR. WENGRDVSKV: No erosa—ettun‘titwtrna.

MS. DDPPELT: Okay. Mr. At‘at'. since you say

you didn‘t ever participate in a deposition
before .. and I see Ms. Stahhen is back on here.

Page I59

Ms. Stuhhcn. why don't you explain to Mr. Mal
the options.

Tt-IE REPORTER: tart It‘ you want to read or

waive the transcript it' it's ever ordered.

MS. DOPPt—IL’I“. Okay. Mr. mar. what Site's

letting you is you have an opportunity. ii’wu order

this lmltficrinl ._ lititl‘s. you know, It prinldd copy

of your testimony. you could read it and sign it.

or you can not bother with that. That's called

waiving.

What is your prct'err.-ra:t.".J
THE WITNESS: I will have to dillCImtI that with

my lawyer.

MS. DOPPELT: Okay. So you're not going to

say now? You don't know now?

MR. WENGROVSK‘I’: I will ordera copy

electronically for our review for accuracy.
THE REPORTER; Did you want this transcribed.

Ms. Doppelt'.’

MS. DOPI'ELT: I'm going to decide at'ter u

I'll tell you tomorrow.
But it we do haw: it lmnscrihed. Mr. AM. do

you want to sign ~— do you want the opportunity to

Sign till
THE WITNESS: I would leave that to my lawyer

H—

CO-s-th-U'In-P-N
iI
I2
I3

I4

i5

I6

I?
l3
I?
It]
It
22
13

25

Page It’tll

MS. DOPPELT: Okay. All right. I guess Wt:

can decide that. So tjusr want to matte sure you

understood that you have two choices: read it and

sign it or assume that Ms. Btubhert didn't make any

mistake-o All right.
THE WITNESS: I appreciate that. Thank you.

MS. DOPPELT: Okay. Well. thank you. then.

for your participation today. and we'll continue to
he in touch with you through your Iawyer.

THE WITNESS: Thank you very much.

(Depuaition concluded at l :33 pm.)

Page tot
CERTIFICATE OF OATH

STATE OF FLORIDA:
COUNTY OF ORANGE:

I. Michelle Sluhhen, Court Reporter and Notary Public.
State oI‘FInrida at Large. certify that MOHCINE AFAF
personally appeared before are by videocottt'etenee and was
duly sworn.
WITNESS my hand and official real this July Ell. IUEII.

' r

‘1‘;{_.lc_‘,ll - t t -_ 'u;t‘ _
IvttLrtL-t..t.e. ruLtuu a I UBBEN. FI’R.
NOTARY PUBLIC AND COURT REPORTER
MY COMMISSION HOG l75392
EXPIRES: MARCH 8,2022

Bonded Through Notary Public
State of Florida
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Gannnwd on: This paga was gannralnd by TSDFI an zuzo-nr-za 21:47:55 EDT
Mark: AFAF AVIATION

A Ti 0

us 5mm "lumbar: 87937713 Appllnnunn Filing M33025. 2013
Data:

US Rngilirauon 5355923 Rnglalmllan Dana: Jan.29. 201a
Numb":

Filed as TEAS Yes Cumntly TEAS Yes
Finn: Plus:

Register: Pn'ncipal

Mark Typo: Survlm Mark
1M5 Common Stains LivEmEGiS‘i‘RATlONiCnncnIiatiuniinvniidaiian Pending

Dulnrlplur:
1nis Isadmrk apgllcnllun nan been ragisluntd wlih lha Diane. hul. II I:
mmnlly undergoing a challangq which may maul! in its removal from the
mglslq‘.

Simon: A. mnmllaiinn uraccodtng is planning an the deammk Dial and Annual Baird. Fur lunher information. 5M WABWE an 111!
Trademark Trial and flannel Board web page.

Sums unto: Nov. 22. 1019

Pubiluilnn Dale: Nov. 13, 201B
 

Mark Information 

Milk Lflllfll AFAF AVIATION
Ellmunll:

Blandlrd Chamnlur Nu
Claim:

Mink flnwlng 3 - Nil ILLUSTRATION DRAWING WHICH INCLUDES WGRBISJI LEWERISIINUMBERI‘SJ
Tm:

Dunnripllun at the man; cannula or Inn warding ‘AFAF" show lhn wording "AVIATION" wilh a dulqn or an alminnn farming part III ihfl lflllflr‘A" In
Mark: 'AFAF‘ and mnfion Ilnns hahind in! plan,

Coiurisj C-lalrnnd: Cam-is nulciaimad as n lnuluru nl lha mum.
DIuInfmar: 'AVIATICIN'

Daslgn Burch 21.0125 - Alrpinnas. paper; Toy Hanna: Bani-is. soy; Dans; Disc. Iuy flying; Jack-in-ihn-bun; Jack: {gnu-nu): Nuisamaims; Fannr
Cadets}: airplanes: Pinball mad‘linos: Rocking horse; fiaulalla wlwois'; Sand bum (tank sand toys: Slat machinns: Video name {manna}:

Ulflnu nan-Ia machines: Yaw: {yo-van); Mada namns

Goods and Services 

Hum:

The {allowing symbulslnwmlu Inal 'Ihu mglsuanunwnnr has amandad inn anudsi'sarvim:
‘ Bracken: [. .1 Indian Mainline! gmflservlcu:
I- Douhfa par-anthem (Li) Idaniw any sondsl'snrvicns nul claimed in a Snellun 15 affidavit at inmlulublilly; nncl
I Mlunm 'H' idnndly nddllinnnl (now) warding in ilm unodalmlw;

Fat: Airplane mam imimiinn

lnlumniional Dill-Pulmary Class LIB Bias-ulna): 100.101.1D1
Classical:

chum-m: ACTIVE

Bulls: 1m

Firsttlna: mm. 2M? Us. in Gommvrw: Jam“. 201? 

Basis Information (Case Level) 

Filed Use: Yes GumnllyUn: Va:
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FIIod ITU: No Curranfly lTLI: No

Fllmi “D: No IfharlorIII)I “E; ND

Fllod ME: N0 Currently EBA: N0

FIIM! “A: No Curmnily No Bills: No

Fllod No Eula: Nu 

Current Ownergsg Information

Owner Name: AFAF AVIATION

Owner Addmoo: 3327 Math strut. EFL
Flushing. NEW YORK UNITED STATES 11354

Lognl Enllty Typo: LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY soon or (:00an NEW YORK
when: Organlzod:

Attornq/Corrosgoodence InformafiOn

mummy of Roma-II - None

Cnmlpundanl

 

Comopondlnl TODD WENGROVSKY
NlmoI'Addrul: LAW OFFICES OF TODD WENGRUVSKY PLLC

255 SDUTI‘IFIELD ROAD BOX 555
CALVERTDN. NEW YORK UNITED STATES 11933

Phone: 331-?2?-3400

Dumoauu Ropraoonlafiuo -Not Found

Prosecution Histog

 

 

Dal: Omfloflon :3me

Nov. 22, 2019 CANCELLATION INSTITUTED NO. 959990 72319
Jan. 29. 2910 REGISTERED-PRINCIPAL REGISTER

Nov. 13, 2013 OFFICIAL GAZETTE PUBLICATION CONFIRMATION E-MAILEO
Nov. 13. 291 B PUBLISHED FDR OPPOSITION

OcI. 2-1. 2010 NOTIFICATION OF NOTICE OF PUBLICATION EMAILED

Odr (III‘ 2018 LAW OFFICE PUBLICATION REVIEW COMPLETED 68121
0:11. on. 2010 ASSIGNED TO LIE 66121

Sep. 20. 2015 APPROVED FOR PUB - PRINCIPAL REGISTER
Son. 2!). 2018 EKAMINER'S AMENDMENT ENTERED 03308

Sep. 20. 2010 NOTIFICATION OF EXAMINERS AMENDMENT E-MAIIED 5328
Sep. an. 2015 ENAMINERS AMENDMENT EMAILED 0328

Sep. 20. 2010 EXAMINERS AMENDMENT vWRITI'EN 33170

Sap. 17. 2018 ASSIGNED TO EXAMINER 33170
Jun. 05. 2010 NOTICE OF DESIGN SEARCH CODE E-MAILED

Jun. 04. 2015 NEW APPLICATION OFFICE SUPPLIED DATA ENTERED IN TEAM

May 30. 2013 NEW APPLICATION ENTERED IN TRAM

TM Staff and Location Information

TM Sta" In'IonnaIIan - Mono
Pllo Locallon

Currant Locallnn: PUBLICATION AND ISSUE SECTION 0an lo Locallon: Jan. 29. 2019

________h£mmgs____

Summary
Number of ‘I

Prue-ammo: 

Typo of Procoodlng: CanooHoflon 
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Procoodlna 93072819 FIIIng halo: JuIDZ. 2021.1

 

Numhnn

313ml: Pending sum Dale: Jul as. am

Inlnrloculary MIKE WEBSTER
Afldmlr:

Madam

Name: Mail Mlnllnn

Camupnndam TODD WENGFIGVEKY
Addman: LAW OFFICES OF TODD WENGFIDVSKY FLLC

$65 SOUTHFIELD ROAD 30% 555
CALVERTOM N? UNITED STATES ‘ 1193:

comapnndlnl :- mnmcrflmggflmm
mull:

Ame-1:101:11 marks

finial luglllmdnn
"m Appllmflon 5M“ Number Numhlt

AFAF AVIATION CancellalIfln Pandlng $937115 5865928
Plllnllflm

Name: Badnwi Aviafln'n. LLB

newswondanl AVA K DOPPELT
Address: ALLEN {WEB DOPPELT 8. GILOHRIST PA

255 SOUTH ORANGE AVENUE SUITE Idfll
ORLANDO FL UNITED STATES . 31801

Commandant w- adaggallfiguegdgermm . mmdri um I land mam

mull:
unmanned mm

lelwuon
MIMI Appllmlon 511mm Stu-III Numhr Number

SEE ATTACHED IMAGE

Pmuwflnn HMcu-y

Enw Number _ngtanr Tun! Bah Duo mu:
1 FILED AND FEE NW 22. 2019

2 NOTICE AND TRIAL DATES SENT: ANSWER DUE: NW 22. 2019 Jan 01. 2020

3 INSTI'I'UTED Nov 22. 2519
4 ANSWER Dac11.2D19

5 F MOT TO COMPEL DISCOVERY Jun ‘IT. 21120

a EUSP PEND DISP OF OUTSTHDNG MOT Jun 23, 21.1211
1' D OPP-RESP TD MOTION Jul 02. 109.0
E PROCEEDINGS RESUMED Jul 05. 2020
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Under lI'lL" Paperwork Reduction Act of I995 no persons mu Inquirutl In [L'SPDIILI to :1 collection or infitmnuinn unit-J‘s I1 displays: 11 valid OMB culllml numlm‘.

Trademark/Service Mark Application, Principal Register

TEAS Plus Application

Serial Number: 8??!7713

Filing Dole: [15/263018

NOTE: Damflalds with the "' an: maudfltmj under TEAS Plus. The wording "{{fapplicablel " appears where ”Infield is only mandatory
under the facir 6|me particular application.

The table below presents the data as Entered.

TEAS l’lus YES

MARK INFORJWATION

“MARK \\TlCRS\EKPORTI?\IMAGEOU'I' INI'I “I'llII’IgI-IWISI‘tmlh
W

'SPECIM. FORM YES

USP‘I‘D-GENERATED IMAGE NO

LITEIML ELEMENT AFAF AVIATION

'COLOII MARK N0

‘CULDIIISI CLAIMED
IIIIppIleIIL'I

gfifisgfifggfiflfinfiarfig Th: mark consists of a plant: with the: norm: "AFAF AVIATION".
PIXEL COUNT Accnm'AuLE YES I

Plxlst. COUNT 513 x 440

REGISTER Principal

APPLICANT INFORMATION

‘OWNER 0!" MARK AFAF AVIATION

*S'rnEET 3327 I491!) sum-cl. 2FL

‘CITY Flushing

Ialtirrlvsd for U5. applicant-n New York

'COUN'I‘RY United Slams _

‘ZIPI'FOSTAL CODE 1 1354
(Requln-d tor 115.com] ccrlnlnimenmtiuuuladdrmul _ . . _

inoma 63 passport:

EMAIL ADDRESS XXXX

AUTHORIZED TO COMMUNICATE VIA EMAIL YES

LEGAL ENTITY INFORMATION

EXHIBIT 11



'TYI’I!

“ STATEIEOIJNTRV WHERE LEGALLY
ORGANIZED

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

New York

GOODS ANDIOR SERVICES AND BASIS INFORMATION

‘ INTERNA'J'IONAL CLAES

‘ IDENTIFICATION

‘ FILING BASIS

FIRST USE ANYWHERE DATE

FIRST USE IN COMMERCE DATE

SPECIMEN FILE NAMEISI

ORIGINAL I'DI" FILE

CDNVER’I‘ED I'IJF FILEISJ
(I page}

SPECIMEN DESCRIPTION

ADDITIONAL STATEMENTS SECTION

“TRANSLA‘I'IDN
(If appIImltlt!)

"I'RANSLI'I'BIIATION
IIInppIIwhch

' CLAIMED PRIOR REGISTRATION
IIIuppllunltla)

‘CONEENT INAMEJ‘IJKENESSI
(lfnpplluultlul

CONSENT FILE NAMEISI

ORIGINAL ['le FILE

CONVER'I’ED I'm" I’ILI'IISI
(I page!

‘ CONCURRENT USE CLAIM
IiInpplimhlt)

CORRESPONDENCE INFORMATION

‘NAME

trams: NAME

imman-

*CI’I'Y

’S'I'A‘I'E

(Ruinlmd l'ur U5. ntldrmm

'COUNTRV

"ZII'I'I’OS‘I'AL CODE

PHONE

"' EMAIL ADDRESS

"AUTHORIZEII ‘I'O COMMUNICATE VIA EMAIL

FEE INFORMATION I

[Ml

Airplane flight instruction

SECTION Ha)

Al least as early as UIIMIZOIT

At least as: early as Ol/CHIJ'III l7

:lfuftlvinlittns mu.SPEII-TMUEUI "12-20 I 3052522035” 94093 .   

\ITICRSIEXPORT I “IMAGEOUTI 7\379\377\879377 lfl'w‘nl I‘tF'I'KIIlIUfi JI’G

scru-unshot ot'thc AFAF Aviation website with tltt: applied for mark in use as a
logo

The name“), portrait“), andfor signaturcts) shown in tltt: mark identifies
Multcinc Afar. whose cunscnt(s) to register is made. ul‘ record.

con-sun LTAJUZUI IVE-EZOJSOIIH . urzl :tvintinnmcy 1dr

\YI'ICRS'IEXPOR'I’I flIMAGEOUTI 7\379fl?1\879377 lIIIx n1! l\FI'KIJI}U4.JPG

   

AFAF AVIATION

AFAF AVIATION

3327 l49th street. EFL.

Flushing

New York

United States:

I I354

631—355-8573

iIIyal'aI@gm:tiIvcum‘. notifications@tmdcmnrkcnginu.cum

Yes

EXHIBIT 11



APPLICATION FILING OPTION TEAS FIUS

NUMBER or CLASSES I

FEE PER CLASS 225

"TOTAL Mil: mm 225

SIGNATURE INFORMATION

. SIGNATURE anhcine Afar!

'- HIGNATDRY'S NAME Moltciuc Afal'

v SIGNA’I'ORY'S Posrrmn Owner

SIGNA'I'OIW‘S PHONE NUMBER 63 I 4155-8618

‘ DA’l'l-JSIGNED 05i26l'10l3

EXHIBIT 11



Under its: Pti'flulwuth‘. t-tmtuetinn Act or IWS ou permits are tetra-ted to respond In it Culleelintl ut' ittrortmttintt unless it displays at Vililtl 0MB t'nttunl murmur.

TrademarkIService Marl: Application. Principal Register

TEAS Plus Application

Serial Number: 37937713

Filing Date: 092612018
To the Commissioner for Trademarks:

MARK: AFAF AVIATION {stylized audio: with design. see mag)

The mark in your application is AFAF AVIr'lTION.
The applicant is not claiming color as a feature oftlto math. The mark consists of :1 plane with the name "AFAF AVIATION".
The applicant. AFAF AVIATION. it limited liability company legally organized under the laws of New York. having an address of

3327 I491“! Street. EFL

Flushing. New York “354
United States

63 I—SSS-Sfiifliphonc]
XXXX

requests registration of tlte lradentttridserviee mark identified above in the United States Patent and Trademark Office on the Principal Register
established by the Act ofluly 5. I946 (I5 UAS.C. Section 1051 El Seq.]. its amended, for the following:

For specific filing basis information for ouch item. you must View the display Within the Input Table.
Intemationu] Class 04]; Airplane flight instruction

Use in Commeme: The applicant is using the marl: in commerce on or in connection with the identified goods/services. The applicant attaches. or
will later submit. one specimen as :t JPGIPDF image file showing the mark as used in commerce on or in connection with any item in the class of
listed goodsiscrvlces. regardless of whether the mark itself is. in the standard character fortnat or is a stylized or design mark. The specimen image
file may he in color. and the image. must be in color if color is being claimed as a feature M II": mark

In International Class 04 I. the mark was first used by the applicant or the applicant‘s related company or licensee predecessor in interest at least
as early as OIIOtIt‘ZOl'i, and I'irsl used in commerce at least as curly its DUO-1120”. and is now in use in such commerce. The applicant is-
submitting nneiur more) specimenis) showing the marl: as used in commerce on or in connection with any item in the class of listed
goodst‘scrvices. consisting of sin) screenshot ol‘ the AFAF Aviation website with the applied for marl: in use as a logo.

Origin-til I'm? file:
é'l’lillvifijlfli'll I‘ll-“Illiiflfilfli'lflfill Il-lUilj
meerted PDF fileisi II page]
S mcitnett Filel

. ttl'nl'oviot' ts “Lid"   

Hornets). I’m-trams), Slgttotureis) of individualist

The numclt‘t). portt'uilts). andlor signelurets) shown in the mark identifies Moheine Mal. whose consenttsl "3 Estate? 35 made Ur record.

Original FDF file:
- (.76302il1 Nil-32035 Ills} _ slinl‘u‘aiitlitlt‘lsfltfldl'

Converted PM" flielsli | page)
Consent Fiicl

  

The applicant's current Correspondence Information:
AFAF AVIATION

AFAF AVIATION
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3327 hit-hit street. ZFL

Flushing. New York l I354

63 I -HS§—lio“ltitpttone]

tflyafof@gmnil.corn:notil'ioetions@tratlelmirltengine.eom {authorized}
E-mttil Authorization: l authorize the USPTCI to send email correspondence eunceniing the application in the applicant or the applicant's
attorney, or the nppltennt's dementia: representative: atllte e-rnail address provided in this application. l untlersttlntl that It valid e-mnii address
must be maintained and that the applicant or the applicant's attorney must file the relevant subsequent application-related submissions via the

Tmttemat-tt Electronic Application System (TEAS). Failure to do so will result in the loss or TEAS Plus status and a requirement to submit an
additional processing fee of$l25 per international class of goods/services.

A fee payment in the amount offitflfi has been submitted with the application. representing payment for l classiest).

Declaration

Basis:

"the applicant is filing the application based on use in commerce under [5 U.S.C. ii 105”“):

o The signatory believes that the applicant In the owner at" the trademaridservice marl: songltt it? bi: registered;
a The mark is in use in commerce on or in connection with the goodslserviees in the application;

it The speeimentsl shows the tnarlt its used on or in connection with the goodsfserviees in the application; and
0 To the best of the signatery's knowledge um] belief. the facts recited in in: application are accurate.

ANDI‘OR

If the applicant is filing the application based on an intent to use the mark in commerce antler 15 USC- § 105mm ll llZfildl.
nntii'or § lllfileli

- The signatory believes that the applicant is entitled to use the mark in commerce:
- The applicant has .1 bean tint: intention to ten: llte marl: in commerce on or in connection with the sends/services in the

application: and
. To the best of the slgtitttnry's kitoWIedge and belief, the fools recited in the application are neettrnte.

To the best of the signatory't'. knowledge and belief. no other tztersttins1 except. if applicable. coneurrenl users. have the right to List: the
marl: in commerce. either in the identical form or in such nettr resemblance as to he likely. when used on or in connection with the

goods/services of such other persons. to cause confusion or mistake. Dr to deceive.

To the best of the signatory't knowledge. information. and belief. formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances. the
allegations and other [notunl contentions made above have. ovidenliary support.

The signatory being warned that willful false statements and the like are punishable by fine 01' itfipl'l-‘ifllttttflfli. 0" hoth. under '3 U-S-C- §
1001. and that such willful l’alse statements and the like may junnatrdizu the validity ut Hm application (If submissiwl Or any rcsiitrutiun

resulting therefrom. tleelares that all statements made of Itisfher own knowledge are true and all statements made on information and
belief are believed to he true.

Declaration Signature

Sigttotutie; IMnhcirte Afrtft' Date: USIIGIEDI l-i
Stgttntory's Nome: Molteine Afttf
Signatory's Position: Owner
Signtttory's Phone Nutnhcr: 631 4355-3673
Payment Sale Number: 370377l3
Paymoot Accounting Date: DSHWZOI 8

Serial Number: 379377 I 8

Internet TransmiSsion Date: Sat May 16 22: ”:43 EDT 2018

TEAS Stamp: USP'l'UIFI'K-XK.XX.XXK.XXK-2lll 8052622131309
3593-87937? l 3-610273eeb3d4l 84303ef630369
BthShSSfi'Jb tSEchdZfiSecefl‘J N—ldiie I 01350121:
-CC -8 395-20 1 80525220350 l 04093
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Statement of Consth

I. MOHCINE AFAF, consent to ihe use and registration of my name, pseudonym or stage name with
{his trademark. application. Electronically approved: IMOHCINE AFAF!
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Exhibit F



UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

__-___-_____.__--__--_.fiHHHH.________________x

BADAW’I AVIATION, LLC.

Petitioner. REGISTRANT'S

RESPONSES TO

PETITIONER’S

-sgainst— REQUESTS FOR
PRODUCTION

AFAF AVIATION, Cancellation No. 92072819

Registrant.
.___-..____._-_.--_.__.__..._.__".._,._,_._....._.___x

Registrant, in response to PetitiOner's Requests for Production. states as follows:

RESPONSES TO REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION

D cu e t e uestNo.l

All documents referring or relating to your selection ofRcsmndent’s Mark, including

but not limited to all trademark, business name and search engine searches, and any

design sources consulted.

Essences;

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection, Registrant responds as follows:

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

n t I

All documents referring or relating to your adaption of Respondent's Mark.

EXHIBIT 9



issuance;

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection, Registrant responds as follows:

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents responsive to this rennest

that are within its custody or control.

roument Beggest N9. 3

All documents referring or relating to your use of ReSpondent's Mark in connection

with your services since the beginning of your business.

BS 36:

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection. Registrant responds as follow:

Registrant will produce any relevant. non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

Document Reguest No. 4

All non-privileged documents referring to your application For federal trademark

registration for Respondent's Mark.

Beacons;

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection, Registrant reopends as Follows:

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

2
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WM;

All documents exchanged between you and the United States Patent and Trademark

Office relating to Respondent’s Mark.

tiresome;

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents reoponsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

OCH B o [18

Documents sufficient to identify all products andfor services bearing Respondent's

Merit.

BegE0! [53:

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

Document Reguest No. 7

All documents referring to and/or evidencing the dates of first use anywhere and the

dates of first use in commerce of Respondent‘s Mark on or in connection with your

services.

Room

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection, Registrant responds as follows:

3
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Registrant will produce any relevant. non-privileged documents responsiVe to this request

that are within its custody or control.

o r r

Documents sufficient to identify the date you first provided your services anywhere and

in interstate commerce.

flames;

Registrant will produce. relevant, non'privileged documents responsive to this request that are

within its custody or control.

WW

Samples of all ofyour advertisements bearing Respondent's Mark. including but not

limited to signs, labels, websites. domain names, and articles.

BEEEDI!SE:

Registrant will produce relevant. non-privileged documents responsive to this request that are

within its custodyI or control.

Document Regugst No. it)

All documents evidencing the dates of use of your advertisements bearing

Respondent‘s Mark.

HSB'

Registrant objects to this Request as Overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection. Registrant responds as follows:

4
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Registrant will produce any releVant. non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

ocue e to]

Samples showing each of your services.

EBSEOHSB:

Registrant will produce relevant, non-privileged documents responsive to this request that are

within its custody or control.

OCH 1: [I i.

Samples of your flight instruction advertisements.

Ramses;

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents reSponsive to this request

that are within its custody or control-

flocumegt Reguest No= [3

All documents referring to or showing the actual distribution and/or channels of trade

for your services.

Rascals;

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection. Registrant responds as follows:

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

i
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Wale

Documents sufficient to evidence all the physical andior online Iocation(s) where your

services are provided.

list-noose“.

Registrant will produce any relevant, non~privileged decuments responsive to this request

the! are within its custody or control.

at: E ‘it

Documents sufficient to evidence all the physical andlor online location(s] where your

services are sold andfor offered fer sale.

ES 5 '

Registrant will produce any relevant. non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

Document Reguegt No. 16

Documents sufficient to evidence the amount of“gross sales of‘yoor services From the

beginning of your business to the present

Emma;

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

6
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G ITIB B i

Documents sufficient to identify the prices at which you currently offer or intend to

offer your services.

Biomass;

Registrant will produce relevant. non—privileged documents responsive to this request that are

within its custody or control.

on e e. .1

All documents referring to or showing the actual and/or intended customers for your

sentines.

militias

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection, Registrant responds as follows:

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

Document lie-guest No. [9

All documents showing any trade shows in which you have participated.

Biomass;

Registrant will produce any relevant, nonvprivileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

7
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eume t e t o.

All docurnents referring to the amount ofadvertising expenditures and/or promotional

fees you have spent for Respondent's Mark.

BS 53‘

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection, Registrant reSponds as follows:

Registrant will produce any relevant, non—privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

angment Reguest No, 2|

All business plans and drafts of business plans in which Respondent's Mark is

mentioned or referenced.

Reasons;

None.

Document Mguegt [119: 22

All documents referring to the distinctiveness and/or reputation ofReSpondent's Mark.

e HS ‘

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection, Registrant responds as follows:

Registrant will produce any relevant, noniprivileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

8
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u t t 2

All dacurnems relating, directly or indirectly, to Petitioner. Petitioner’s services.

Petitioner‘s related entities, Petitioner’s officers. empioyees, or contractors. or

Petitioner's Mark.

Beaming

None.

WW

Ali documents referring to internet domain names andlnr websites containing

Respondent‘s Mark of which you are aware.

Beaming;

Registrant will produce any relevant, nun—privileged dncurnents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

Docgment Reguegt No. 25

All documents referring to lnternct ad words, keywords. metalags, or other lntemet

advertising tnuls containing the word "BADAW'I" that are used andfcr were purchased

by you.

Bananas;

None.

9
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on t e or: t o 26

All documents referring to agreements, contacts, assignments. transfers, sales, or

licenses involving Respondent's Mark.

Sesame;

None.

Qgeumen; figgyggt HQ, 22

Ali documents sent or received by you from third parties regarding your alleged rights

in your mark, and all responses and replies thereto.

1158:

None.

Dggument Request fig. 23

All documents and cor-resoundencc referring to any actual or threatened litigation or

any other legal 0: administrative proceedings to which you have been a party referring.

to use of ResPondent's Mark (except for this Canoelation).

None.

l0
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cu e etNo.2

Your corporate records showing meetings of members. shareholders or directors,

resolutions passed, and any other corporate activity referring to Reapondent's Mark

andfor to this Canceiation. including your “corporate book" of minutes and the like.

8 SB:

None.

roumen; Request fig, 30

Your executed operating agreement and any attachments thereto.

fineness;

Registrant will produce any relevant, non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

Document Reguest No. 31

All documents referring to andfor evidencing any periods of non-use andfor suspension

of the use of Respondent's mark in connection with any ofyour services.

Response;

None.

on e uet 2

All documents you intend to use to support your position in this Cancelstiou action.

ll
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e e'

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection, Registrant responds as follows:

Registrant will produce any reteVant, non-privileged documents responsiVe to this request

that are within its custody or control.

c 6 Elm!

All documents referred to in, or used by you to previde, your Responses to Petitioner’s

First Set of Interrogatories to Respondent

Response;

Registrant objects to this Request as overly broad and overly burdensome. Subject to and

without waiving the objection, Registrant responds as follows:

Registrant will produce any relevant. non-privileged documents responsive to this request

that are within its custody or control.

Dated: Cachrton, New York

April 6, 2020

Is! Todd Wengovsky

Todd Wengrovsky - TW4823
Law Offices of

Todd Wengrovsky, PLLC.

235 Southfield Road, Box 535

Calverton, NY 1 1933

Tel (63 I) 721-3400

Attorneyfor Registrant

l2
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Ava Doeflelt

From: Law Offices of Todd Wengrousky. PLLC. <contact@twlegal.com>
Sent: Tuesday, April 7. 2020 9:37 AM

To: Ava Doppelt

Ce: Michel Rodriguez

Subject: [EXTERNAL] [SPF FAIL] RE' Badawi Aviation v. AFAF Aviation, Cancellation No. 92072819

AfiathmEMS: Afaf AViflliOfl Documentspdf: Afaf‘l'iAB - Registrant's Responses to RPDs.pdf

Ava:

Attached please find Registrant's Responses to Req uesls for Production. as well as a .pdf file of
documents. Because the documents include proof of usage, it is requested that you review some

and contact me to explore settlement possibilities before continuing in the Proceeding. Thank your

Todd Wengrovsky

Law Offices of Todd Wengrovsky. PLLC.
235 Southfield Road. Box 585

Celuerton, NY 11933

Tel (631) 727—3400

Fax (631) 727-3401

contact@twlegal.com

tiger 553”"6‘1 by ME and confirmed virueree.
'Iumuguu
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fifififi
I'vICJ H GIN E if'tFfi‘vF

Federal Flight Deelt Officer

Airline Transpefi Pilot

FAA certified flight instructor: CFl-A. CFITII MEI AGI 8. IS]
AFAF AVIATION

1100 New Highway. Farmingdale. NY 11735
Jilin-=1 r-lili'sli £38 .35.. '

'T'SEIII' i Ilfi'ri :-il;55-HriTi‘.

lungafafavialiogegm

M hein fa viaIiggegrn

lilyalgififigmaileom

www.malaviationeom

To whom it may concern,

I, Melteine Al'ai'. testifying that I have been using AFAF AVIATION LOGO lIS HI1DWI‘IbEIO\\' since
March 01' 2013.

/‘4FAF
AVIATION

I designed the iego with the hell: eFtIie agency US TV Repairs. I came out with the Ideal ul'a

plane (EMB I45) and my Ina! name. EBM I45 It‘s my dream Jet to Fly. Soon Enough [t was my First
jet to fly as an airline pilot for United Express.
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Little of my Background.

I haw: an associate degree in Graphic Design from Eacole Supericure Des Art Visual. And a

Bachelor‘s degree in Aviation Administration from State University ofNew York at Fannhtgdale

History,r of the LoGO

With a rich background of design. I draw and describe the Idea to Mr. Homer: the owner of

the agency that put my logo together. With the help of Mr. Hopton He was able to put the logo
together as well made a Website for me Using the same logo described Above with all color in it.
Unfortunately Later the website Been hacked and destroyed and i had to make a new Website

through another agency “DESIGNED BY SUNNY AT DESIGNSMlTl-IAGENCYCOM" Using
same logo described above.

I have attached Pictures of drawing that I made myself as Well as I attached

a letter from the agency that made my LcGo.
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aflvmapairs

jgyL
/“44FAF

«\iNT/Qrw
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First time use of LOGO, [shared it on my personal Facebook Account.
. _ L _ a . 4 1 n - t] I-

Mahmud.- Al."

Fuglu Trmrmu HINIHUIHI‘H
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ov‘v .w -.; a
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a I‘ v (3"...

/ 4FAF 2»
AVIATION -.. "-1 —--r«TN

2.5-” " .

 

From March 20 IS till Januaty ot'2017. I was doing Busi11e$s with Flight School named ”

positive rate gear up“. Marcris bueltanan is the owner. That time I was an Aviation Student. I used to

recruit Students to Mnreris using my Business AFAF AVIATION and us well its my logo In it.

in return Marcris Awarded me a Free Flight hour so that way I could build flight time towards

my Career in Aviation,

At that time AFAF AVIATION Was not incorporated nor been advertised on social Media Due

a republic airport where the flight school is based at. They are strictly against advertising on social

media at least the business has been incorporated and insured and Inwe been holding a eonmterciol

permit to operate in the promises.

I have attached a letter from Marcris Buchanan the owner of Positive rate

gear up
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t‘rlnreris Buchanan

333 Midwond St Apt (11

Brnuklyn. NY ”125

nusfivytlgrtm writ-gttilluml
l’hnnu: 9 I 7-94 1 dill-ll

 

'l'n whum it may Concern ed in Republic

1. marcris hnulntmni :tirline Film and tiwner ut'l'os'ttive
Airpurt Lulu.r Island NY ”735.
I “I‘ll 'l'estil‘ying that Mnhulne Al‘nl‘nsetl the Logo :thtwe mt his
2|” 31 ll: Lngn contained batch and blue eulnrs. Multcine Afitl‘wits

:trrl him a fret: flight less-nits in return litt' recruiting students I‘ur nu: while In: t
York 1“ I-‘ttnningtlttle as Well as L‘IUHI'IIHL: and maintaining the pltntes itt my

University with :t Buchelur‘s degree in Aviatiun .-\r.ltninistr:tttun. 1":
:tn twu years. Therefore l taught him

:trly 1017 Mr. Muhreine Al'al'
Luge tnentiunetl alien; 1

Rate gear L'p l-‘Iight Seltuul. Uufi

Business cards starting from March ut'
:t student in my Flight sclmnl. [used

In llw was :t full time student
:11 Stun.- University of New

Flight sehunl. .-\l'ter he Cinttlttutu
became it full time a night instruetur in my flight sultnul t'or inure tlt
how in manage .1 flight sultunl and how tu run :1 business in general. ii

is Flight sul'tuttl with finite uI‘NT :tt [‘tlnttingtlule Using same
it business hy giving hitn it dealt within my flight sehuul seltuul to run

and kal growing.

incorporated h
Assisted Mancini: to start his un-
his uwn. Linc ZDI 7 he upened his nwn nt'l'tue

generous. and helping others. He Ints it very gnarl reputatiun within
Mnheine Atitl‘is it very honest mam. him at republic nintnn where his business is [outlet-L.
the :tvmtiun industry. everyone kmm-s

Sincerely yours.

Mairerls Buchanan
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Mohcine Afal

Flight Training ConSLiitant

AFAF AVIATION

EXHIBIT 22



 

l’unilivc Rmus (iuur 13p
HIM Nu“ Hiylnmy

I-‘mminngulu. Mm- E'ulrk 1 I735
:‘t ‘!£1|I"'\‘”'

';-:."_.-I_:\ .5311 
 

ln “hum is muy concur“:
L": .II 53.1.";11'

Marni»final-11mm.(Inn-.rW-chhw. Nib-heir“: ,-\l‘:::'. and Luih‘ Mumam- mu: L'utglu)‘:
Run-a (in! l‘p.

Signage,“ ff”-
.z . ,.——..<...—--

44.,V...._.{..

POSITIVE RATE GEAR UP
I 100 New Hwy

Fanningdaiu NY l ms
(917) 941-604:
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I have also attached other

letters from other witnesses

testifying the use of the LOGO

since 2013
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Badrcddim Messclckn I
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BIIaI Alsayedi

85-16 120th St

Richmondhill. NY 11413

Phone: (646) 209-2009

aiiatalsavemmalmm

T0WHOm It may Cuncarn
pBapublic AII'POI'I.‘LungI 3 [OINsawedl. Aidine Pilolfia'gdFon'riér.‘ Elfiht...Ingnu was Ba 3 _Islam! NW Wm. Momma.ag‘ggh ' 5535;; m5 "fifécilm sgfiiflgfijwumms
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HIM/2020

William Dam Pnrrn

U.wr_-nnnrt, FL 338%
i'lmmi: (6311 5I9-9323
Williamtintnunrrafé! henna-[mitt

Tu whom it may Cuntcrn

i. William H. can Farm, Freelance Flight instructor Based in Republic Airport. Long island. New York.
Wiinus'. that Mancini: Mai used the Loan in! AFAF AVIATION

Willi Calms on his Business cards starting from March of 2013‘ it'lahcine Mai was a student 01 DDSitivE
liata Flight School and after he become flight instructor hi.- start he‘s own Flight school. He also used to
recruit students to cam-t nntl fly at pnsitive rate using his independent fiusiness Cniicd AFAF AVIATION.
Early 20W. Mohcine Incorporated his business and registered with NY as AFAF AVIATION LLC.

Sincerely.
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Seung Suh (JIIZMOZO
9591 Graham St. AptM

Cypress. CA {30630
Phone: t?13)308-5259

stavesmr‘lw.m

To wtm It may Concern

I. Saw; Slam Airline Ptlot and Freelanqe Flight tnatrutt-m Based in Republic Airport. Lang
Island. NMM Wflnflss that Mancini! Nat used It!!! L090 ul‘MFAFAVIATION

 
EXHIBIT 22



Late 2016 I graduated flight training, and beenmc It flight Instructor and II l'eW months later

and incorporated my dream business and paid my due te tlte nit-pert and to all agencies that are

involved in. Since January EDI? I Started heavily advertising on Social media like I'aeebuek and

iltstagmm...clc.

Mich: 20 l S I started the process of registering:r the logo that I worked hard to design. 011

January 29th. 201‘) i was successfillly :tth m register my trademark Legally

wflfifin @tfltfifi [If glue“,Entree mates 33mm mm Efflhtlllafli (Elite: [‘3

5773/44FAF
AVIATION

Reg. Nth 5355.923 .uAt‘ .\'\'I:\:lU.\' txlzwvmtlc LIMIIIEI! I.I.\!|Il.rt't'CUE-:IMM'I[12'- I-Mh Sues. :tI

Real—titercd Jam. 29_ 2019 tn 1.i|~;..\'t-.““lv'nl‘t}.'.IlJS-I

“I“. c! : 4! ll 35! Ill :‘il'lLll: llirl-nlttlmdn'n
, I llL‘il’LfilL man”; In ummtttu- I—:-.'nt=

Service Mark
. _ (h, III1:'. n‘umhh ..| ”I: 'Hflr-liru' 'M‘Al" I'LPL.‘ use t...-r.un:_- ‘,\'u l 't HUD-E‘MIILI I!:'I."'t m:

Prmnflul Register _:. ;Il“:m:‘hmt|fi:f|fltlrlfi:1.:tl:!"_\'Ill '.iI-.\I ' nu] rh emu llx.1ll"“l'll.‘.¢]"ll' :
'.'.. _-|."-‘ H mm: 1.. mg tau-lulu: fight um...- :17. fisllnlmt; "-4! ll-‘m IJ.‘.' mm, M ‘w-nt
'.'\.‘lt'H||(l1‘."

:il'Il hill.ST-"J’Jlll'.I'lLlilllfl-Ih-lfllh
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

In the Matter of Trademark Registration

NO. 5,665,928

Cancellation No. 92072819

Badawi Aviation, LLC,

Petitioner.

vs.

Afaf Aviation, LLC,

Respondent.

/

VIDEOCONFERENCE

DEPOSITION OF: Seung Suh

DATE: Monday, August 10, 2020

TIME: 1:19 p-m. — 1:47 p.m.

TAKEN BY: Petitioner

PLACE: via videoconferenoe

REPORTED BY: Sara Miller, Notary Public

State of Florida

300.275.7991 Orange Legal wwwweritcxmom

A Veritext Company



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Page 17

where I ask questions and Mr- Wengrovsky can ask you

questions as well to see what you know.

A. Please, let's just go with it and I have to

go. I'll answer any questions that's regarding to Afaf.

Okay. not regarding to anything else.

Q. Okay. What did Mr. Afaf tell you when you

called him?

A. Well, I just said, what's going on? And he

said, just answer the questions that they going to do

and don‘t answer anything else but my questions. That's

it.

Q. He told you not to answer any other

questions?

A. No- He didn't tell me anything.

Q. Well, what did he tell you?

A. I don't know. Just...

Q. Okay. Mr. Suh, did.you -— let me show you

what's attached to Exhibit 1 -- it's a little bit

confusing +7 of this subpoena duces tecum which is

called Exhibit 1 of Exhibit 1.

MS. DOPPELT: Ms. Miller, that's the letter.

Thank you.

BY MS. DOPPELT:

Mr. Suh, can you see this letter now?

A. Yes.

800.275.7991 Orange Legal Wwwyerirexmom

A. Veritext Company
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Q. How did that letter come into being?

A. Well, I signed it and mailed it in.

Q. You mailed it?

A. E~mailed it and he printed it out, I guess.

I don't know.

Q. Who wrote this letter?

A. He wrote it. I just signed it and then sent

it in.

Q. Is that your signature? At the bottom, is

that your signature? Mr. Suh?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you sign it?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you read it befiore you sent it back?

A. Well. it's just regarding to the Afaf.

right?

Q. It's right in front of you. You can read it

now if you need a few minutes to remind you what it

says.

A. Yes.

Q. You see the design in the middle that says

Afaf Aviation?

A. Yes, I see it. That's his logo.

Q. How did that get in the letter?

A. Excuse me?

800275.79“ Orange Legal www.mritextcom

A Veritext Company
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

In the Matter of Trademark Registration No.

5,665,928 for the Mark AFAF AVIATION &

Design

Badawi Aviation, LLC,

Petitioner,

-vs- Cancellation No.:

92072819

Afaf Aviation, LLC,

Respondent.

__________________________________________1.;

DATE: August 20, 2020

TIME: 10:38 A.M.

EXAMINATION of a Non—Party

Witness, MARCRIS BUCHANAN, taken by the

Petitioner, pursuant to a Subpoena, held

remotely via video conference, before John

A. Lugo, a Notary Public of the State of

New York.

300.275 .799 I Orange Logs!

A Varitoxt Company

WWw.veritext.com
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9:00 a.m., and the deposition today at

11:00 at 9:05. Those are the two e-mails

that I have from your guys.

Q. Okay, thank you very much.

MS. DOPPELT: can you Show

Mr. Buchanan Exhibit D, page 32.

Q Mr. Buchanan, can you see that?

A. Yes.

Q Can you tell me what that is?

A” This is saying to whom it may

concern, that these people are employed at

Positive Rate Gear Up.

Q. Is that your signature?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you write this letter?

A. Yes.

Q. when did you write it?

A. I can't recall.

Q. Do you know why you wrote it?

A. Because these people wanted

reference ErOm me for either a job or

whatever they were moving on to.

Q. Did you send a copy of this

letter to Mr. Afaf?

lB

800.273.7991 Orange Legal

A Veritext Company

Page 13
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BUCHANAN

A. I don't think I sent it. to him.

I think I gave it to him.

Q. Was that this year?

A. No. it: wasn't this year. I

don't know.

Q. Mr. Buchanan, I'm going to show

you now Exhibit E, which is page 33.

A. Okay.

Q. Can you see that, Mr. Buchanan?

A. Yes-

Q. Can yum tell me what that is?

A. That was a letter that was

written. I think Mohcine told me about

this. I can't remember where we were, but

he told me about this, and he said you can

verify this. So. that was the letter.

Q. What did Mr. Afaf tell you?

A. He just said that somebody had

his logo and he wanted to verify that I was

there when he was starting his logo stuff.

Because he actually started -— I guess he

always wanted to have a flight school, I

don't know, but he asked me all the

information how I started my flight school

19

800.275.7991 Orange Legal

A Veritext Company

Page 19
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BUCHANAN

and I relayed to him how I started it. It

wasn't a big issue.

Q. So, where did the letter come

from?

A. The letter came from my office.

Q. Who wrote it?

A. He wrote it, I signed it.

Q. Mr. Afaf, you mean?

A. Yes, we sat there and discussed

what he was writing and I said okay, I

verified that and that's it.

Q. Was he at your office at the

time?

A. No, I don't think we were in

the office. I can't remember where we

were, but we weren't there. We met up

somewhere when he called me about it.

Q. When was that?

A. I don't know. A year ago. Not

this year. Maybe last year. I think it

was last year sometime.

Q. What did he tell you when you

met?

A. He just said somebody has his

20

800.275.7991 - Orange Legal

A Veritext Company

Page 20
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFDRE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

1n the Matter of Trademark Registration No. 5,665,928

for the Mark AFAF AVIATION d: Design

Bedawi Aviation, LLC,

Petitioner. Cancellation No: 920728 l9
vs.

Afaf Aviation, LLC,

Respondent.
I

PETITIONER’S FIRST REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION TD RESPONDENT

Pursuant to Rule 36, Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and 37 CPR §2.120, Petitioner

Badawi Aviation, LLC C‘Badawi") hereby propounds the following Requests for Admission to

Respondent Afaf Aviation, LLC ("Afel").

INSTRUCTIONS

Afaf is requested to admit or deny the truth of each of the statements of Fact hereinafter

stated. Afaf is instructed that:

1. Each of the matters for which an admission is requested shall be deemed admitted

unless Afaf responds otherwise within thirty (30) days from the date hereof.

2. It' Afat' admits a statement, Afaf shall do so be placing the word "Admit” or

“Admitted" under the statement. If Afaf denies a statement. Afef‘ shall do so be placing the word

“Deny” or “Denied" under the statement and setting forth in detail the basis upon which Afef'

denies each such statement. If Afaf objects to a statement, Afaf shat] do so by writing

EXHIBIT 8



“Objection" under the statement and then setting forth the basis of the objection in sufficient

detail that the TTAB may rule on the objection.

3. Lack of information or knowledge is not the basis for denial unless it is stated that

reasonable but unsuceessfitl inquiry has been made to discover the truth of the statement. It is

also not a basis to deny a statement by claiming that the statement presents a genuine issue of

fact to be determined at trial.

4. If, in response to any statement, it is Afaf‘s position that the statement is true in

part or as to some items but not true in full or as to all items, then answer separately as to each

part or item, admitting those parts which are true and denying those parts not admitted and

explaining why they are denied.

5. To the extent Afar deems all or part of“ any statement contained herein

objectionable, Afaf shall state each part of the statement to which objection is made, and the

specific grounds for the objection.

DEFINITI S

l. The terms “you," “your," or “Respondent" shall mean Afar Aviation, LLC. as

well as any predecessar, successor, division, subsidiary, parent corporation, officer. director,

shareholder, employee, or principal thereof, andJor any attorney or other agent acting on its

behalf.

2. The term "us,” “our.” or “Petitioner” shall mean Badawi Aviation, LLC. as Well

as any predecessor, successor, parent, division, subsidiary, officer, director, shareholder,

employee. or principal thereof, and/or any attorney or other agent acting on its behalf, and

including Flight Ready Aviation, LLC.
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floater
3. The term “Petitioner's Mark" shall mean the mark; ‘ " ‘ ‘ T ' ° " . either in

color or black and white, either with or without the Words, and any mark substantially similar

thereto.

M

4. The terms “Respondent‘s Mark" shall mean the mark mm" , as shown in
US. Registration Number 5,665,928, either in color or black and white, either with or without

the words. and any mark substantially thereto.

5. As used herein. the term “us,“ “out.” or “Badawi” shall mean Badawi Aviation,

LLC, as well as any predecessor, successor, parent. division, subsidiary. officer, director,

shareholder, employee. or principal thereof, andlor any attorney or other agent acting on its

behalf.

EQUESTS FOR ADMISSION

I. Admit that you did not use Respondent's Mark prior to August 20M.

2. Admit that you did not use Respondent’s Mark prior to 2015.

3. Admit that you did not use Keepondent’s Mark prior to 20M.

4. Admit that you did not me Respondent’s Mark prior to 20W.

5. Admit that you did not create the design for Respondent's Mark.

6. Admit that you Were aware of Petitioner's Mark prior to 20 i 7.

7. Admit that you were aware of Petitioner prior to 20W.

8. Admit that Respondent's Mark resembles Petitioner‘s Mari-r.

EXHIBIT 8



9. Admit that the design in Respondent's Mark is substantially [he same as the

design in Petitioner’s Mark.

Dated: February [0, 2020 Respectfiilly submitted,

@110 “a
Ava K. Doppelt. Esq

Allen, Dyer, Dappelt

8:: Gilchrist, PA.

255 South Orange Avenue
Suite MOI

Orlando, Florida 32801
Phone: 407 341-2330

Fax: 407 MI-ZCHB

Altortleyfar Premium:-

BADA WI.4 WA WON, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on. Fcbmary to, 2020, a copy of the foregoing was served
via Email an the following:

Todd Wengrovsky, Esq.

Law Offices ofTodd Wengrovsky, PLLC
235 Southfield Rd. Box 585

Calvcnon. NY l 1933

caniaclfl-ulegal. cam

Attorneyfor Respondent

Ammmnam LLC W1

Michel Rodriguez
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UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

.._-__.---..__--...--.........--..-..--_.---....._--..._-x

BADAWI AVIATION, LLC,

Petitioner, REGISTRANT’S
ANSWERS TO

REQUESTS FOR
ADMISSION

-against-

Proceeding No. 92072819
AFAF AVIATION.

Registrant.
_--__..-.--._..------.._..r....____-___._..._.__..._...._.x

Registrant, in response to Petitioner’s Requests for Admission states, as follows:

1. Denied, see Registrant‘s Responsas to Requests for Production.

2. Denied, see Registrant's Responses to Requests for Produetion.

3. Denied, see Registrant’s Responses to Requests for Production.

4. Denied, see Registrant’s Responses to Requests for Production.

5. Denied, see Registrant’s Responses to Requests for Production.

6. Denied, with the comment. that Registrant teamed of Petitioner and its advertising in

November, 2019.

7. Denied, with the comment that Registrant learned of Petitioner and its advertising in

November, 2019.

8. Denied.

9. Denied.
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Dated: April 7, 2020
Calvelton, New York

Isl Todd Wen vs

Todd Wengrovsky - TW4BZ3
Law Offices of

Todd Wengrovsky, PLLC.

235 Southfield Road, Box 535

(Salvation, NY [1933

Tel (61%|) 727-3400

Atlarneyfar Registrant

2

EXHIBIT 17



Exhibit L



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Page 1

IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

In the Matter of Trademark Registration

No. 5,555,923 for the MARK AFAF AVIATION & DESIGN

BADAWI AVIATION, LLC,

Petitioner,
vs.

Cancellation

AFAF AVIATION, LLc, No. 92072019

Respondent-

/

DEPOSITION OF BADREDDINE MESSELEKA

(Conducted Via Teleconference)

DATE: August 20, 2020

TIME: 9:51 a.m. to 10:32 a.m.

PURSUANT TO: Notice by counsel for Petitioner

for purposes of discovery, use at

trial or such other purposes as

are permitted under the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure

REPORTED BY: Aaron T. Perkins, RMR, CRR, CRC

Notary Public, State of

Florida at Large

Pages 1 to 32

800.275.7991 Orange Legal wwwxcritcxmom

A Veritcxr Company
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Q. Did you sign a letter that Mr. Afaf sent you?

A. No. I wrote the letter. I wrote it, and I

texted it to him.

Q. How do you know what to put in it?

A. I just said what I know about Afaf Aviation.

If you look at the letter, it has only two dates.

That‘s it.

Q. What two dates?

A. 2017 and '13, when he started, you know,

making this business, building this business, and when

he actually opened it. And I only worked for him when

he opened the business, because legally you cannot fly

for someone who does not have a business operating

certificate, you know. It's illegal. I worked for

him ——

Q. What is a business operating certificate?

A. It's like any business. You can't just open a

store and start selling stuff. You have to have a

certificate for that business, right?

Q. Do you mean a corporate registration?

A. I think that's what it's called, yeah-

Q. Okay.

A. You have to have permission from the EPA to be

able to fly people at an airport too, you know.

Q- Do you know when he got that?

800.275.7991 Orange Legal www.veritext.com

A Veritext Company
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A. 2017, because that's when I worked for him.

Q. So you can't teach people how to fly unless

you have that, correct?

A. It's not that you can't teach. You can get a

flight instructor certificate and you can teach people,

but you have to work for someone who has an operating

certificate. You cannot just buy your airplane and

start teaching people how to fly, you know.

Q. Did Mr. Afaf work for somebody who had an

Operating certificate?

A. No- He owned -- he had his own, and he

also -— I think he worked for Positive Rate Gear Up. It

was like flying a —+ there was a flying club in New York

that's called Pesitive Rate Gear Up. I think he worked

for them. They used to work together.

Q. When you worked for him, did he work for them?

A. I think they used to do business together, I

think.

Q. What kind of business did they do together?

A. Flying. And I'm not sure how they were doing,

but, you know, maybe advertising or -_

Q. Was Mr. Afaf in college with you?

A. Yes.

Q. Did he graduate at the same time you did?

A. Yes.

800.275.7991 Orange Legal www.veritext.com

A Veritext Company
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Q. So in 2015?

A. Yes-

Q. Could you have taught people flying before you

graduated from college?

A. NO.

Q. When were you qualified to teach people how to

fly?

A. 2015.

Q. What happened in 2016?

A. I got my license to allow me to do it. I got

my instructor's license.

Q. Do you know when Mr. Afaf got his instructor's

license?

A. I‘m not sure.

Q. Was it around the same time as you or -—

A. It was after I graduated college. I went to

different schools to get the license, you know.

Q. Where did you go?

A. I went to a lot of places. I went to Dallas,

I went to California, multiple places to get my flight

hours and the certificates I needed.

Q. What years were those?

A. I can't remember, to be honest with you, but I

think in 2015 I started mine. It should be 2016, yeah.

Q. And did you come back to New York in 2017?

800.275.799l Orange Legal www.veritext.com

A Veritcxt Company
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

In the Matter of Trademark Registration

No. 5,665,928

Cancellation No. 92072819

Badawi Aviation, LLC,

Petitioner,

VS.

Afaf Aviation, LLC,

 

Reapondent.

/

VIDEOCONFERENCE

DEPOSITION OF: Seung Suh

DATE: Monday, August 10, 2020

TIME: 1:19 p-m. — 1:47 p.m.

TAKEN BY: Petitioner

PLACE: Via Videoconference

REPORTED BY: Sara Miller, Notary Public

State of Florida

800.275.799l Orange Legal www.verimxl.com

A Vcritcxt Company
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A. Yes.

Q. What documents did you see?

A. That logo.

Q. Did you ever see his registration with the

state of New York?

A. I think he was registering, so I also -- I

also —— I don't know. That's it. That's all I can tell

you. I don't remember after that. I know he was

registering with that logo.

Q. Did you see any other trademark documents?

A. I don't know.

Q- Have you corresponded with Mr. Afaf about

this legal proceeding?

A. I don't know.

Q. You don't know if you corresponded?

A. He just told me just my lawyer is going to

call you and that's it. I thought I was going to answer

questions with the lawyers. That's it.

Q. Do you have the evmail with Mr. Afaf about

this proceeding?

A. No.

Did you look for it?

A. No.

Q. Do you know whether you deleted it or not?

A. I don't know.

300-275.7991 Orange Legal www.veritext.com

A Veritext Campany
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103112020 USPTO. ESTTA. Motion for Summlry Judgment. Error - Untimely Motion

(https://www.uspto.gov)

About Us (https:f/www.uspte_gov/about-us) Jobs (httpsrl/www.uspto_gov/jobs)

Contact Us (https:/fwww.uspto.gov/about-us/contact-us)

Electronic System for Trademark Trials and Appeals

MOthl‘l for Summary Judgment EST—FA V3103
Navigallon: flflLfiguflmmjgm - Eamlimgllon-or-pfipgbjgpl - Summaryflggemanl lsummarydggmfljspl- Error PTO—21 51 (Exp. 0303112020)
Untimely OMB NO. 0551-0040 (Exp.

07‘I31f2020)

Error - Untimely Motion

A motion for summary judgment may not be filed prior to the servioe of the filer‘s initial disclosures {except for a

motion aeserting claim or issue preclusion. or lack ofjurisdiction of the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board}. and

must be filed prior to the deadline for pretrial disclosures for the first testimony period. as originally set or as
reSet if reset prior to the deadline. The information provided by the flier on the previous page indicates that the
motion is untimely.

10J211202D 09:02 PM EDT

(httpsflwwusptogov/i

BROWSE BY TOPIC

ABOUT THIS SITE

USF’TO BACKGROUND

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT

httpsaliestta.usptogcwfipplrjsp 111
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10/21/2020 USPTO. ESTTA. Motion for Summary Judgment. Error - Untimely Motion

(https;//www.uspto.gov}

About Us (httpszl/wwwosptogov/aboLit-us) Jobs (https://www.uspto.gov/jobs)

Contact Us (https://www.uspto.gov/a bout-us/contact-us)

Electronic System for Trademark Trials and A

Motion for Summary Judgment

ppeab

ES'l'I'A V.3.‘l0.0

Nevigalitm: Ewy_(§onfirm-pn_mj§p),aflMmotiQn—or-ogtfljgpl - Summaryflgsment (summeryjujgmentlgm- Error PTO-2151 (Exp. 073112020)
Unllmaly OMB No. 0651~0040 (Exp.

CIT/3112020)

Error - Untimely Motion

A motion for summary judgment may not be filed prior to the service of the filer‘s initial disclosures (except for
motion asserting claim or tsetse preclusion. or lack of jurisdiction of the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board)' and
must be filed prior to the deadline for pretrial disclosures for the first testimony period, as originally set or as
reset it reset prior to the deadline. The information provided by the flier on the previous page indicates that the
motion is untimely.
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